## AN ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION OF

<u>G Renee Albertson</u> for the degree of <u>Doctor of Philosophy</u> in <u>Wildlife Science</u> presented on <u>December 8, 2014.</u>

Title: <u>Worldwide Phylogeography and Local Population Structure of the Rough-Toothed</u> <u>Dolphin (Steno bredanensis)</u>

Abstract approved:

## C. Scott Baker

Several dolphin species have global distributions. The extent of their radiation and limits to gene flow are presumably a product of oceanographic features both recent and historical, behavioral specializations and social organization. Rough-toothed dolphins *(Steno bredanensis)* are globally distributed in tropical and subtropical waters and are generally found in depths greater than 1,500 meters making them challenging to comprehensively sample. Although it has been assumed that pelagic dolphins range widely due to the lack of apparent barriers and unpredictable prey distribution, recent evidence suggests rough-toothed dolphins exhibit fidelity to some oceanic islands. A small number of photo-identification and genetic studies conducted to date on rough-toothed dolphins show regional population structure and stable associations in groups, with some individuals observed repeatedly in the same groups over several years. The aim of this dissertation is to describe patterns of phylogeography over evolutionary time on a global scale and expand studies of population and social structure on a regional level. The dataset contains 351 rough-toothed dolphin biopsies, tissue and teeth samples

collected from the Pacific and Atlantic Oceans and limited samples from the Indian Ocean.

To evaluate the phylogeography and test for possible species or subspecies level delineation between oceans, I used mitochondrial DNA sequences from the control region (350 bp) and 12 concatenated protein-coding genes from the whole mitogenome, as well as six nuclear introns. Although I found support for two Pacific clades and a private North Atlantic clade in the whole mitogenome, there were no genealogical patterns consistent across multiple loci, allowing me to reject species level delineation. To further evaluate the amount of gene flow and test for divisions below the species level, I used population level indices and found significant genetic differentiation for rough-toothed dolphins between the Atlantic Ocean with both the Indian/Western Pacific and Central/Eastern Pacific for both the mitochondrial datasets and the intron dataset. Significant differentiation between the Indian/Western Pacific Ocean and Eastern Pacific Ocean was found for the mitochondrial but not nuclear datasets. From these results I recommended the Atlantic Ocean basin be considered a separate evolutionary significant unit. This reflects that these populations are on independent evolutionary trajectories, but are not diagnosable species or subspecies.

To further evaluate population structure on a regional scale, I used a subset of these samples from three archipelagos in the Central Pacific Ocean including the Hawaiian Islands, the Society Island of French Polynesia and the Samoan Islands. Using a 450bp portion of the mtDNA control region and 15 microsatellite loci, an overall AMOVA indicated strong genetic differentiation among islands within the main Hawaiian Islands (mtDNA  $F_{ST}$ =0.165; p<0.001; microsatellite  $F_{ST}$ =0.043 p<0.001) and the Society Islands of French Polynesia (F<sub>ST</sub>=0.499; p<0.001; microsatellite F<sub>ST</sub>=0.079 p<0.001) as well as among the three archipelagos (mtDNA F<sub>ST</sub>=0.299; p<0.001; microsatellite F<sub>ST</sub>=0.055 p<0.001). My results corroborate the photo-identification and the genetic studies for three archipelagos, confirming population structure on the regional level. Lastly, to test the hypothesis that social structure observed in rough-toothed dolphins is kinship based, as in other delphinid species such as killer whales, I used a subset of the main dataset from groups of living and mass stranded dolphins. I found multiple matrilines in more than half the groups, allowing me to reject a strictly matrilineal group structure, such as that observed in some killer whales. Instead I found rough-toothed dolphin groups showed weak matrilineality, where some groups are more matrilineal than expected by chance. Although group structure is stable, is not determined primarily by kin-based relationships. These analyses provide new insights into a little studied species. The use of worldwide datasets allowed me to evaluate population structure on different temporal, spatial and regional scales and delineate populations for future conservation and management.

© Copyright by G. Renee Albertson December 8, 2014 All Rights Reserved

# Worldwide Phylogeography and Local Population Structure of the Rough-Toothed dolphin (*Steno bredanensis*)

by G. Renee Albertson

## A DISSERTATION

submitted to

Oregon State University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Presented December 8, 2014 Commencement June 2015 Doctor of Philosophy dissertation of G. Renee Albertson presented on December 8, 2014.

APPROVED:

Major Professor, representing Wildlife Science

Head of the Department of Fisheries and Wildlife

Dean of the Graduate School

I understand that my dissertation will become part of the permanent collection of Oregon State University libraries. My signature below authorizes release of my dissertation to any reader upon request

G. Renee Albertson, Author

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

"It's not a job. It's an adventure". Sure, it was coined first in an ad for the US Army, but Michael Poole brought it to life for me. Thank you, Michael, for providing inspiration, motivation and ongoing support for the entirety of the long and life-changing journey of graduate school. Your enthusiasm and positive attitude for the fieldwork, the animals and the science are contagious. In the field it was intense, it was long hours, but you always made it fun. And Marc Oremus, thank you for being a wonderful mentor. To Robin Baird, who graciously invited me to participate in fieldwork in the main Hawaiian Islands. I learned so much about what to do/what not to do in the field, and the wisdom to know the difference! I am grateful for your comprehensive work in the Hawaiian Islands. Without the samples you collected my PhD would not have been possible on such an elusive species.

For all of his wisdom and support I wish to thank my advisor and academic mentor Dr. C. Scott Baker. He challenged me to achieve things I thought were beyond my reach, and the lively discussions on scientific processes were always a bonus of the Baker Lab.

Special thanks to my committee members, Karen Martien, Kelly Benoit-Bird, Brian Sidlauskas, and Brian Haley for providing continued support and encouraging me to think like a scientist. Each member took the time to meet with me individually, read manuscripts and help shape me as a scientist, and I am very grateful for that. Thank you to all my support system of family and friends, who helped keep me afloat. Special thanks to my wonderful, supportive and loving family, especially my mother. She always picked up the phone, and was willing to listen and/or provide advice, whatever the current crisis required. To Dave Campbell, my amazing and loving partner. You have been an absolute rock in my otherwise unstable PhD world. Thank you for your unconditional love, patience and understanding. My dear friend Trent Seager, who taught me to laugh, even in the most difficult of PhD times. My lab mates, for their support and sound advice, especially Alana Alexander and Rebecca Hamner, who were always willing to discuss analyses, even into the wee hours of the night. To Debbie Steel, for her wise words and interpretations of various analyses always brought my panic down a notch. And a huge thanks to the "extended Baker Lab" that reaches every corner of the globe, including Emma Carroll, Gaby Tezanos-Pinto, Susana Caballero, Carols Olavarria, and Jennifer Jackson, your survival tactics helped me survive!

## CONTRIBUTION OF AUTHORS

C. Scott Baker: involved in discussions of chapter design, facilitating lab work, analyses, and editing of all chapters.

Marc Oremus collected a majority of the biopsy samples in the Society Islands and assisted in analyses for all chapters, and provided comments on drafts of all three chapters.

Robin W. Baird collected samples in the main Hawaiian Islands, providing a large dataset. He also read over two of the three manuscripts for this dissertation.

Alana M. Alexander assisted in laboratory analyses, and revised earlier drafts of each manuscript.

Karen K. Martien arranged for the extraction and shipping of the SWFSC rough-toothed dolphin database. She provided comments on drafts of Chapter 3.

Michael Poole arranged all the permits in French Polynesia and assisted in fieldwork.

Robert L. Brownell Jr. arranged for teeth samples to be shipped from the Smithsonian Institution.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	Gener	al introduction	1
	1.1.	Conservation Biology	1
	1.2.	What is a species?	1
	1.3.	Rough-toothed dolphins (Steno bredanensis)	3
	1.4.	The impact of rapid radiation events in Delphinidae and phylogenetic discrepancies in ( <i>Steno bredanensis</i> )	3
	1.5.	Consequences of worldwide phylogeography and global distribution	5
	1.6.	Distribution and life history parameters of the rough-toothed dolphin	5
	1.7.	Conservation genetics in the context of population structure	7
	1.8.	Are rough-toothed dolphins pelagic or insular?	8
	1.9.	Monitoring dolphin populations	9
	1.10.	Dolphin societies and social organization in the rough-toothed dolphin	10
	1.11.	Dissertation scope and structure	11
2.	World	wide phylogeography of the rough-toothed dolphin (Steno bredan	ensis)
	using	the mitochondrial genome and nuclear introns	20
	2.1.	Abstract	20
	2.2.	Introduction	21
	2.3.	Materials and Methods	26

## Page

# TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

	2.4.	Results	36
	2.5.	Discussion	41
	2.6.	Acknowledgements	45
3.	Stayi	ng close to home? Genetic differentiation of rough-toothed dolphin	S
	near o	oceanic islands in the central Pacific Ocean	54
	3.1.	Abstract	54
	3.2.	Introduction	55
	3.3.	Materials and Methods	59
	3.4.	Results	67
	3.5.	Discussion	73
	3.6.	Acknowledgements	80
4.	Are y	you my mother? A measure of matrilineal social organization in	
	social	l groups and mass strandings of rough-toothed dolphins	
	(Sten	o bredanensis)	90
	4.1.	Abstract	90
	4.2.	Introduction	91
	4.3.	Materials and Methods	96
	4.4.	Results	104
	4.5.	Discussion	107
	4.6.	Acknowledgements	111
5.	Gene	ral discussion	121

5.1.	Objectives and major findings	121
5.2.	Implications and future research	125

# TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

Page	
-	

Bibliography	
Appendices	
Appendix I	Electronic appendix for entire dissertation128
Appendix II	Supplementary material associated with Chapter 2: Worldwide phylogeography description of the rough-toothed dolphin ( <i>Steno bredanensis</i> ) using the mitochondrial genome and nuclear introns129
Appendix III	Supplementary material associated with Chapter 3: Staying close to home? Genetic differentiation of rough-toothed dolphins near oceanic islands in the central Pacific Ocean133
Appendix IV	Supplementary material associated with Chapter 4: Are you my mother? A measure of matrilineal social organization in social groups and mass strandings of rough-toothed dolphins ( <i>Steno bredanensis</i> )141

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	Pag
Figure 1.1: Biogeographic provinces adopted from Briggs and Bowen (2012)	16
Figure 1.2: Magnified diagram of teeth ridges of rough-toothed dolphins illustrating the fine tooth ridges that are characteristic of this species.	ng _17
Figure 1.3: Rough-toothed dolphin off the island of Ni'ihau in the Hawaiian archipelago illustrating the unique coloration patterns and gently sloping melon of this species.	<u>17</u>
Figure 1.4: Bayesian majority consensus phylogram of cetacea generated from concatenated mtDNA+nuDNA data with 58 partitions, from (McGowen 2011)	18
Figure 1.5: Locations of rough-toothed dolphin sample collection. Black dots represent locations of samples used (teeth and tissue) for the control region only (350 bp).	<u>19</u>
Figure 2.1: Boundaries represented by black lines show sampling locations for each region for the worldwide mtDNA dataset.	_47
Figure 2.2. The protein-coding genes (highlighted in green) and D-loop (in black) for the rough-toothed dolphin sample Sbr11638.	_47
Figure 2.3. A maximum-likelihood phylogenetic reconstruction of rough-toothed dolphin mtDNA CR haplotypes (350 bp) with bootstrap values shown and rooted to the Irrawaddy dolphin ( <i>Orcaella brevirostris</i> ).	_48
Figure 2.4. Bayesian phylogenetic reconstruction of rough-toothed dolphins based on concatenated protein-coding genes in the mitogenome rooted to <i>Orcaella breverostris</i> and <i>Orcinus orca</i> .	_49
Figure 2.5. Likelihood ancestral character state reconstruction of concatenated protein-coding genes in the rough-toothed dolphin mitogenome.	_50
Figure 3.1: Each map represents one of the three archipelagos of the study area where biopsy samples (labeled with n for each population) of rough-toothed dolphins were collected	_82
Figure 3.2: Median-joining network of mtDNA control region 450 bp haplotypes found in rough-toothed dolphins from the Pacific Ocean.	<u>.</u> 84

## LIST OF FIGURES (Continued)

## **Figure**

Figure 3.3: Graphical representation of the results of the STRUCTURE analysis for the a) archipelagos where the most probable model was k=2 and a prior was used for sampling location. b) Island populations of Hawai'i and Kaua'i where the most probable model was k=2 and no prior was used for sampling location.......85

Figure 4.1: Location of data collection for groups of rough-toothed dolphins for (a) all samples for the study (sample locations shown with a triangle for Colombia, star for the Gulf of Mexico, oval for North Carolina and eastern Florida coast) (b) the Hawaiian Islands (inset box represents the Main Hawaiian Islands and the large box represents the entire Hawaiian Island chain (c) the Society Islands and (d) Samoan Islands.\_\_\_\_\_113

Figure 4.2: An assessment of estimated group sizes in rough-toothed dolphin in the Pacific Ocean basin where more than three groups in a region were available for comparison. 115

Page

## LIST OF TABLES

Table	Page
Table 2.1. Basic diversity estimates of nuclear genomic and mtDNA control   region sequences. DBY-7 is not shown due to no variation across samples.	<u>51</u>
Table 2.2: Alleles from the six introns used in this study. <i>Sotalia</i> , one proposed sister taxa of <i>Steno</i> , is shown in the last row for comparison purposes (name includes Genbank Accession number).	_52
Table 2.3. Inter-ocean genetic differentiation of rough-toothed dolphins using nuclear intron alleles as calculated in Genodive for $F_{ST}$ (below diagonal) and $G''_{ST}$ (above diagonal).	<u>52</u>
Table 2.4: Inter-ocean genetic differentiation of rough-toothed dolphins   using PC mitogenome sequences as measured in Arlequin.	53
Table 3.1: Oceanic and island samples sizes (n) for mtDNA in the Hawaiian,   Society and Samoan Islands.	_86
Table 3.2: Pairwise $F_{ST}$ values for mtDNA and microsatellites between seven populations in the Hawaiian, Society and Samoan Islands for 15 microsatellite loci above diagonal and mtDNA control region below diagonal. $\Phi_{ST}$ and $G''_{ST}$ values in supplementary material (Appendix Table III.2)	<u>  87                                  </u>
Table 3.3: Pairwise $F_{ST}$ differentiation among the three archipelagos with islands pooled into the corresponding archipelago for 15 microsatellite loci above diagonal and mtDNA control region below diagonal with corresponding ( $\Phi_{ST}$ and $G''_{ST}$ values).	_87
Table 3.4: Hierarchical AMOVA based on 450 bp of the mtDNA control   region and microsatellites in the Pacific Ocean	88
Table 3.5: Hierarchical AMOVA based on 15 microsatellite loci in the Pacific Ocean. Ocean basins delineates North Pacific and South Pacific; Populations represents the 7 populations from Fig. 1/Table 1. df = Degrees of Freedom	88
Table 3.6: Two-tailed tests of sex-biased dispersal based on the comparison of sex-specific microsatellite (msat) $F_{ST}$ , mtDNA $F_{ST}$ , inbreeding coefficient ( $F_{IS}$ ), mean corrected assignment index (mAIc), and variance of corrected assignment index (vAIc).	89

# LIST OF TABLES (Continued)

Table	<u>Pag</u>
Table 4.1: Summary of genetic samples for groups of rough-toothed dolphins from islands in the main Hawaiian Islands (North Pacific). Society Islands and	
Samoa (South Pacific), the Eastern Tropical Pacific (ETP), and the east coast of	
the US and the Gulf of Mexico.	116

# Page

# LIST OF APPENDIX FIGURES

Figure	Page
Figure III.1: Histograms for the region of Kaua'i with (a) all groups included and (b) when the largest group (estimated group size of 90 individuals) is removed.	<u>134</u>
Figure III.2: R code for measuring the nearest geographic distance between samples located in different geographic areas.	137
Figure IV.1: Histograms for the region of Kaua'i with (a) all groups included and (b) when the largest group (estimated group size of 90 individuals) is removed.	141
Figure IV.2: R script for generating the null distribution of expected same-haplotype dyads, based on mtDNA haplotype frequencies for each island region.	142

# LIST OF APPENDIX TABLES

Table	<u>Page</u>
Table II.1. Long-range PCR fragments used to sequence the mitogenome identified by fragment number.	130
Table II.2. Species-specific substation rates (per site per Myr) for the family Delphindae generated in the multispecies <i>BEAST</i> phylogenetic reconstruction using the PC mitogenome.	131
Table II.3. Alleles from the six introns used in this study. <i>Sotalia</i> , one proposed sister taxa of <i>Steno</i> , is shown in the last row for comparison purposes (name includes Genbank Accession number).	132
Table III.1. R code for carrying out permutations of haplotype diversity based on islands.	138
Table III.2. Pairwise $\Phi_{ST}$ differentiation below diagonal and G" <sub>ST</sub> above the diagonal among populations in the Hawaiian, Society and Samoan Islands mtDNA control region.	139
Table III.3. P values generated for population comparisons of haplotype diversity derived from mtDNA control region haplotype frequencies for rough-toothed dolphins in the Hawaiian, Society and Samoan Islands. Significant values are bolded and italicized.	<u>1</u> 39
Table III.4. P values generated for archipelago comparisons of haplotype diversity derived from mtDNA control region haplotype frequencies for rough-toothed dolphins in the Hawaiian, Society and Samoan Islands. Significant values are bolded and italicized.	_140
Table IV.1. An example of the calculation of the SMI with four groups and four haplotypes present in an island population (A, B, C, D).	144
Table IV.2. Background haplotype frequencies used to generate the null distribution for each region.	on 146

#### **1. General Introduction**

#### 1.1. Conservation Biology

Conservation biology is a field that emerged in the 1980's encompassing science and policy with the objective of conserving natural systems. It unites both scientists and nonscientists. Its practitioners use scientific tools to determine what biological flora and fauna should be considered for conservation status by the International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN), the Endangered Species Act (ESA) and other entities concerned with the vulnerability of natural and anthropogenic processes. Conservation biology attempts to maintain evolutionary processes within a functioning ecological setting to maintain the diversity of genes, populations and species (Groom *et al.* 2006). For animal populations, information on life history characteristics including reproduction, migration and population structure are useful features to study and monitor for protection of species.

## 1.2. What is a species?

If we are to conserve a species, we must first define it. Although scientists disagree on the characteristics needed to define a species, most agree that species are considered independent evolutionary units. Ayala (1976) discussed this in the context of adaptive changes. These changes can occur in an individual, a population or be extended to all members of the species. They cannot, however, be passed on to different species because species are on separate evolutionary trajectories unique to their environment (Ayala 1976). Once defined, the criteria to delimit species must also be addressed. The Unified Species Concept (De Queiroz 2007) discusses species delimitation as a continuous

process where populations are on separate paths of divergence, or considered separately evolving lineages. He highlights the importance of using geographic information for this purpose. This is important in relation to oceanic species with a global distribution since oceanographic barriers can influence gene flow (Figure 1.1)

Although the Biological Species Concept (BSC) idea of reproductive isolation (Mayr 1942) has merit, the challenges of studying cetaceans with this objective make it impractical for application. Moreover, introgression can be a confounding factor in species such as oceanic dolphins. The Phylogenetic Species Concept (PSC) improved upon this with a lineage based species concept (Cracraft 1983), but the use of character evolution as criteria creates a heavy reliance on monophyly, and it is found to be too insensitive to resolve recent speciation events for families like Delphinidae (Caballero et al. 2008). Similar to the Unified Species Concept of De Quierozo (2007), the Genealogical/Lineage Concordance Species Concept (GCC) (Avise & Ball 1990) reconcile elements from both the BSC and PSC, stating that phylogenetic diagnoses should be based on multiple independent genetic traits, or information contained in different types of loci (i.e. mitochondrial and nuclear). It was decided in The Workshop on Cetacean Taxonomy that at least two lines of evidence are needed to define a species, while only one line of evidence is required to define a subspecies (Reeves et al. 2004). In cetaceans these lines of evidence are generally a combination of genetic and morphometric comparisons.

Although not appropriate in many taxonomic designations, subspecies classifications are important in cetaceans. Due to long generation times and slow reproductive rates, there may not be sufficient evidence for species designation. Moreover, many cetaceans are widely distributed, thus requiring large amounts of time and resources to adequately sample.

## 1.3. Rough-toothed dolphins (Steno bredanensis)

Within the family Delphinidae, the species *Steno bredanensis*, the rough-toothed dolphin (Gray 1846), is so named for the vertical ridges on its teeth (Figure 1.2). Although (Peters 1877) originally described two species in the genus *Steno (rostratus* and *perspicillatus)* it was later determined that *S. perspillatus* was a *Delphinus. delphis* and there was only one species in the genus *Steno. Rostratus* was later changed to *bredanensis* (Norris 1966). Current taxonomic classification treats *Steno bredanensis* as a single species, and it is the only species belonging to the genus *Steno.* Unique morphology, including a smoothly sloping melon, makes this species quite distinct. Coloration generally consists of black, white and gray, with the lower sides and mouth dotted with white patches (Figure 1.3; (Lodi & Hetzel 1999, Jefferson 2008). Skull features distinguish them well from all but humpback dolphins (*Sousa* spp.) where tooth counts and the distinct ridges on their teeth differ (Jefferson 2008).

# 1.4. The impact of rapid radiation events in Delphinidae and phylogenetic discrepancies in Steno bredanensis

Paleontologists have dated the earliest delphinids to 10-12 Ma (Fordyce & de Muizon 2001). Speciation events over the next 3 Ma established all modern subfamilies

(McGowen *et al.* 2009). Rapid speciation in dolphins is intriguing, considering their relatively large size, mobility, long generation time, and sometimes sympatric associations (LeDuc & Dizon 2002). As with many other marine species, competition and oceanographic barriers most likely played a role in this radiation. Rapid radiation events can increase the likelihood of incomplete lineage sorting, where the phylogeny is different than the gene genealogy, blurring ancestral events (Frankham 2010). Therefore, incomplete lineage sorting can cause difficulty when constructing phylogenies because different genes can yield different phylogenies. This phenomenon has made resolving evolutionary patterns in the family *Delphinidae* challenging.

The placement of the genus *Steno* in phylogenetic relationships has long been disputed. An early study based on morphological characters (Perrin 1989) placed *Steno* in a clade with species in the genera *Sousa*, the Pacific humpback dolphin and *Sotalia spp.*, two species of coastal South American dolphin. In one of the first genetic studies of Delphinidae, (LeDuc *et al.* 1999) reached similar conclusions using the cytochrome *b* (cyt *b*) gene, placing *Steno* in a clade with *Sousa* and *Sotalia*. However, recent studies based on a combination of multiple genes (mtDNA+nuDNA) placed *Steno* in a clade as sister taxa to *Orcaella*, the Irrawaddy River dolphin (Caballero *et al.* 2007, Caballero *et al.* 2008, McGowen 2011). These studies robustly supported *Steno* in the *Globicephalinae* clade (Figure 1.4), also favored by separate analyses of some nuclear genes and concatenated mtDNA + nuDNA (Caballero *et al.* 2008). A mitogenome only study placed *Steno* as sister taxon to the rest of *Delphininae* subfamily, rather than within the *Globicephalinae* subfamily with a Bayesian posterior probability value of 1 (Vilstrup *et al.* 2011). These discrepancies most likely represent incomplete lineage sorting of the nuclear genes. Using the support from both mtDNA and nuDNA datasets, I used the phylogenetic information derived from McGowen (2009, 2011) and Caballero *et al.* (2008) where *Steno* is most recently diverged from the genus *Orcaella*.

### 1.5. Consequences of worldwide phylogeography and global distribution

Phylogeography combines geographic distributions and the genealogical lineages of inter and intraspecific relationships of species (Avise 2000). Although oceanographic barriers to dispersal are not as conspicuous as land barriers, they can be just as influential to species. Biogeographic barriers identified throughout the oceans (Figure 1.1) include currents, salinity and temperature variation (Briggs & Bowen 2012). In Figure 1.1, Briggs & Bowen (2012) evaluate locations in tropical and subtropical areas that may affect gene flow of both predators and their prey due to a combination of these barriers. Thus, oceanographic features can influence population structure of marine species with even the highest dispersal capabilities including barracudas, sharks and dolphins (Daly-Engel *et al.* 2012a), forming phylogeographic structure. On a regional scale however, less productive areas of the ocean can have the opposite effect where prey are found in lower densities. This can force larger home ranges for highly mobile species like dolphins (Louis *et al.* 2014), and thus little phylogeographic structure will be apparent in these areas.

#### 1.6. Distribution and life history parameters of the rough-toothed dolphin

Rough-toothed dolphins are considered a pelagic species with a worldwide tropical and subtropical distribution. In the Atlantic Ocean they appear to be restricted by water

temperature around the South American continent with the highest latitude on the west coast of 23°S and Patagonia in Argentina on the western side of the South Atlantic (West *et al.* 2011). Stranding samples on the Virginia coastline mark the northern most latitude, 37°N in the Atlantic (Miyazaki & Perrin 1994). In the Pacific Ocean, stranding samples in Oregon and Washington mark the northern extent and stranding samples from the north island of New Zealand mark the southern extent of their range. It should be noted that stranding samples may drift slightly.

Nearer the equator around oceanic islands, these dolphins are generally found in water depths between 1,000 and 2,000 meters and an average of 1.5 - 4.5 km from shore (Gannier & West 2005). Specific to the main Hawaiian Islands, rough-toothed dolphins are one of the most sighted odontocete species in depths greater than 3,000 meters (Baird *et al.* 2013). They have also been observed throughout the Eastern Tropical Pacific (ETP). However, they also have been found in depths of only 5 meters feeding off the continental shelf of Brazil (Lodi & Hetzel 1999), as well as shallow waters off Honduras (Kuczaj & Yeater 2007) and the Canary Islands (Tobeña *et al.* 2014). Therefore, rough-toothed dolphins inhabit the tropical/subtropical biogeographic regions identified by Briggs and Bowen (2012, Figure 1.1). Determining to what extent these biogeographic regions influence the pattern of dispersal in this species is to date unknown.

The few life history studies of rough-toothed dolphins indicate that males reach sexual maturity at about 14 years, and females at 10 years of age (Miyazaki 1983, Miyazaki & Perrin 1994). However, a large, pregnant female, aged at six years old was reported off

the coast of Brazil (Siciliano 2007). These dolphins are sexually dimorphic, with males (mean length = 225 cm) larger than females (215 cm), and have a life span of about 32-36 years. General population estimates conducted during large vessel nondedicated surveys estimated 145,000 individuals (CV = 0.28) in the eastern Tropical Pacific (Wade & Gerrodette 1993). Another study of the Hawaiian Islands Exclusive Economic Zone (EEZ) estimated the population in that area to be about 20,000 (CV=0.52) (Barlow 2006).

Rough-toothed dolphins feed on a variety of cephalopods and large predatory fish including mahi-mahi (*Coryphaena hippurus*) (Pitman & Stinchcomb 2002). Examination of stomach contents also yielded small fish and squid.  $\delta^{15}$ N levels indicate feeding at an intermediate trophic level (Kiszka *et al.* 2010). Rough-toothed dolphins have been observed foraging on surface species such as needlefish and flying fish, occasionally in mixed species aggregations. Cooperative foraging on large predatory fish such as mahimahi has been recorded off the west coast of Costa Rica and Mexico as well as in the main Hawaiian Islands and French Polynesia in the South Pacific (Pitman & Stinchcomb 2002).

## 1.7. Conservation genetics in the context of population structure

The amount of gene flow, or movement of individuals, determines the amount of isolation and interchange between populations. Cetaceans are relatively long-lived with high survival rates and low reproductive rates. Females produce few offspring, therefore investment in maternal care may extend over several years and include learned behaviors of migratory routes and feeding strategies (Taylor *et al.* 2010). Mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA), passed down directly from mother to offspring, is useful in identifying patterns

in population structure for this reason. Nuclear DNA provides data on male and female gene flow, and indicates the structure of the breeding population. Therefore, mitochondrial and nuclear genetic markers are used to identify appropriate units to conserve for populations (Taylor *et al.* 2010).

## 1.8. Are rough-toothed dolphins pelagic or insular?

Rough-toothed dolphins have been described as a pelagic species (Wade & Gerrodette 1993, Perrin et al. 1994). In the past, pelagic species were considered to have panmictic population structure with unrestricted gene flow. Short-beaked common dolphins, for example, illustrate low genetic differentiation between populations around South Africa reflecting high mobility, fluid social structure and gene flow (Natoli et al. 2005, Natoli et al. 2006). However, to date, photo-identification and genetic studies of population structure of rough-toothed dolphins indicate populations may form small, insular communities around oceanic islands in both the Atlantic and Pacific Oceans (Baird et al. 2008; Mayr and Ritter 2005; Oremus et al. 2012) similar to spinner dolphins (Oremus et al. 2007). The samples used in these studies were collected from "nearshore" individuals (designated <than 40 km from shore) so offshore limits, or range of these individuals could not be determined. However, rough-toothed dolphins have also been observed in the open ocean. Wade and Gerrodette (1993) reported sightings of rough-toothed dolphins in the Eastern Tropical Pacific between the Hawaiian Islands and North America. This suggests rough-toothed dolphin populations exist in an insular framework, perhaps due to habitat specialization from nutrient-rich upwelling from the Island Mass Effect (Doty & Oguri 1956), and also as pelagic offshore populations.

## 1.9. Monitoring dolphin populations

Several types of conservation units exist below the species level to monitor dolphin populations, and each is applicable depending on the scale of the question (e.g. subspecies, population, etc.). Laws and policies developed by the International Union for the Conservation of Nature (IUCN) and the Marine Mammal Protection Act (MMPA) use the term evolutionary significant units (ESU) with the intent to protect genetic diversity. An ESU is defined as a population that (1) is substantially "reproductively isolated" from other populations of the species and (2) represents an "important component of the evolutionary legacy of the species" (NMFS & USFWS 1990). Taylor et al. (2010) elaborates on this by stating ESUs broadly represent units needed to conserve the essential genetic variability for future evolutionary potential, i.e. species can respond to environmental challenges through adaptation. ESUs and subspecies differ by time. For example, subspecies have been separated long enough that they may differ in morphological characteristics, and are therefore diagnosable. However, ESUs experience sufficiently low gene flow such that local adaptation may occur, e.g. gene flow of less than two migrants per generation has been suggested (Gardenfors 2001).

Demographically independent populations (DIPs) focus on shorter temporal scales (human lifetime), and are typified by differences in allele frequencies (Taylor *et al.* 2010). These are particularly important for oceanic dolphins that form insular populations. Scientists can evaluate genetic differentiation between these island groups using various F<sub>ST</sub> indices to answer population level questions. These indices have been used to differentiate populations in the Hawaiian and Society Islands for several dolphin species (Oremus *et al.* 2007, Andrews *et al.* 2010, Martien *et al.* 2012, Oremus *et al.* 2012, Courbis *et al.* 2014, Martien *et al.* 2014).

#### 1.10. Dolphin societies and social organization in the rough-toothed dolphin

Cooperative social systems are common in many mammal societies (Norris & Schilt 1988). Many social societies in mammals are characterized by stable group composition, male-biased dispersal and males forming permanent breeding associations with one or a few social groups (Archie *et al.* 2008). In many social groups females show philopatry, perhaps because known foraging areas may help them better care for their young (Moller 2012). In pelagic environments dolphin groups tend to be larger for greater protection against predators and cooperation in foraging (Norris & Schilt 1988). Around oceanic islands where prey is more predictable, dolphin groups are generally less than 10 individuals, and female philopatry is common. Although individual dolphins associate with certain other individuals, group composition may change continually. Spinner dolphins live in fission-fusion societies where observed groups are temporary associations between more stable social units (Oremus *et al.* 2007, Andrews *et al.* 2010).

The level of haplotype diversity found for rough-toothed dolphins in the Oremus *et al.* study (2012) was surprisingly low (h= 0.167-0.457). They suggest this could be explained by a highly stable social structure, similar to matrilineal species like longfinned pilot whales (De Stefanis *et al.* 2008, Oremus *et al.* 2009) and sperm whales (Christal & Whitehead 2001). Low genetic diversity of rough-toothed dolphins may be a product of social bonds, although perhaps not as homogeneous as the sperm whale. Although long-term observation of the movement within and between groups of roughtoothed dolphins is described as "fluid", observation of tight group formation and resighting the same individuals within the same groups suggests strong social bonds exist between individuals (Mayr & Ritter 2005, Baird *et al.* 2008). There are instances of individuals photographed within a group, and up to 12 years later photographed again with the same individuals in a group (Mayr & Ritter 2005, Baird *et al.* 2008). In the Gulf of Mexico, two rough-toothed dolphins were tagged and released after rehabilitation from a mass stranding. They were observed together 157 days after the release (Wells & Gannon 2005). In another study, three rough-toothed dolphins released together near Ft. Pierce, Florida in 2005 after a mass stranding had frequent social interactions "including food sharing and care-giving behavior" (NMFS 2008). Similar behaviors were observed off the Canary Islands (Ritter 2002, Ritter 2007), Brazil (Lodi 1992, Lodi & Hetzel 1999) and Honduras (Kuczaj & Yeater 2007), suggesting that rough-toothed dolphins have strong social bonds. It is still unknown, however, if these bonds are kinship based.

#### **1.11.** Dissertation scope and structure

For a little studied species with a global distribution like the rough-toothed dolphin, a phylogeographic description can illuminate the extent of gene flow on a worldwide scale in relation to biogeographic barriers and time, and show if species delineation is appropriate. A population level study will provide evidence of gene flow and habitat use on a smaller temporal and spatial scale. Finally, a closer look at the groups that inhabit these populations will illustrate if group structure is strictly matrilineal or kinship based. This is informative for management for Potential Biological Removal estimates and diversity issues, metrics that are critical for all species.

Here I use a worldwide database of genetic samples (Figure 1.5) of rough-toothed dolphins, and regional subsets of this database to address a number of hypotheses proposed to describe patterns of diversity and differentiation in rough-toothed dolphins. The questions, like the chapters, are listed in hierarchical geographical order beginning with the worldwide phylogegoraphy followed by identification of populations and lastly, group structure within those populations. Specifically I ask:

- What is the pattern of genetic differentiation and gene flow among oceanic regions of rough-toothed dolphins?
- 2) Have rough-toothed dolphins in the Atlantic Ocean been separated long enough from the Indian and Pacific Ocean basins to be considered separate taxonomic units?
- 3) Do rough-toothed dolphins exist in demographically independent insular communities around oceanic islands?
- 4) Is this differentiation driven by increasing geographic distance or more episodic colonization and local drift?
- 5) Are rough-toothed dolphins with the same mtDNA haplotype more likely to associate in groups than expected by chance?
- 6) Is kinship a primary determinant of social groups?

For each data chapter (2-4) my contribution included assistance in sample collection in the Society and Hawaiian Islands and extraction of samples I collected as well as samples collected after 2010 in the Hawaiian Islands. In addition I amplified, genotyped, and sequenced all samples before performing all downstream analyses.

Data files are discussed in Appendix I and are found in an electronic Appendix file. Requests for access to this file must be made in writing to G.R. Albertson and C.S. Baker and include a proposal.

*Chapter 2: Worldwide phylogeography description of the rough-toothed dolphin* (Steno bredanensis) *using the mitochondrial genome and nuclear introns*. In this chapter I use a large sample of mtDNA control region sequences and a smaller sample of protein-coding genes from the mitochondrial genome and seven nuclear introns to investigate the worldwide phylogeographic structure and phylogenetic relationship, as well as the degree and timing of divergence of rough-toothed dolphins between each ocean basin. Using a clock model and substitution rates specific to the family Delphinidae, I date the time of divergence between Atlantic and Pacific rough-toothed dolphin lineages. Since species or subspecies status requires multiple lines of evidence, I test for fixed differences and reciprocal monophyly of both mtDNA and nuclear introns. In addition, I examine divergence of both nuclear and mtDNA to determine gene flow between oceans in the context of the criteria currently recognized as defining subspecies for cetaceans. This chapter will be submitted for publication to

*The Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* with the following authors: Albertson, G. Renee, Robin W. Baird, Marc Oremus, M. Michael Poole, Karen K. Martien, Alana M. Alexander, Robert L. Brownell Jr., Deborah A. Duffield, and C. Scott Baker

Chapter 3: Staying close to home? Genetic analyses reveal insular population structure throughout the Pacific Ocean basin for a pelagic dolphin, Steno bredanensis.

This chapter uses apriori information that islands are geographic regions for dolphin population structure expanding on previous studies that focused on photo-identification and genetics. Using microsatellites and mtDNA, I consider oceanographic and social factors to determine the amount gene flow between islands and archipelagos in the central Pacific Ocean.

Chapter 3 is reformatted from the manuscript submitted to Marine Ecology Progress Series: Albertson, G.Renee, Robin W. Baird, Marc Oremus, M.Michael Poole, Karen K. Martien, Robert L. Brownell, Jr. and C. Scott Baker.

Chapter 4: "*Are you my mother? A test of matrilineal social organization in living groups and mass strandings of rough-toothed dolphins*. After describing geographic population structure I evaluated the amount of relatedness within and among groups of dolphins in several areas of the Pacific and Western Atlantic Oceans. This included the synthesis of an index based on dyad haplotype comparisons within groups to quantify the amount of matrilineality within a group for comparison to other groups within a geographically defined population.

This chapter is intended to be submitted for publication to *Marine Mammal Science* with the following authors: Albertson, G. Renee, Marc Oremus, Robin W. Baird, M. Michael Poole, Karen K. Martien, Robert L. Brownell Jr. and C. Scott Baker.

14

Chapter 5, the "General Discussion" synthesizes the findings and conservation of the implications of the previous chapters. This chapter includes the proposal to management based on my work, describes the baseline for this species my work provides and concludes with suggested directions for future research that will be important for roughtoothed dolphin conservation.



Figure 1.1: Biogeographic provinces adopted from Briggs and Bowen (2012). Tropical regions and provinces listed are all areas inhabited by rough-toothed dolphins. They include the Indo-Polynesian, Hawaiian, Marquesas and Easter Island (blue, C, H, M, E), Eastern Tropical Pacific (orange, G), the East West Atlantic regions (yellow, B, A, S) and the Western Indian Ocean Province (Green).



Figure 1.2: Magnified diagram of teeth ridges of rough-toothed dolphins illustrating the fine tooth ridges that are characteristic of this species. The diagram is reprinted from (Neuville 1928) and adapted from West, Mead and White (2011).



Figure 1.3: Rough-toothed dolphin off the island of Ni'ihau in the Hawaiian archipelago illustrating the unique coloration patterns and gently sloping melon of this species. Photo courtesy of Robin Baird.


Figure 1.4. Bayesian majority consensus phylogram of cetacea generated from concatenated mtDNA+nuDNA data with 58 partitions, from (McGowen 2011). The arrow points to the well supported (Bayesian > 0.95 posterior probability) divergence of *Steno bredanensis* from *Orcaella sp.* as well as the rest of the subfamily Globicephalinae.



Figure 1.5. Locations of rough-toothed dolphin sample collection. Black dots represent locations of samples used (teeth and tissue) for the control region only (350 bp). Black stars represent locations of samples used in the mitogenome/intron study. These samples were collected beginning in 1976 through 2012. However, samples were not collected in all years.

# 2. A worldwide phylogeography description of the rough-toothed dolphin *(Steno bredanensis)* using the mitochondrial genome and nuclear introns

#### 2.1 Abstract

Rough-toothed dolphins have a global tropical and subtropical distribution in the Pacific, Indian and Atlantic Oceans. Despite the large expanse of ocean inhabited by this species, the global phylogeography of these pelagic dolphins has not been evaluated among oceans. In this study we use the mtDNA control region (n=351), a selected representation of mitogenomes (n=19) and six nuclear introns (n=35) in order to assess multiple lines of evidence critical to the process of taxonomic evaluation. We examine the null hypothesis that rough-toothed dolphins are one panmictic worldwide species using samples from the Pacific, Indian and Atlantic Oceans. We estimated the inter-ocean divergence time using a species-specific substitution rate derived from the family Delphinidae, investigated the potential for monophyly relative to ocean basin and evaluated population level indices. MtDNA phylogenetic analyses of the mitogenome indicated a private Atlantic clade sister to a larger cosmopolitan clade containing individuals from all three oceans, and indicated three migration events. Using the mitogenome, we dated the split between the private Atlantic clade and the cosmopolitan clade to one million years ago. The population level analyses revealed significant genetic differentiation among five biogeographic regions (global  $\Phi_{ST} = 0.368$ , p<0.001), while the nuclear introns detected significant differentiation between only the Atlantic and other oceanic regions, but not within the Pacific and Indian Oceans. These results imply rough-toothed dolphins in the Atlantic have been isolated sufficiently from the other regions to be on an independent evolutionary trajectory.

#### **2.2. Introduction**

Among cetaceans with worldwide distributions, limits to gene flow are complex and considered to result from behavioral specializations, historical environmental changes and biogeographic barriers (Hoelzel *et al.* 1998, Steeman *et al.* 2009). Phylogeography identifies genetic patterns in geography where genetic markers are used to evaluate the level of gene flow between populations in regions, thus providing the opportunity to test the hypothesis of genetic pattern concordance with geography (Avise 2000). Phylogeographic patterns investigated for three of the five dolphin species with worldwide distributions found significant differentiation among populations, illustrating restricted gene flow on a regional scale, or monophyletic clades relative to geographic regions, illustrating subspecies or species designation on a worldwide scale (Natoli *et al.* 2004, Natoli *et al.* 2006, Morin *et al.* 2010a).

Rough-toothed dolphins have a worldwide tropical and subtropical distribution in the Atlantic, Pacific and Indian Oceans, as well as the Mediterranean Sea and the Gulf of Oman (Watkins *et al.* 1987, Jefferson 2008). Although they have been considered a pelagic species where they have been observed from large ship surveys in the Eastern Tropical Pacific and northwestern Hawaiian Islands, they are also observed around oceanic islands in both the Atlantic and Pacific Ocean basins, and in depths of less than 20 meters off the coast of Japan, Brazil, Mauritania and the Canary Islands (Ritter 2002, Baird *et al.* 2008, Jefferson 2008). There are currently no recognized population divisions by the International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN), which lists rough-toothed dolphins as least concern. In US waters the National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS)

recognizes three stocks. These include North Atlantic and Northern Gulf of Mexico stocks in the Atlantic Ocean basin and the Hawaiian stock including American Samoa in the Pacific Ocean basin (NOAA 2008, 2011, 2014). However, these stocks are based on geography only.

Having a tropical and subtropical distribution, the equator is not a barrier for roughtoothed dolphins. However, it is clear that South America represents a thermal barrier for this species where thermoregulation restricts them to ocean temperatures greater than 21°C, limiting their latitude range to about 37° both north and south (West *et al.* 2011). Therefore, gene flow of rough-toothed dolphins between the Atlantic and the Pacific Oceans has been limited to going around Cape Agulhas at the southern tip of Africa and traversing the Indian Ocean since the closure of the Isthmus of Panama around four million years ago (Steeman *et al.* 2009). The southern tip of Africa is considered to be a biogeographic barrier for many tropical marine animals, including dolphins, and in several instances dolphin populations from multiple species have evolved independently on either side of Cape Agulhas in the two regions of the Atlantic and Indian Oceans (Perrin 2007).

Rough-toothed dolphins are the only delphinid with a worldwide distribution where taxonomy has not been comprehensively evaluated, either by genetic analyses or morphology. In the absence of diagnosable morphological characteristics (e.g. when skeletons are not available), taxonomic designations for cetaceans have been based on genetic evidence (Dalebout *et al.* 2002, Dalebout *et al.* 2007, Jackson *et al.* 2014).

Taxonomic delimitation recognizes that time and space can set populations on different evolutionary paths due to local adaptation (Ayala 1976, De Queiroz 2007). Considering the large geographic distance and the possible biogeographic barriers of ocean temperatures and currents around the southern tip of Africa separating the Atlantic Ocean from the Indian and the Pacific Ocean, we evaluate phylogeography, testing concordance between geography and gene flow of rough-toothed dolphins. We identify the patterns of phylogeography and evaluate the criteria for three possible delimitations used previously for dolphins with a worldwide distribution including species, subspecies and Evolutionary Significant Units (ESUs).

The Genealogical/Lineage Concordance Species Concept (GCC) states that phylogenetic diagnoses should be based on multiple independent genetic traits such as information contained in multiple loci (Avise & Ball 1990). A specialized workshop on cetacean taxonomy determined new definitions and criteria for species and subspecies, and found this species concept to be the most relevant for cetaceans because it provides evidence of irreversible divergence (Reeves *et al.* 2004). The criteria that came out of this workshop have been used for diagnosis of several cetacean species (Dalebout *et al.* 2002, Caballero *et al.* 2007) and subspecies (Morin *et al.* 2010a, Archer *et al.* 2013, Jackson *et al.* 2014), and we use it here in our definitions of species and subspecies. Species are generally defined as a collection of populations on distinct evolutionary trajectories that are not likely to recombine with any other such lineages (De Queiroz 2007). Subspecies are collections of populations that are currently on distinct evolutionary trajectories, but it is not certain they have diverged irreversibly. This could be due to being separated a short

time, and/or occasional gene flow (Taylor *et al.* 2010). Evolutionary Significant Units (ESUs) are on separate evolutionary trajectories, but experience greater gene flow than subspecies, and therefore do not exhibit diagnosable traits. Although ESUs are a human construct, they are meaningful for management purposes. ESUs represent an important component in the evolutionary legacy of the species (Waples 1991). They experience sufficiently low gene flow such that local adaptation may occur (Gardenfors 2001).

Since species are considered to be on separate evolutionary trajectories and exhibit evidence of irreversible divergence, we would expect monophyly between species (Ayala 1976, De Queiroz 2007). Due to biogeographic barriers specific to rough-toothed dolphins of South America and possibly South Africa, we would expect concordance of geography and monophyly, e.g. the Atlantic Ocean individuals to form a monophyletic clade, in order to conclude species level designation similar to the pattern found in other dolphins. Due to some degree of gene flow, we would not expect subspecies or ESUs to show monophyly. Instead, for subspecies, we would expect genetic differentiation in both the nuclear and mtDNA as well as fixed differences in either nuclear or mtDNA for diagnosability (Archer et al. 2013). It is this diagnosability that separates subspecies from ESU's. In addition to fixed differences in genetic diagnosability, subspecies diagnosability has been described as differences in color pattern, behavior or ecology, i.e. characters that can be correlated with evolutionary independence (Baird 2000, Foote et al. 2009, Braby et al. 2012). For ESU's, diagnosability would not be distinguishable because there is still sufficient gene flow. In ESU's we would expect genetic differentiation in mtDNA and less than two migrants per generation (Gardenfors 2001).

Here we present the first study of the phylogeographic relationship of rough-toothed dolphins. Our study included the use of both mitochondrial and nuclear markers across a comprehensive geographic area spanning three ocean basins, and analyses from phylogenetic reconstructions, divergence dating and genetic differentiation. The scope of this study allowed us to assess phylogeography on two levels: 1) Broad and shallow: many samples across the globe with one marker (350 bp of the mtDNA control region) and 2) Narrow and deep: on a subset of these samples using concatenated protein-coding genes of the mitogenome and six nuclear introns. Our dataset includes samples collected around islands, pelagic samples collected from large ship surveys, as well as bycatch and beachcast dolphins. Specifically, we test the hypothesis of species-level differentiation, using monophyly of mtDNA lineages as an indicator, and quantify the genetic diversity and differentiation of rough-toothed dolphins. We evaluate the phylogeographic patterns and divergence in light of species, subspecies and ESUs based on genetic diagnostic characters consistent with the criterion of "irreversible divergence" (Reeves et al. 2004). In the absence of monophyly, we evaluate conventional frequency and population structure indices to describe the pattern and magnitude of gene flow between oceans. If separation between the Atlantic and the Indo-Pacific Ocean basins has been sufficient for species status we expect supported monophyletic clades between the Atlantic and the Pacific Ocean basins. Alternatively, we evaluate genetic differentiation in both nuclear and mtDNA to assess phylogeographic patterns. For subspecies we expect fixed differences as evidence of diagnosable characteristics, whereas for ESU's we expect less than two migrants per generation.

### 2.3. Material and Methods

#### 2.3.1. Ethics Statement

Procedures for ensuring animal welfare during biopsy sampling were approved as part of the scientific research permits issued by the National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) issued to Southwest Fisheries Science Center (permit 774), Robin W. Baird (permit 731) and C. Scott Baker (permit 13583-01) under the authority of the Marine Mammal Protection Act of 1972. Oregon State University's Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee approved a protocol for the collection of biopsy samples (permit 4285). The samples originating from outside the US jurisdiction were imported under the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species (CITES) import permit numbers US774223, US689420 and US799055. The Southwest Fisheries Science Center and Oregon State University are Registered Scientific Institutions under CITES.

### 2.3.2. Sample collection

The rough-toothed dolphin tissue samples used in the mitogenome (n=19) and the worldwide study (n=360, Figure 2.1) were collected from several regional collaborators. Samples from the Society Islands of French Polynesia and Samoa (near the island of Savaii) were obtained using a modified veterinary capture rifle and biopsy dart (Krützen *et al.* 2002) and stored in 70% ethanol. All other biopsy skin samples from living dolphins were obtained using a crossbow and arrow system. Skin samples collected from fishery bycatch individuals around American Samoa (island of Tutuila) were stored in DMSO. Skin samples collected from fishery bycatch individuals around American

Samoa and mass strandings around the Gulf Coast of Florida and the northeastern Atlantic Ocean were stored in DMSO. All samples were stored at -80°C.

Teeth samples used in the worldwide study (n=34, Figure 2.1) were obtained in collaboration with The Smithsonian Institution, Bayworld Port Elizabeth Museum and Oceanarium in South Africa, and the Museum of New Zealand Te Papa Tongarewa. The Smithsonian samples were collected from mass strandings in the Pacific Ocean around Maui in the main Hawaiian Islands, and the northwestern Atlantic Ocean, as well as from fishery bycatch individuals in the Eastern Tropical Pacific (ETP) and Isla Gorgona, Colombia. Bayworld samples were collected on the southwestern coast of South Africa and the New Zealand samples were collected on the eastern side of the North Island.

#### 2.3.3. Sample location delineations for each dataset

For the 350 bp dataset, we divided our sample locations into five biogeographic regions (Figure 2.1). The delineation of these regions considered biogeographic barriers (Rocha *et al.* 2007, Briggs *et al.* 2013) as well as the constraints from the number of samples and sample locations. The Pacific Ocean was further divided into Western, Central and Eastern Pacific. The 'western' division represented individuals sampled near Japan, Taiwan and the Marianas Islands, 'central' represented individuals sampled in the Pacific Island regions including the Hawaiian, Society and Samoan Islands (see Chapter 3, Figures 3.1b-d for details) and 'eastern' represented individuals sampled in the traditional Eastern Tropical Pacific exclusive of the Hawaiian Islands. For the intron and mitogenome dataset, the Western Pacific and Indian Ocean regions were collapsed into

an Indian/Western Pacific region and the Central Pacific and the Eastern Pacific were collapsed into a Central/Eastern Pacific region.

#### 2.3.4. DNA Extraction, sequencing and molecular sexing of tissue samples

Total DNA was extracted either using either a Qiagen DNeasy Blood and Tissue Kit or a standard phenol:chloroform extraction protocol (Sambrook *et al.* 1989), modified for small samples (Baker *et al.* 1994). DNA was quantified with pico-green fluorescence and normalized to 15 ng  $\mu$ l<sup>-1</sup>. An 800 bp fragment of the 5' end of the mtDNA control region was amplified and sequenced using the primers Dlp1.5 and Dlp8 as described in Oremus *et al.* (2007).

The DNA extraction from teeth followed standard protocols for 'ancient DNA extraction' (Pimper *et al.* 2009). Total DNA was extracted from teeth samples in a lab separate from modern cetacean DNA. A laminar flow chamber and the use of UV radiation were used to provide sterile surface conditions and minimize the risk of contamination. Reagents were made up in a "DNA-free" positive pressure room separate from other laboratories. Teeth were submerged in liquid nitrogen for 20 seconds and then crushed. The resulting powder was subsampled and stored in a -20°C freezer. DNA was extracted from 0.1g of tooth powder beginning with a protein digestion with 200ul of 10%SDS, 100 ul DTT (10mg/ml) and 100ul Proteinase K (20 mg/ml) and incubated at 37°C overnight, and then by one hour at 50°C. Samples were then centrifuged, and the rest of the extraction procedure followed Pimper *et al.* (2009), including silica suspension

(Boom *et al.* 1990). A negative control, or blank, was run as every 5<sup>th</sup> sample, and a maximum of 8 samples and two blanks were extracted at one time.

A 450 bp region of the mitochondrial control region was amplified via Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) in a 25ul reaction using primers M13Dlp1.5 and Dlp5 (Dalebout *et al.* 1998), 1mg/ml Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA) and 5ul of DNA template as described in Pimper *et al.* (2009). This was followed by a nested amplification using 3 ul of a 1:10 dilution of the first reaction using the primers M13Dlp1.5 and Dlp4 under the same conditions except no BSA was added. PCR products were purified for sequencing with SAPEX (Amersham). The sequencing reaction was carried out with *BigDye Vs 3.1* (Applied Biosystems, Inc.) with post-sequencing clean-up using Agencourt CleanSEQ Kit (Beckman Coulter). Products were then run on an ABI 3730 Genetic Analyzer (Applied Biosystems, Inc.).

Sequences were aligned and edited using Sequencher 4.6 (Gene Codes Corporation). Sequences were required to have a minimum average *Phred* score of >30 (e.g. 30 is a 1 in 1,000 error rate and 40 is a 1 in 10,000 error rate); (Ewing *et al.* 1998). Any variable sites with Phred<40 were visually confirmed. If sequences fell below this Phred <30 threshold, they were resequenced. If they failed again they were removed from the dataset. If a haplotype was represented by only one sample the identity of the haplotype was confirmed by re-sequencing in both directions. Variable sites and unique haplotypes were identified using Sequencher 4.6 and then MacClade, Version 4.0 (Maddison &

29

Maddison 2000). Samples were then trimmed to a length of 350 bp of the control region so that all skin and tooth samples represented the same subset of the control region.

Molecular sex identification was carried out using a region of the male-specific *Sry* gene along with regions of the *ZFX* genes as positive controls (Gilson *et al.* 1998). For teeth samples, two rounds of PCR were carried out using 5ul of DNA for the first round of PCR, and 3ul of a 1:10 dilution of the first PCR as input for the second round. The reactions were performed in a total volume of 25ul with the following conditions: 2.5ul Taq Gold buffer, 5ul of 4mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 1ul of 0.4uM each primer, Y53-3C, Y53-3D, P23EZ and P15EZ, 0.25ul of 0.2mM of dNTPs and 0.25ul of *Taq* Gold. The thermocycle profile began with an initial denaturation step of 94°C for 10 minutes, followed by 35 cycles of 94°C for 45 seconds, 60°C for 45 seconds, 72°C for 60 seconds and a final extension at 72°C for 10 minutes. Male and female positive controls were added to each reaction.

#### 2.3.5. Nuclear intron amplification and sequencing

Six nuclear short-range (<1,500 bp) introns (Actin-1, CAT, CHRNA, GBA, IFN and sex marker DBY7) were amplified using PCR conditions modified from Caballero *et al.* (2008). Each reaction consisted of 15-20 ng of DNA, and a final concentration of 1x Platinum *Taq* buffer (Invitrogen), 0.4uM each primer, 20mM dNTPs, 1U/ul Platinum *Taq* polymerase and 1ul of BSA (Bovine Serum Albumin) to decrease inhibition of PCR. For Actin-1, 1.5mM MgCl<sub>2</sub> was used. For all other introns, 2.0 mM of MgCl<sub>2</sub> was used. For Actin-1, CAT, GBA and IFN temperature profile consisted of an initial denaturing step of

3 min at 94°C, followed by 35 cycles of 94°C for 30 s, 55°C for 45 s and 72°C for 30s followed by an extension at 72°C for 10 minutes. For CHRNA1 and DBY7 touchdown temperature protocols were used. CHRNA1 consisted of an initial denaturation at 94°C for 2 min, followed by 10 cycles at 94°C for 20s, 64-55°C (decrease by 1°C per cycle) for 20s, 72°C for 40s. This touchdown was followed by 30 cycles at 94°C for 20s, 55°C for 20s and 72°C for 40s. DBY7 started with a denaturation at 94°C for 2 min, followed by 20 cycles at 94°C for 30s, 60-50°C (decrease of 0.5°C per cycle) for 1 min and 72°C for 1.5min. This was followed by 10 cycles at 94°C for 30s, 55°C for 1 min and 72°C for 1.5min. A final extension at 72°C for 10 minutes was performed for both touchdown reactions. Two female samples were used as a negative control for DBY7. A 1.6% agarose gel showed no amplification of female samples when compared to male samples.

# 2.3.6. Long-range amplification and Illumina MiSeq sequencing of mitogenomes

Mitogenome sequence was generated for a total of 19 rough-toothed dolphins in the Pacific (n=11), Atlantic (n=7) and Indian (n=1) Ocean basins using seven overlapping long-range fragments. The fragments ranged in size from 1,473-3,874 bp (Appendix Table II.1). The reactions, adopted from Alexander *et al.* (2013), used 2U/uL high fidelity Phusion® Polymerase (New England Biolabs, USA), 5X buffer high fidelity. Reactions conditions included 1× Phusion® HF Buffer (NEB, USA), 1  $\mu$ M each primer; 2% DMSO (NEB, USA); 15-30ng of template DNA, dNTP (Promega, USA) and BSA. Thermocycle profiles began with an initial denaturation of 98°C for 30s, followed by 35 cycles of 98 °C 8s, T<sub>A</sub> for 30s and 72°C for 1min 15s, followed by a final extension of 72 °C for 10 min. Several primers were redesigned to ensure amplification in the rough-toothed dolphin. Primers, fragment length, specific location in the rough-toothed dolphin, and annealing temperatures ( $T_A$ ) for each fragment are given in Appendix II, Table II.1.

Gel electrophoresis was used to quantify the PCR product from each fragment, and then fragments were combined for each individual, cleaned of excess primers and nucleotides using a Qiagen PCR purification kit (Qiagen) and individually barcoded and prepared for sequencing using a Nextera XT DNA Sample Preparation Kit (Illumina). Individuals were run on three Illumina Miseq runs (two at 250 bp paired end, one at 75bp paired end). Reads were trimmed to remove poor quality sequence and adaptor sequence using default settings in *Trim Galore! v0.2.8* (Babranham Bioinformatics 2013), and then assembled to a *Steno bredanensis* mitogenome reference (GenBank Accession no. JF339982.1) using *BWA v0.7.4* (Li & Durbin 2009). The consensus sequence from the BWA assembly was calculated using *Samtools v0.1.19* (Li *et al.* 2009). For quality control purposes, any site with a read depth <10 was resequenced using Sanger sequencing and verified for the correct base. In addition, base calls supported by fewer than 70% of reads were reviewed for possible heteroplasmy/indels/pseudogene incorporation following Alexander *et al.* (2013).

In a few samples, long-range amplification failed. For these, new primers were designed for shorter regions followed by conventional sequencing on the ABI. The primers, bp length and location of these secondary amplicons are outlined for these fragments in Appendix II, Table II.1.

32

Each assembled mitogenome was examined for gaps indicative of the incorporation of nuclear mitochondrial DNA (numt) pseudogenes. The mitogenome was represented by concatenated protein-coding regions (Figure 2.2) excluding ND6 due to its location on the opposing strand and distinct patterns of evolution in cetaceans (Ho & Lanfear 2010, Alexander *et al.* 2013). Consensus sequences generated final concatenation of protein-coding genes in *GENEIOUS* (Biomatters LTD) where overlap in genes was represented only once. The start of the first codon position for each gene was identified in *GENEIOUS* and then verified in *MEGA v6.0* (Tamura *et al.* 2013). Saturation of the third codon position was evaluated with *DAMBE* (Xia 2013) in order to assess accurate estimate sequence divergence.

## 2.3.7. Sanger sequencing

Sequencing for 350 bp of the mtDNA control region (mtDNA CR), protein-coding genes (PC mitogenome) where amplifications had failed, and all introns was done using Sanger sequencing. Free nucleotides and primers were removed from PCR products using SAP and Exo1 (shrimp alkaline phosphatase and exonuclease 1). Products were sequenced using standard protocols of BigDye (Applied Biosystems Inc.), and a final cleaning step performed using the standard CleanSEQ (Agencourt) protocol. Products were run on an ABI3730x1 DNA Analyzer. For all introns and individuals with unique mtDNA CR haplotypes, each individual was sequenced forward and reverse to ensure the sequencing of the entire fragment.

Nuclear introns were evaluated for heterozygote sites using a 25% secondary peak threshold in Sequencher. After identifying heterozygote sites, introns were phased using *Phase v2.1.1.* (Stephens *et al.* 2001), and resulting variable site alleles were concatenated for each individual.

#### 2.3.8. Mitochondrial DNA phylogenies and divergence time

A phylogeny of the 350 bp mtDNA control region dataset was reconstructed in RAxML (Stamatakis 2014) using Cyberinfrastructure for Phylogenetic Research (CIPRES) Portal Gateway (Miller *et al.* 2010). We used the nucleotide substitution model HKY+I+G selected by jModeltest2 (Darriba *et al.* 2012). The heuristic search conditions for ML used starting trees obtained by step-wise addition with ten random sequence addition replicates and tree-bisection-reconnection branch swapping. We used rapid bootstrapping and 1,000 iterations.

For the PC mitogenomes, the phylogeny was reconstructed using *BEAST v1.7* (Drummond *et al.* 2012). We used the nucleotide substitution model GTR, as supported by jModeltest2 (Darriba *et al.* 2012). In order to determine the correct substitution rate for rough-toothed dolphins, we first reconstructed the phylogenetic relationship for 46 cetacean species, including a randomly chosen rough-toothed dolphin sequence from this study, using the fossil calibration given in Ho and Lanfear (2010) with a minimum age constraint for Delphinoidea as discussed in Steeman *et al.* (2009). The second phylogenetic reconstruction used the substitution rate derived in the first analysis specific for rough-toothed dolphins of 0.009776 substitutions per site per Myr.

Each analysis had a burn-in period of 100,000 and 90,000,000 MCMC steps were used to generate two independent chains in *BEAST v1.7*. The multispecies analysis used the parameters, including different site models for each of the three partitions, discussed in Alexander *et al.* (2013) Supplementary Material and an uncorrelated lognormal relaxed clock and a linked Yule tree prior across the PC mitogenome partitions. In the second analysis specific to rough-toothed dolphins, the three codons were partitioned for different site models, but had the same clock model and tree. The site models are discussed in Alexander *et al.* (2013) Supplementary Material and A. Alexander (Pers Comm). A strict molecular clock was used, since lineages within a species are not expected to show rate variation (Ho & Lanfear 2010).

For each analysis, tree files generated from each of the two runs were then combined in *LogCombiner* and evaluated for convergence using *Tracer v1.6* (Rambaut *et al.* 2014), having an Effective Sample Size (ESS) of >500. The maximum clade credibility tree was produced in *TreeAnnotator* (the tree from the MCMC sampler with the highest product of all the posterior probabilities for all clades in the tree), and visualized with *Figtree v1.3.1* (Rambaut 2009).

The biogeographic sample location was traced upon the PC mitogenome phylogeny as an ancestral history using *Mesquite v3.01* (Maddison & Maddison 2014). There were three regions representing each of the oceans, Atlantic, Indian and Pacific. We used a likelihood calculation and a likelihood reconstruction.

#### 2.3.9. Diversity and differentiation

Haplotype diversity, number of alleles, proportion of variable sites, nucleotide diversity and theta were calculated in *Arlequin* v3.5 (Excoffier & Lischer 2010).  $F_{ST}$  and  $\Phi_{ST}$ estimates of differentiation between regions were measured with 50,000 permutations in *Arlequin* v3.5. The average net distance between groups ( $d_A = d_{XY} - ((d_X + d_Y)/2)$ ) where  $d_{XY}$  is the average distance between groups X and Y and  $d_X$  and  $d_Y$  are the mean withingroup distances, was calculated as a metric for subspecies status in *MEGA* v6.0 for the five sampling regions using the mtDNA CR dataset as well as the three region PC mitogenome dataset.

For the intron dataset using the three regions (n=35),  $F_{ST}$  and  $G''_{ST}$  were calculated for phased alleles in Genodive (Meirmans & Van Tienderen 2004). Observed heterozygosity was calculated on a per-locus basis, dividing the total number of sampled heterozygotes by the total number of individuals sequenced. This differs from Jackson *et al.* (2014) who calculated heterozygosity of each single nucleotide polymorphism, rather than the phased alleles. Migration rate (Nm) was calculated with the resulting  $F_{ST}$  value between regions using the equation Nm =  $\frac{1}{4}((1/F_{ST})-1)$  (Wright 1969, Hedrick *et al.* 2013)

#### 2.4 RESULTS

We generated phylogeographic and population level statistics for the most comprehensive dataset of rough-toothed dolphins to date. The mtDNA CR sequences (length 350 bp) were compiled for a total of 351 individuals (the removal of replicate samples is

discussed in Chapter 3). The six nuclear loci (length 2,910 bp) were sequenced from a subset of these individuals (n=35; 10 from the Atlantic, 7 from the Indian and Western Pacific Ocean, 18 from the Central and Eastern Pacific Ocean, Appendix II Table II.3) and samples represented each of three oceanic regions, Atlantic, Indian/Western Pacific and Central/Western Pacific (Table 2.1). The protein-coding regions of the mitochondrial genome (length 10,810 bp) were concatenated for a subset of the individuals used for the intron dataset (n=19) representing three oceanic regions.

#### 2.4.2. Mitochondrial DNA phylogenies and divergence time

Within the mtDNA CR dataset, we identified 49 haplotypes and 73 variable sites from individuals in the Pacific (n=310), Indian (n=7) and Atlantic (n=34) Oceans. Although the Pacific and Indian Oceans shared mtDNA haplotypes (n=7) there were no haplotypes shared with either of these areas and the Atlantic Ocean (Figure 2.4). There were no fixed diagnostic substitutions unique to the Atlantic Ocean or any other region. Although there was a private clade (Clade D) supported by three fixed differences in the mtDNA CR dataset, this phylogeny was not supported for any clade.

Each individual in the PC mitogenome phylogeny had a unique haplotype represented from 186 variable sites. There were four main clades, one from the Western Pacific (labeled A in Figure 2.4), one from the Central Pacific (B), and one from the North Atlantic (D). The other cosmopolitan clade included individuals from the Indian Ocean, the Central Pacific, Eastern Pacific, the South Atlantic and North Atlantic (C). The Bayesian phylogeny of the PC mitogenome dataset had posterior probabilities above 0.95 for all clades with the exception of the cosmopolitan clade (C) where the posterior probability was 0.79.

The private North Atlantic clade was reconstructed in both phylogenies (mtDNA CR and PC mitogenome). Posterior probabilities for the PC mitogenome tree were highly supported for this clade, however, the mtDNA CR clade bootstrap values illustrated no support (bootstrap value <50%). Three Atlantic haplotypes clustered with Pacific haplotypes in both reconstructions, although the clade in both phylogenies did not receive significant support. Thus, despite the support for the North Atlantic clade (D) in the PC mitogenome phylogeny, there was no evidence of overall monophyly for individuals from the Atlantic Ocean. The resolution provided by the PC mitogenome phylogeny of the other two clades (Figure 2.4 clades A and B) was not present in the 350 mtDNA CR tree. In the PC mitogenome phylogeny, two haplotypes in the central Pacific that were collapsed into one at 350 bp mtDNA (this chapter) and 450 bp (dataset in Chapter 3) represented unique haplotypes in the concatenated protein-coding regions (individuals SbrAS12588 and Sbr03FP120).

The substitutions per site per Myr calculated for the rough-toothed dolphin was 0.00976 (Figure 2.4), 95% highest posterior density (HPD) = 0.0073-0.012. Appendix Table II.3 shows rough-toothed dolphins exhibit a slightly higher substitution rate than average when compared to the other delphinids in the multispecies table. This value is well within the range of estimates from McGowen (2011) and Steeman *et al.* (2009), as well as

Alexander *et al.* (2013), for delphinid substitution rates using the PC mitogenome (median value 0.0059-0.0123, 95% HPD = 0.0039-0.0199).

The ancestral state reconstruction (Figure 2.5) suggests that rough-toothed dolphins originated in the Pacific Ocean. However, equivocal nodes after this event illustrate it is not possible to determine which direction the next migration events occurred, Pacific into the Atlantic or Atlantic into the Pacific. There could have been three migration events into the Atlantic from the Indo/Pacific Ocean. Equally likely from the PC mitogenome phylogeny and ancestral state, there could be a migration into the Atlantic and two returns to the Pacific, or two Atlantic migrations and one return to the Pacific.

#### 2.4.3. mtDNA genetic diversity and differentiation

Genetic differentiation using the mtDNA CR dataset was highly significant among the five regions (Table 2.2) as well as highly significant differentiation for the PC mitogenomes among the three regions (Table 2.3). For both datasets, the greatest differentiation was between the Atlantic Ocean and all other regions, as expected, given the phylogenetic reconstruction. The average net divergence (d<sub>A</sub>) ranged from 1.11% to 1.78% for the mtDNA CR (Table 2.2) and from 0.11% to 0.20% for the PC mitogenome (Table 2.3) with the largest values between the Atlantic Ocean and other regions in both datasets.

#### 2.4.4. Nuclear diversity and differentiation

From the total of 2,910 bp of six concatenated introns there were 16 variable sites in 35 individuals. These were based on homozygotes and calling secondary peaks to identify heterozygotes. Phasing indicated 1 - 8 alleles for each autosomal intron (Table 2.1). However, the Y-linked DBY7 was invariant and naturally did not occur in female samples (n=19 of the 35 samples). Four private alleles were found in the Atlantic Ocean, but there were no fixed differences between oceanic regions for any intron. Nucleotide diversity ( $\pi$ ) ranged across loci 0.01% (CHRNA-1) to 1.02% (Actin-1), while the average worldwide genomic ( $\pi$ ) was 0.08% for the Atlantic, 0.10% for the Indian/Western Pacific, 0.12% for the Central/Eastern Pacific (Table 2.1).

Significant genetic differentiation was found between the Atlantic and the other two oceanic regions, but not between Indian/Western Pacific and Central/Eastern Pacific (Table 2.4).

Intron  $F_{ST}$  values yielded migration rates (Nm) for rough-toothed dolphins of 1.6 migrants/generation and 1.4 migrants/generation between the Atlantic and the Indian/Western Pacific region and the Atlantic and Central/Eastern Pacific regions respectively. An Nm of 14 migrants/generation was found between the Indian/Western Pacific and Central/Eastern Pacific regions. Nm values for mtDNA were slightly lower.

#### 2.5. DISCUSSION

Rough-toothed dolphins are currently recognized as one species worldwide, and no taxonomic designation has been examined previously on a worldwide scale for this species. Our study evaluated the concordance between genetic isolation and oceanographic regions. We did not find monophyly of oceanic regions in either the mtDNA or nuclear intron datasets, and therefore our data do not support the designation of multiple species for the rough-toothed dolphin. Our population level analyses revealed significant differentiation and less than two migrants per generation between the Atlantic and both Indian/Western Pacific and Central/Eastern Pacific, suggesting the Atlantic ocean basin rough-toothed dolphins be recognized as a separate ESU.

### 2.5.1. Evidence of subspecies or ESU's for the Atlantic region?

We found evidence of genetic isolation and limited gene flow of rough-toothed dolphins in the Atlantic Ocean from the Indian and Pacific Oceans with significant  $F_{ST}$  values between the regions for both mtDNA and the nuclear introns. Significant differentiation of nuclear introns and mtDNA between regions has been sufficient to identify separate subspecies for cetaceans with worldwide distributions as it reflects low levels of gene flow (Jackson et al. 2014). Subspecies should also have a diagnosable component associated with fixed differences in either nuclear or mtDNA (Archer *et al.* 2013). We found no evidence of fixed differences in our nuclear intron or mtDNA dataset. Therefore, we do not currently have a useful measure to gauge subspecies status in our study, and we conclude from no fixed differences between oceanic regions, that subspecies status is not appropriate for the rough-toothed dolphin. The migration rate using the nuclear introns revealed less than two migrants per generation. This has been used as a guideline in determining ESU status, as it shows that local adaptation may occur in populations that experience this low level of gene flow (Gardenfors 2001). Therefore, separate ESU's should be recognized for rough-toothed dolphins between the Atlantic region and Indian/Western Pacific and the Central/Eastern Pacific.

Between the Indian/Western Pacific and the Central/Eastern Pacific regions shared mtDNA CR haplotypes and no significant differentiation in the nuclear dataset indicate recent divergence or low levels of continued gene flow. The five regions identified in the mtDNA CR dataset should be recognized as separate populations. However, within these populations, smaller populations may exist, as shown in Oremus *et al.* (2012), and fine scale analyses including the use of microsatellites will be needed to determine the number of populations within each of these regions (see Chapter 3).

Although it is possible that rough-toothed dolphins in the Atlantic Ocean may warrant subspecies status, our study is limited in scope by 1) the use of only genetic data and 2) limited sampling in some areas. Where Jackson *et al.* (2014) and Archer *et al.* (2013) had comprehensive sampling from each ocean basin, our sampling in the Atlantic was limited to the Western Atlantic and one sample from the South Atlantic. Moreover, the few samples in the Indian Ocean may not fully represent that region. Although Morin *et al.* (2010) identified subspecies status for the killer whale using only mitochondrial DNA, they had several morphological and ecological studies that corroborated their findings. This is the first worldwide study on rough-toothed dolphins, and no morphological or

ecological based studies have been done to our knowledge. Although we found no shared haplotypes between the Atlantic and the other regions, which may be evidence of subspecies status, it may also be due to our limited sampling.

#### 2.5.2. Colonization into or out of the Atlantic Ocean?

The PC mitogenome phylogeny implies that rough-toothed dolphins have inhabited both the Atlantic and the Pacific Ocean basins for nearly one million years. It does appear that the species originally inhabited the Pacific Ocean and there were additional radiation events that spread into both oceans, either from the Atlantic into the Indian/Pacific Ocean, or from the Indian/Pacific into the Atlantic. Ancestral state reconstruction considered alone suggests that either direction of migration is plausible (Figure 2.4). However, the oceanography of the region suggests that Pacific to Atlantic dispersal would be an easier direction of travel. This makes the option of three separate migrations into the Atlantic more likely than either two Atlantic migrations and one return to the Pacific or one migration into the Atlantic followed by two returns to the Pacific.

The Agulhas current and the fluctuating temperature around Cape Agulhas at the southern tip of Africa is referred to as the South Africa species gate (Perrin 2007). It is considered a biogeographic barrier for many species, and has affected the dispersal of many fauna with worldwide distributions (Perrin 2007, Rocha *et al.* 2007, Daly-Engel *et al.* 2012a). On several occasions in the Pleistocene, subtropical to tropical water extends around the Cape and up into the Atlantic. In colder periods this connection is interrupted, with a  $20^{\circ}$  isotherm hitting the continent. Therefore, during this time, the tropical Atlantic

was completely cut off from the rest of the tropics. For species with tropical and subtropical distributions their distribution pattern may therefore be related to the South Africa species gate. For example, spotted dolphins have two recognized species (*Stenella attenuata* and *Stenella frontalis*). Although *S. attenuata* is found in both the Atlantic and Indian Oceans, *S. frontalis* is only found in the Atlantic Ocean. Moreover, the humpback dolphin on the South Atlantic Ocean coast (*Sousa tesuszii*) is a separate species than that found on the Indian Ocean coast of South Africa (*Sousa chinensis*). This pattern suggests that the occasional open gate may have been effectively a one-way filter, enabling greater movement from east to west than the reverse because when the corridor is open, the fast Agulhas current runs from northeast to southwest and the Benguela current along the west coast of Africa flows from south to north. So a tropical dolphin moving from the Atlantic into the Indian Ocean would have to travel against the currents for several thousand kilometers, while the other direction would provide an "easy ride" (Perrin 2007).

The timing of the second migration event coincides with a oceanographic event that affected several marine fauna in the South Africa region. According to the PC mitogenome phylogeny, second migration event occurred around 130 Kyr (Figure 2.4). Around the same time as this clade diverged, a vigorous exchange of fauna occurred between the Indo-Pacific and the Southwest Atlantic during the inter-glacials of the late Pleistocene promoted an enhanced Agulhas current around the southern tip of Africa (Peeters *et al.* 2004). Therefore, it is plausible that this migration event from the east occurred into the Atlantic during this time. This provides a stronger argument for the

migration event to have occurred into the Atlantic instead of into the Pacific. Although the Pacific into the Atlantic migration direction appears a more plausible option biologically for many fauna, the scope of our study is limited, and additional samples for the PC mitogenome are needed, especially samples from the eastern Atlantic, to determine which direction the rough-toothed dolphin oceanic migration events occurred.

#### 2.5.3. Conclusion

The results of this study are the first to explicitly examine the phylogeography of the rough-toothed dolphin. The phylogeographic pattern we identified in both nuclear and mtDNA show larger  $F_{ST}$  values between the Atlantic and the other regions. This is not surprising given biogeographic barriers can be influential to pelagic species (Rocha *et al.* 2007). The South Africa species gate presents temperature fluctuations and currents that have shown it to be an influential biogeographic barrier for many fauna. Although our original metric was genetic isolation and geographic distance, the biological significance of this genetic differentiation may be more relevant to the biogeographic barrier presented by the South Africa species gate for this tropical and subtropical species.

#### 2.6. Acknowledgements

We thank Cascadia Research Collective and many regional collaborators for access to DNA samples. Special thanks to Kelly Robertson for archiving the entire rough-toothed dolphin database outside of the Society Islands and Samoa (island of Savaii) samples. The samples were collected in collaboration with Oregon State University, the University of Auckland, Southwest Fisheries Science Center, Portland State University and the Environment Society of Oman. We thank Ellen Garland, Ursula Gonzalez, Daniel Webster, Jessica Aschettino, Greg Schorr, James Sumich, and Pamela Carzon for field assistance in the Hawaiian and Society Islands. We thank Susana Caballero for assistance in long-range fragment primer design specific to Steno bredanensis, Debbie Steel for assistance in laboratory analyses and Dori Dick for ArcGIS assistance. We thank Southwest Fisheries Science Center Marine Mammal Genetics Group and the Pacific Islands Grant who provided funding for the archiving and extracting of samples from the Hawaiian Islands and American Samoa. National Marine Fisheries Service, U.S. Navy (N45, Office of Naval Research, Pacific Fleet), and Wild Whale Research Foundation provided funding for the main Hawaiian Islands fieldwork. New Zealand Marsden Fund, Pew Environmental Trust and the Mamie Markham Research Award provided funding for Society Islands and Samoa fieldwork; with additional funding provided by the Ministry of the Environment of French Polynesia and Dolphin and Whale Watching Expeditions. C.S. Baker was supported by a Pew Marine Conservation Fellowship for a study of "A Pattern of Dolphins" (aPOD) in the Pacific.



Figure 2.1. Boundaries represented by black lines show sampling regions for the worldwide mtDNA dataset. Our boundaries were designed relative to the seven biogeographic barriers described by Rocha *et al.* 2007. Boundaries from that study are shown in dashed lines. For the intron and mitogenome dataset the Western Pacific and Indian Ocean regions were collapsed into one region (Western Pacific/Indian Ocean) and the Central Pacific and the Eastern Pacific were collapsed (Central/Eastern Pacific). Circles represent locations of samples used (teeth and tissue) for the control region only (350 bp) and stars represent locations of samples used in the mitogenome/intron study. For geographic context, the Esri Ocean Basemap (<u>http://esriurl.com/obm</u>, courtesy of Esri and its partners) is also added.



Figure 2.2. The protein-coding genes (highlighted in green) and D-loop (in black) for the sample rough-toothed dolphin sample Sbr11638. The concatenated protein-coding mitogenome dataset included all of the protein-coding genes here except ND6 (12 total genes). Reasons for the exclusion of ND6 are discussed in the Methods section.



Figure 2.3. A maximum-likelihood phylogenetic reconstruction of rough-toothed dolphin mtDNA CR haplotypes (350 bp) with bootstrap values shown and rooted to the Irrawaddy dolphin (*Orcaella brevirostris*). Haplotype frequencies are shown in the table to the right, and shared haplotypes between regions are shaded. Note that some haplotypes that are separate at 450 basepairs (in Ch 3) are collapsed at 350 basepairs (n=9 that collapsed). Triangles represent samples used in the mitogenome dataset.



Figure 2.4. Bayesian phylogenetic reconstruction of rough-toothed dolphins based on concatenated protein-coding genes in the mitogenome rooted to *Orcaella breverostris* and *Orcinus orca* shown in black. Bayesian posterior probabilities were all above 0.98 unless indicated with an + where the posterior probability is 0.79. Individuals are color coded according to the region where they were sampled. Blue represents the Indian and Western Pacific Ocean, pink represents the Central and Eastern Pacific and green represents the Atlantic Ocean. Each letter designates a main clade. Area where samples were collected is to the right of the sample. The time scale is in millions of years, and the error bars on the nodes indicate uncertainty around divergence time estimates.



Figure 2.5. Likelihood ancestral character state reconstruction of concatenated proteincoding genes in the rough-toothed dolphin mitogenome. This was traced onto the PC mitogenome tree, so is rooted to *Orcaella breverostris* and *Orcinus orca*.

Table 2.1. Basic diversity estimates of nuclear genomic and mtDNA control region sequences. DBY-7 is not shown due to no variation across samples. 'Introns' shows statistics summed over all introns, parentheses represent private alleles to each ocean basin and n equals the number of individuals in that region. MtDNA PC refers to the concatenated mtDNA protein-coding gene sequences (10,810 bp), and mtDNA 350 bp refers to the mtDNA control region sequence that is (350 bp) in length and includes both teeth and skin samples. <sup>a</sup> Haplotype diversity is reported for the 350 bp mtDNA CR and mtDNA PC dataset.

	ACT	CAT	GBA	CHRNA1	IFN	Introns	mtDNA PC <sup>a</sup>	mtDNA 350
								bp <sup>a</sup>
Length (bp)	980	520	310	360	340	2510	10,810	350
No. of	32	35	34	35	35	35	19	351
individuals								
No. of variable	8	2	1	1	4	16	186	76
sites								
Alleles:	5(4)	1(0)	1(0)	1(0)	5(0)	13	7(7)	10(10)
Atlantic								
n=10								
Alleles: Indian	4(1)	3(0)	1(0)	1(0)	5(0)	12	3(3)	15(9)
and Western								
Pacific								
<u>n=/</u>	= (2)	2(0)	4 (4)	2(1)	0 (0)			22(21)
Alleles:	7(2)	3(0)	1(1)	2(1)	8(0)	21	9(9)	33(21)
Central and								
Eastern Pacific								
n=18								
Total no. of	10	3	2	2	8	24	19	49
alleles						-		
Observed	0.400	0.200	0.028	0.057	0.911	0.155	1 <sup>a</sup>	0.912 <sup>a</sup>
Heterozygosity								
s.d.	0.082	0.072	0.033	0.133	0.147	0.148	0.0006	0.0006
π	0.0041	0.0028	0.0002	0.0001	0.0022	0.0036	0.0126	0.0165
s.d.	0.0019	0.0016	0.0001	0.0001	0.0009	0.0017	0.0094	0.0107

Table 2.2. Inter-ocean genetic differentiation of rough-toothed dolphins at the 350 bp mtDNA control region above diagonal  $F_{ST}$  and  $\phi_{ST}$  in parantheses above diagonal as measured in *Arlequin*. Significance is shown in bold and italics. Sample totals for each region are given in parentheses (n). Significance is shown in bold and italics with significance level \*p<0.05 and \*\* p<0.001. dA net distance values generated in *MEGA* 6.0 are shown below the diagonal.

	Atlantic	Indian	Western	Central De sifis	Eastern Da aifi a
	(n=34)	(n=7)	(n=14)	(n=231)	(n=65)
Atlantic		0.223** (0.562**)	0.168** (0.435**)	0.432** (0.516**)	0.397** (0.511**)
Indian	0.0159		0.133** (0.251**)	0.147** (0.286**)	0.156** (0.299**)
Western Pacific	0.0155	0.0111		0.164** (0.277**)	0.199** (0.279**)
Central Pacific	0.0179	0.0131	0.0124		0.201** (0.205**)
Eastern Pacific	0.0178	0.0112	0.0119	0.0117	

Figure 2.3. Inter-ocean genetic differentiation of rough-toothed dolphins using PC mitogenome sequences  $\phi_{ST}$  as measured in *Arlequin* (above diagonal) and dA values calculated in *MEGA 6.0* (below diagonal). Significance is shown in bold and italics. Significance is shown in bold and italics with significance level \*p<0.05 and \*\* p<0.001.

	Atlantic	Indian and Western	Central and Eastern
		Pacific	Pacific
Atlantic		0.284**	0.201**
Indian and Western	0.0020		0.163**
Pacific			
Central and Eastern	0.0017	0.0011	
Pacific			

Table 2.4. Inter-ocean genetic differentiation of rough-toothed dolphins using nuclear intron alleles as calculated in *Genodive* for  $F_{ST}$  (below diagonal) and  $G''_{ST}$  (above diagonal). Significance is shown in bold and italics with significance level \*p<0.05 and \*\* p<0.001.

	Atlantic	Indian and	Central and Eastern
		Western	Pacific
		Pacific	
Atlantic		0.177**	0146**
Indian and	0.150**		0.0091
Western Pacific			
Central and	0.135**	0.018	
Eastern Pacific			
# **3.** Staying close to home? Genetic differentiation of rough-toothed dolphins near oceanic islands in the central Pacific Ocean

## 3.1. Abstract

Rough-toothed dolphins have a worldwide tropical and subtropical distribution, yet little is known about the population structure and social organization of this typically openocean species. Although it has been assumed that pelagic dolphins range widely due to the lack of apparent barriers and unpredictable prey distribution, recent evidence suggests rough-toothed dolphins exhibit fidelity to some oceanic islands. Here we assess the isolation and interchange of rough-toothed dolphins at the regional and trans-equatorial scale within the central Pacific Ocean using the most geographically extensive dataset for this species to date. Samples of insular communities from the Hawaiian (n=181), French Polynesian (n=75) and Samoan (n=18) archipelagos and pelagic samples off the Northwestern Hawaiian Islands (NWHI) (n=18) were analyzed using mtDNA sequencing and microsatellite genotyping of 15 loci. An overall AMOVA indicated strong genetic differentiation among islands within the main Hawaiian Islands (mtDNA  $F_{ST}=0.165$ ; p<0.001; microsatellite F<sub>ST</sub>=0.043 p<0.001) and the Society Islands of French Polynesia ( $F_{ST}$ =0.499; p<0.001; microsatellite  $F_{ST}$ =0.079 p<0.001) as well as between archipelagos (mtDNA F<sub>ST</sub>=0.299; p<0.001; microsatellite F<sub>ST</sub>=0.055 p<0.001). Our results confirm a pattern of island-specific genetic isolation among populations attached to some islands in each archipelago. These insular populations are most prevalent where there is local productivity. The shared haplotypes (n=4) between the archipelagos may be a product of a relatively recent divergence and/or periodic exchange from poorly understood pelagic populations. Our findings have important implications for a little studied species that faces increasing anthropogenic threats around oceanic islands.

#### **3.2. Introduction**

The lack of geographic barriers in the open ocean has long been assumed to pose few restrictions to gene flow for pelagic species predicting little phylogeographic structure at the oceanic scale and negligible population structure at the local scale. However, numerous recent studies show that even species with high dispersal capabilities such as barracuda, sharks and dolphins can show strong population structure (Fontaine *et al.* 2007, Tezanos-Pinto *et al.* 2008, Daly-Engel *et al.* 2012a, Daly-Engel *et al.* 2012b, Whitney *et al.* 2012). Although biogeographic barriers are thought to be one of the forces influencing this structure on a large scale (Briggs & Bowen 2012, Daly-Engel *et al.* 2012a), population structure on a regional scale is often shaped by life history strategies, social structure and variation in oceanographic resources (Moller 2012).

The interplay of social structure, habitat specialization, and dispersal patterns has particularly important implications on the genetic structure of populations in dolphin communities. Coastal dolphins generally show patterns of strong genetic differentiation, low genetic diversity between these populations, and isolation by distance (Wiszniewski *et al.* 2010, Mirimin *et al.* 2011, Hamner *et al.* 2012, Richards *et al.* 2013), while pelagic dolphins seem to show lower, but significant, levels of genetic differentiation, and no particular pattern of isolation by distance (Gaspari *et al.* 2007, Louis *et al.* 2014). Genetic structure can also be influenced by highly organized social structure in both coastal (Moller 2012) and pelagic dolphins (Gaspari *et al.* 2007, Foote *et al.* 2011b, Baird *et al.*  2012). When social structure is the main driver in population structure, random colonization and local drift are observed (Storz 1999). Such organization may restrict genetic differentiation and reduce diversity, limiting the resilience of populations to recover from natural catastrophes or anthropogenic impacts.

In the open ocean of the tropics, where prey resources are widely scattered and less predictable, dolphins are thought to show little population structure. However, primary productivity often increases near oceanic islands due to the "Island mass effect" where nutrients from the island and sufficient light at the ocean's surface initiate photosynthesis (Doty & Oguri 1956, Longhurst 1999, Martinez 2004, Woodworth *et al.* 2012). Island topographies, and their interactions with wind and currents, create a complex system of offshore eddies that also concentrate stable and abundant prey for many mesopelagic predators (Seki *et al.* 2002, Woodworth *et al.* 2012). Surveys have shown cetacean densities are greater closer to shore around the Hawaiian Islands and French Polynesia Islands (Barlow 2006, Lambert *et al.* 2014). Several recent studies have shown dolphin species exhibit population structure and site fidelity due to resource specialization around oceanic islands that experience the island mass effect (Oremus *et al.* 2007, Andrews *et al.* 2010, Martine *et al.* 2012, Oremus *et al.* 2012).

The Hawaiian Islands in the North Pacific, and the Society and Samoan Islands in the South Pacific represent some of the most isolated archipelagos in the world (Figure 1a). Due to the island mass effect (Doty & Oguri 1956, Longhurst 1999), they also represent high levels of diversity and endemism for marine species (Bowen *et al.* 2013). The

Hawaiian Islands (Figure 1b) provide habitat to about 1/3 of the recognized cetacean species (Barlow 2006, Baird *et al.* 2013, Bowen *et al.* 2013), while the five archipelagos of French Polynesia (Figure 1c), including the Society Islands, also provide habitat to 1/3 of the world's cetacean species. The steep volcanic slope of these islands equates to deepwater species in close proximity to shore, making these islands a convenient site (Poole 1995) to study otherwise pelagic cetaceans in the wild. Within the last ten years, an increasing number of cetacean studies have provided baseline data on movement and habitat use for both nearshore and offshore species around oceanic islands. Many of these studies have found fidelity to islands for small odontocetes (Poole 1995, Oremus *et al.* 2007, Baird *et al.* 2008, Aschettino *et al.* 2012, Martien *et al.* 2012, Oremus *et al.* 2012, Baird *et al.* 2013).

Rough-toothed dolphins (*Steno bredanensis*) have a worldwide tropical and subtropical distribution (Jefferson 2008). They are a medium-sized dolphin generally found in depths greater than 1,000 meters. Although considered a pelagic species, they are also found relatively close to shore where volcanic islands provide steep bathymetric slopes (Gannier & West 2005, Baird *et al.* 2008, Oremus *et al.* 2012). Around the main Hawaiian Islands (MHI) the highest concentration of encounters of rough-toothed dolphins is at depths around 3,000 meters (Baird *et al.* 2013). A previous photo-identification (photo-ID) study found evidence of local populations around the MHI (Kaua'i/Ni'ihau and the Island of Hawai'i) with low levels of interchange between populations (Baird *et al.* 2008). Differences in behavior and habitat use suggested movement between the islands was infrequent. Moreover, frequent within- and between-

year re-sightings around the Big Island of Hawai'i (from this point forward referred to as Hawai'i) indicated high site fidelity and low abundance (N<200; (Baird *et al.* 2008). Oremus *et al.* (2012) combined molecular markers and photo-ID to describe island communities of rough-toothed dolphins in the Leeward (Mo<sup>•</sup>orea/Tahiti) and Windward Islands (Ra<sup>•</sup>iatea/Huahine) in the Society Islands. They found high genetic differentiation between these islands and low haplotype diversity. Additional photo-ID studies of rough-toothed dolphins have been conducted in both the Pacific and Atlantic oceans, and indicate patterns of island fidelity. In Tutuila, American Samoa, a quarter of the individuals identified were sighted in multiple years (Johnston *et al.* 2008); around Utila, Honduras, in the Atlantic Ocean, over half of the individuals identified were sighted over multiple years (Kuczaj & Yeater 2007), and around the Canary Islands of Spain, high site fidelity and association patterns suggested a small resident population, with strong social bonds between individuals of different age classes and between mother/calf/juveniles (Mayr & Ritter 2005).

Rough-toothed dolphins exhibit some behaviors associated with highly organized social structure including care-giving behaviors, synchronized travel in close formations, cooperative foraging, provisioning of large prey to calves, and mass stranding events (Nitta 1991, Ferrero & Hodder 1993, Poole 1993, Nekoba-Dutertre *et al.* 1999, Pitman & Stinchcomb 2002, Gotz *et al.* 2006, NMFS 2008, Fulgencio de Moura *et al.* 2009). Recently, Oremus *et al.* (2012) found low genetic diversity and genetic differentiation within the Society Islands where these behaviors have been observed; suggesting social organization may play a role in rough-toothed dolphin population structure.

Here we present a comparative analysis of population structure in three tropical archipelagos of the Pacific. We employ a suite of genetic markers to investigate the population structure of rough-toothed dolphins among the Hawaiian Islands, French Polynesia's Society Islands, and the Samoan Islands (Upolo and Savai'i in Samoa and Tutuila in American Samoa). We test the hypothesis suggested by Baird *et al.* (2008) and Oremus *et al.* (2012) that rough-toothed dolphins exist in demographically independent, insular populations around oceanic islands with limited interchange or gene flow between islands. We interpret the observed genetic structure in relation to two hypotheses: if isolation by distance is the primary driver, we expect that populations within archipelagos will show significant genetic differentiation, and differentiation will increase with increasing geographic distance among islands within archipelagos and between archipelagos. If social structure is the primary driver, we expect differentiation could be driven by more episodic colonization and local genetic drift.

#### **3.3. MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### **3.3.1.** Tissue sample collection

Skin biopsy samples were collected from adult or subadult dolphins for genetic analyses during dedicated small boat surveys or from beach-cast individuals in the MHI (Kaua'i, O'ahu, Hawai'i, Figure 3.1b), the Northwestern Hawaiian Islands NWHI, Figure 3.1a large rectangle), the Society Islands (Mo'orea/Tahiti and Ra'iatea/Hu'ahine, from here forward referred to as Mo'orea and Ra'iatea respectively, Figure 3.1c), and the Samoan Islands (Figure 3.1d) including Samoa (Upolo and Savai'i) and American Samoa (Tutuila). Biopsy samples were either collected with a crossbow or a modified veterinary capture rifle (Krützen *et al.* 2002). Samples were stored first in 70% ethanol, followed by an -80°C freezer or stored directly in the freezer. Skin samples collected from individuals that stranded around the Hawaiian Islands and bycaught individuals around American Samoa were stored in DMSO at -20°C. Photo-identification was collected during biopsy sampling in the Society Islands and the Hawaiian Islands. For complete methodology and analysis of photo-identification see Baird *et al.* (2008) and Oremus *et al.* (2012).

#### 3.3.2. DNA extraction, quantification and sex identification

Total DNA was extracted using either a Qiagen DNeasy Blood and Tissue Kit or a standard phenol:chloroform extraction protocol (Sambrook *et al.* 1989), modified for small samples (Baker *et al.* 1994). DNA was quantified with pico-green fluorescence and normalized to 15 ng  $\mu$ l<sup>-1</sup>. Sex was identified for individual dolphins by the amplification of the male-specific Sry gene multiplexed with the ZFX gene (a positive control) as described in (Gilson *et al.* 1998).

## 3.3.3. mtDNA sequencing

An approximately 800 bp fragment of the mtDNA control region of the 5' end was amplified via polymerase chain reaction (PCR) with primers Dlp 1.5 and Dlp 8 (Dalebout *et al.* 1998, Dalebout *et al.* 2005). The reaction was carried out in a 10µl final volume using the protocol described in Oremus *et al.* (2007). Unincorporated primers were removed from the PCR product using shrimp alkaline phosphatase (SAP) and exonuclease I (Ex). Products were sequenced using the standard BigDye vs3.1 and CleanSeq was used to purify products before they were run on an ABI 3730 (Applied Biosystems) DNA automated sequencer. The sequences were aligned, manually edited, and haplotypes were identified using *Sequencher 5.0* (Gene Codes Co.). Following quality control guidelines of Morin *et al.* (2010), sequences with a *Phred* score of <30 were repeated (Ewing *et al.* 1998). Variable sites with a *Phred* score of <40 were visually confirmed. If a haplotype was represented by only one sample the identity of the haplotype was confirmed by re-sequencing in both directions. Three individuals from Kaua'i showed apparent heteroplasmy at the same variable site. These sites were treated as missing values for these samples in subsequent analyses.

## 3.3.4. Microsatellite genotyping

Samples were genotyped at 15 previously published microsatellite loci (Appendix Table III.1). Amplifications were carried out in a 10µl final volume reaction containing 1x Perkin-Elmer reaction buffer, 1.5-4.0 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.4 µM of each primer (when fluorescent labels were pre-labeled), 0.2mM deoxynucleotide triphosphate (dNTPs), 0.25 to 0.5 U Platinum *Taq* DNA Polymerase and approximately 5ng of DNA template. Fluorescent labels were attached when loci were not labeled via an M13 tail during amplification, changing the forward primer concentration to 0.04 µM, keeping the reverse primer concentration of 0.4 µM and adding an M-13 label concentration of 0.4 µM (Schuelke 2000). The PCR thermocycle profile was 93°C for 2 minutes followed by 15 cycles of 92°C for 30 seconds, annealing temperature (T<sub>A</sub>) for 45 seconds and 72°C for

50 seconds. This was followed by an additional 20 cycles of 92°C for 30 seconds,  $T_A$  for 45 seconds and 72°C for 50 seconds and completed with a 3 minute extension at 72°C for all loci except Sgui3, Sgui17 and GT6, which followed the protocol described in the original paper, and KW12, which used the profile described in Martien *et al.* (2012). Differences in annealing temperatures and concentrations of MgCl<sub>2</sub>, and *Taq*, for each locus are outlined in Appendix Table III.1.

PCR products were coloaded in sets of non-overlapping loci and analyzed on a 3730 sequencer (Applied Biosystems) with formamide and 500 LIZ size standard ladder (Applied Biosystems). Following quality control guidelines (Morin *et al.* 2010b), four internal control samples were run to compare sizes across trays, a subset of randomly selected samples (5%) were repeated for all loci. Allele binning was manually checked before scoring loci. Samples with fewer than 10 of 15 loci were excluded from further analysis. An independent, experienced genotyper within the lab reviewed a subset of samples and loci. *MICROCHECKER* was used to investigate the presence of null alleles, dropout and stutter that may result from errors in allele binning (Van Oosterhout *et al.* 2006). Null alleles and dropout were confirmed using the program Dropout (McKelvey & Schwartz 2005). The program *GENEPOP v.3.4* (Raymond & Rousset 1995) was used to evaluate heterozygote deficiency, expected heterozygosity, the significance of deviation from Hardy-Weinberg Equilibrium (HWE) expectations, and test the independence of loci using linkage-disequilibrium analysis.

The program *CERVUS v3.0* (Kalinowski *et al.* 2007) was used to identify replicate samples and calculate the probability of identity ( $P_{ID}$ ), or chance that a pair of randomly selected individuals will have matching genotypes. To avoid false exclusion due to potential dropout and genotyping errors (Waits *et al.* 2001), we initially used a relaxed criterion that allowed for mismatches at up to four loci. The electropherograms of the mismatching loci were then reviewed and either corrected based on visual inspection or repeated for confirmation. We required a minimum overlap of 11 matching loci to accept samples as being replicates from the same individual. A per-allele error rate was calculated from replicate genotypes identified with the initial relaxed matching and subsequent review of near matches (Pompanon *et al.* 2005), as well as the random samples that were rerun in the quality control process. Identified replicate samples were validated with photo-ID, mtDNA haplotype assignment and sex identification whenever possible.

## 3.3.5. mtDNA diversity and differentiation

Haplotype (*h*) and nucleotide ( $\pi$ ) diversity for each island group and for all samples grouped by archipelago were calculated in *Arlequin v3.5* (Excoffier & Lischer 2010). A median-joining network of the unique haplotypes was constructed using *HapStar* (Teacher & Griffiths 2011). This construction begins by combining the minimumspanning tree results available from the output file in *Arlequin* to construct a network relating the haplotypes (Figure 3.2). Population differentiation was assessed in *Arlequin* with global tests followed by pairwise comparisons between ocean basins and between all pairs of island populations. The  $F_{ST}$  analogue  $\Phi_{ST}$ , which accounts for the mutation process, was also calculated to determine the nucleotide diversity. *PERMUT* was used to test for the contribution of mutational divergence of haplotypes by comparing the difference between  $F_{ST}$  and  $\Phi_{ST}$ (Petit 2010). To test for significant differences in haplotype diversity between geographic areas in the North Pacific (NWHI, Kaua'i, O'ahu, Hawai'i) and the South Pacific (Mo'orea, Ra'iatea and Samoan Islands), we used a permutation procedure scripted in *R*, (script available from A. Alexander GitHub). For this, random differences in haplotype diversity were calculated from 1,000 permutations and compared to the observed difference.

A hierarchical AMOVA procedure calculated standard variance components, and several haplotypic correlation measures were tested using a random permutation procedure in Arlequin (Excoffier *et al.* 1992). To conduct the hierarchical analyses, the seven populations (Figure 3.1, Table 3.1) were nested within two ocean basins, i.e. Hawaiian Islands populations in the North Pacific and Society and Samoan Islands populations in the South Pacific. Some levels could not be tested due to limited degrees of freedom.

## 3.3.6. Microsatellite diversity and differentiation

Observed and expected heterozygosities were calculated with *CERVUS v3.0*, and allelic richness with *FSTAT v2.9.3* (Goudet 2001). Regional differentiation in microsatellite

allele frequencies and the microsatellite specific analogue,  $F_{ST}$ , was estimated using *GenAlEx v6.5* (Peakall & Smouse 2012) with 10,000 permutations to assess significance. G"<sub>ST</sub>, an analogue of  $F_{ST}$  that adjusts for the diversity of microsatellites, small sample size and small numbers of populations (Meirmans & Hedrick 2011), was calculated in *Genodive v2* (Meirmans & Van Tienderen 2004). An hierarchical AMOVA analysis between ocean basins and among populations within ocean basins described above was calculated using microsatellites ( $F_{ST}$  only) in HierFSTAT implemented through *R* (Goudet 2005) to examine the distribution of variation and differential connectivity between ocean basins. To identify possible kin sampled together we used the program *ML-RELATE* (Kalinowski *et al.* 2006) and tested each population separately. This program calculates the log-likelihood of four possible relations between individuals (unrelated, half-sibling, full-sibling and parent/offspring). We considered close kin to be three of the four (i.e. all but 'unrelated').

Population structure was also evaluated with a Bayesian clustering approach implemented in *STRUCTURE v2.3.1*. (Pritchard *et al.* 2000). For all *STRUCTURE* analyses six independent runs (iterations) were performed for each k (number of clusters). We used a burn-in of 100,000 and a run length of 1,000,000 with all other parameters left as program defaults. We used *STRUCTURE* to cluster the dataset into K=1-7 populations, with no prior information on sampling location, using an admixture model and correlated allele frequencies. We compared estimates of likelihood across runs to confirm convergence. The results were processed in *STRUCTURE HARVESTER v0.6.93* (Earl & vonHoldt 2012), and evaluated for different values of K. To determine the most robust delineation of populations we evaluated where the ad hoc statistic,  $\Delta K$  (Evanno *et al.* 2005), which estimates the rate of change in the log probability of data between successive K values. For comparison, this was then evaluated against the rate of change of the likelihood distribution (mean) calculated as L'(K). The value of K is detected when there is a sharp drop in the likelihood value or a peak in  $\Delta K$ .

#### 3.3.7. Sex-biased dispersal

Sex-biased dispersal was assessed between each island as well as among islands in an archipelago using the microsatellite dataset in *FSTAT v2.9.3* (Goudet *et al.* 2002, Goudet 2005). Sex-specific  $F_{ST}$ , inbreeding coefficient,  $F_{IS}$ , mean assignment index (mAIc) and variance of mean corrected assignment index (vAIc) based on microsatellite genotypes were performed using two-tailed tests and 10,000 permutations of the resampling procedure. The dispersing sex is expected for have a lower  $F_{ST}$  value, but higher variance. For mtDNA, sex-specific  $F_{ST}$  values were calculated by coding the haplotypes as homozygotes and comparing the sexes for significant differences using the resampling procedure in *FSTAT* see Oremus *et al.* (2007).

#### **3.3.8.** Isolation by distance

Mantel tests were implemented in *GenAlEx* to assess the relationship between genetic differentiation and geographic distance. To generate the matrix for geographic distance we used the geographic coordinates of sample locations to measure the distance between

islands and archipelagos. To generate the matrix for genetic differentiation, pairwise  $F_{ST}$  values were used for both mtDNA and microsatellite data (Table 3.2).

## **3.4. RESULTS**

## 3.4.1. Genotype matching and sex ratios

Skin samples of rough-toothed dolphins were collected between 2000-2012 in the main Hawaiian Islands, the NWHI, the Society Islands and the Samoan Islands. Of the 296 total samples chosen for the initial analysis, 271 met the quality control threshold by genotyping at a minimum of 10 loci of the 15 attempted (Table 1). The microsatellite loci were found to be moderately variable ranging from 3 to 14 alleles per locus (Appendix Table III.1; Appendix Table III.1). The program MICRO-CHECKER (Van Oosterhout et al. 2004) found little evidence of large-allele dropout or error due to stutter. We calculated an error rate of 2.5% per allele, most of which was due to a sizing adjustment for primers with and without an M-13 extensions for labeling (Pompanon et al. 2005). The relaxed matching allowed us to detect and correct much of this error. No loci showed evidence of linkage disequilibrium. There were three instances where loci deviated significantly from HWE; two for Kaua'i (GT39 and MK9) and one for Hawai'i (MK9). Results were not sensitive to the inclusion of these loci, so they were retained. Using a minimum of 10 loci for each sample, the probability that two unrelated individuals share a similar genotype was very low ( $P_{ID} = 1.4 \times 10^{-15}$ ). From the initial relaxed matching and review of near-matches, four samples were found to have identical genotype profiles, and

also matched at haplotype and sex. All of these matches were within-island samples. These within-island matches were considered to be replicates and were removed from the dataset.

#### **3.4.2. mtDNA diversity and differentiation**

After removing four replicates, there were 274 individuals with high quality sequences for mtDNA analysis. Using 450 base pairs of the mtDNA control region we identified 30 variable sites to resolve 23 haplotypes. Of the 23 haplotypes, six were previously described from the Society Islands or Samoa (five by Oremus et al. 2012 and one by (Olavarria et al. 2004). The 17 new haplotypes were submitted to GenBank (Accession numbers xx-xxx), and regional haplotype frequencies were submitted to Dryad Digital Repository (http:xxxx). Six of the 17 new haplotypes (N, A, J, N, S, T, W) were unique to one island (Figure 3.2). Three of the four most common haplotypes (E, H and U) were shared with at least two other islands and between archipelagos in low frequencies (Figure 3.2). Interestingly, the most common haplotype at Mo'orea (haplotype O) was not found in nearby Ra'iatea. In fact, there were no shared haplotypes between Mo'orea and Ra'iatea (a distance of 190 km) compared to four shared haplotypes between Kaua'i and Hawai'i (a distance of 470 km). However, it should be noted that the sampling in the Hawaiian Islands has been much more extensive. Haplotype and nucleotide diversity were greatest in the Hawaiian archipelago followed by the Society Islands, with the lowest in the Samoan archipelago (Table 1). When the populations were compared separately, NWHI had the highest haplotype diversity, followed by Kaua'i, O'ahu,

Hawai'i, Mo'orea, Ra'iatea and Samoa (Table 1). Using the permutation test in R we found haplotype diversity differed significantly between the North Pacific (Hawaiian Islands) and the South Pacific (Society Islands and Samoan Islands), as well as between all populations except NWHI and O'ahu (P values given in Appendix Table III.3 and III.4). Haplotype diversity was higher in the Hawaiian Islands than the other archipelagos.

The haplotype network showed no obvious phylogeographic structure for the central North and South Pacific Oceans (Figure 3.2). There is little geographic concordance for any archipelago. The NWHI haplotypes are widely distributed over the network. The network results agree with Oremus et al. (2012) where Society Island haplotypes were grouped in two different areas when compared to other haplotypes of the Pacific Ocean. The Society Island haplotypes have several steps between them with one exception (haplotype O and P), which represent a large portion of the sampled individuals in Mo'orea. Although these haplotypes represent a high frequency for Mo'orea, they were absent from other islands in the South Pacific, yet haplotype P was found in low frequencies for the NWHI and O'ahu. A haplotype found in the Society Islands and Samoa (haplotype V) is found throughout the Pacific (i.e. Japan, Taiwan, Eastern Tropical Pacific, see Chapter 2). The Samoan Islands shared haplotypes with both the Hawaiian and Society Islands, but did not have any private haplotypes. There were several private haplotypes in other areas, four in Hawai'i and four in Mo'orea. However, only one of these haplotypes (haplotype O at Mo'orea) was found in high frequencies (71%).

As reflected in the network, there were marked differences in haplotype frequencies among the three archipelagos (global  $F_{ST} = 0.334$ , p-value < 0.001). Pairwise tests of differentiation showed highly significant pairwise differences between all islands except among NWHI, O'ahu and Kaua'i (Table 3.2). Significant differentiation was also found between archipelagos. The differences, however, were not necessarily greater between islands in different archipelagos than between islands within an archipelago, despite the large geographic distance between archipelagos.  $F_{ST}$  and  $\Phi_{ST}$  values were similar and no significant differences between the two indices were found using *PERMUT* (Table 3.2). When the populations were pooled into the archipelagos, significant genetic differentiation was found for all pairwise comparisons for both mtDNA and microsatellites (Table 3.3).

The hierarchical AMOVA showed only 5.2% of the haplotype diversity was explained by the ocean basin level while 29.4% was explained by populations within ocean basins (Table 3.4). The permutation procedure showed the partitioning of variance among populations ( $F_{ST} = 0.346$ ) and among populations within ocean basins ( $F_{CT} = 0.310$ ) were highly significant. Limitations on the degrees of freedom at the ocean basin level of our analysis prevented a test of this variance, but a non-hierarchical analysis where populations were pooled by archipelago and ocean basin showed this was significant ( $F_{ST} = 0.299$ , p<0.001).

#### 3.4.3. Microsatellite diversity and differentiation

For microsatellite data, levels of diversity were similar for each island with an average observed heterozygosity of 0.651 (Table 3.1). Summaries for diversity for each marker are presented in Appendix Table III.1. Significant genetic differentiation was found globally ( $F_{ST} = 0.043$ , p-value < 0.01) and between all island pairs (albeit lower overall values than mtDNA data) with the exception of the NWHI, Kaua'i and O'ahu (Table 3.2), as well as between archipelagos when populations were pooled (Table 3.3). In the hierarchical AMOVA, the total explained differentiation was 7.6% of which 2.6% was due to between-ocean basin differentiation and 5.0% was due to among-populations differentiation (Table 3.5).

Shared alleles between some individuals suggested close kinship in the sample. The program *ML-RELATE* identified possible kin (nine in Society Islands and four in the Hawaiian Islands). Although we consider kin sampled in the same group a reflection of the true population structure of dolphins (see Chapter 4), we wanted to confirm that sampling was unbiased (i.e. we didn't specifically sample related individuals). Consequently, we excluded these individuals and reran the population level analyses. The exclusion of these individuals did not change the results, and all individuals were retained in the dataset.

When all samples were included with no prior information on sampling location in the *STRUCTURE* analysis, the model with the highest log-likelihood was K=2. A graphical

representation of membership showed clear delineation for the North Pacific's Hawaiian Islands, and the South Pacific's Society Islands (Figure 3.3). However, the Samoan Islands had five individuals that clustered with North Pacific samples (Figure 3.3a). These individuals were sampled during the same encounter about 10km offshore from the island of Tutuila, American Samoa. Two of those individuals have haplotypes that are found in high frequencies in Hawai'i and low frequencies in Kaua'i and NWHI (haplotype H). One individual has haplotype M, found in low frequencies only in Hawai'i. The other two have a haplotype found in all archipelagos (haplotype E), but most common in the South Pacific. All other Samoa samples clustered with South Pacific individuals, possessed haplotype E, and were collected within 2km of shore. When only Kaua'i and Hawai'i were assessed in STRUCTURE without prior information of sampling location, and excluding the NWHI and O'ahu, the highest likelihood was K = 2. Individuals were occasionally counter-assigned (Figure 3.3b). The cluster within Kaua'i that looked to have ancestry or identity from Hawai'i (illustrated with the arrows, Figure 3.3b) was made up of dolphins that were sampled together in one encounter. However, these individuals had been sighted in Kaua'i previously, and did assign back to the main cluster in Kaua'i in the photo-ID social network (R. Baird unpublished).

#### 3.4.4. Sex-biased dispersal

There was no pattern of sex-biased dispersal identified among rough-toothed dolphins. Although mtDNA and microsatellite  $F_{ST}$  values were slightly higher for females, these differences were not significant between sexes (Table 3.6).

#### 3.4.5. Isolation by distance

Mantel tests of isolation by distance conducted using pairwise comparisons of islands showed no correlation between pairwise  $F_{ST}$  values (Appendix Table III.2) and increasing geographic distance between islands. Isolation by distance was not significant for either  $\Phi_{ST}$  or  $F_{ST}$  in the mtDNA data (R<sup>2</sup>=0.004, p=0.13; R<sup>2</sup>=0.018, p=0.08 respectively), or for the microsatellite data (R<sup>2</sup>=0.007, p=0.16). These results allowed us to reject Wright's stepping stone model as the best explanation of the genetic differentiation (i.e. genetic differentiation increases with increasing geographic distance).

#### **3.5. DISCUSSION**

Our results demonstrate a high degree of insular population structure for three archipelagos in the Central Pacific for rough-toothed dolphins despite the typically oceanic deep-water habitat of this species. These results support a growing body of evidence that otherwise pelagic species form isolated insular populations in areas with increased local productivity. Significant hierarchical partitioning of genetic variation was found between the North Pacific and South Pacific Ocean basins. We found significant genetic differentiation in both mtDNA and microsatellite analyses between all pairs of islands with the exception of the NWHI, Kaua'i and O'ahu. Our findings extend and support conclusions from less extensive previous genetic and photo-ID studies on roughtoothed dolphins around oceanic islands in both the Pacific (Baird *et al.* 2008, Johnston *et*  *al.* 2008, Oremus *et al.* 2012) and the Atlantic Oceans (Mayr & Ritter 2005, Kuczaj & Yeater 2007). Together with other studies, the pattern we observe is consistent with island colonization and occasional ongoing gene flow with pelagic populations.

#### **3.5.1.** Gene flow throughout the Central Pacific

The significant genetic differentiation between islands within archipelagos and the low genetic diversity are similar to other dolphin populations that are considered insular (Oremus *et al.* 2007, Andrews *et al.* 2010, Martien *et al.* 2012, Courbis *et al.* 2014). However, our results suggest that the genetic differentiation is most likely evidence of genetic drift. Although the genetic and photo-ID data support the existence of demographically independent populations around Kaua'i and Hawai'i, between Mo'orea and Ra'iatea in the Society Islands, and the Samoan Islands, these populations could still experience low levels of gene flow from conspecifics throughout the Pacific Ocean. We found no evidence of isolation by distance, with  $F_{ST}$  values between archipelagos similar to values within archipelagos.

The pattern we observed with rough-toothed dolphins among the archipelagos in this study is consistent with a larger-scale study of common bottlenose dolphin *(Tursiops truncatus)* population structure in the Central Pacific. For this species populations were also connected by low levels of gene flow across large distances, either through occasional long-distance dispersal or gene flow with pelagic populations (Tezanos-Pinto *et al.* 2008). The shared haplotypes in our study among all three archipelagos (n=1) and

between ocean basins (n=4) indicate a genetic connection between the northern and southern hemispheres or a recent isolation. Moreover, the haplotypes that are found in both hemispheres were also found in Japan, Taiwan and the Eastern Tropical Pacific. However, it is not clear if this represents current or historic gene flow. As suggested by Andrews *et al.* (2010) for spinner dolphins *Stenella longirostris*, such shared haplotypes may be remnant haplotypes from an ancestral population that colonized all three archipelagos, or they may have originated after colonization from a pelagic population that has occasional gene flow with the insular populations. Similarly, the large number of undetected intermediate haplotypes shown in the network between Kaua'i and Hawai'i could be the result of unsampled "offshore" pelagic populations that have occasional influxes of gene flow into the insular populations or the result of an occasional long distance migration from another insular population.

#### 3.5.2. Local productivity and population structure

In the MHI the island mass effect is responsible for the highly productive areas directly surrounding each island where runoff provides enhanced productivity nearshore, but then drops off sharply. This phenomenon creates a pattern of strong population differentiation between islands for many insular species spanning trophic levels from limpets to dolphins (Polovina *et al.* 1994, Bird *et al.* 2007, Martien *et al.* 2012). The island of Hawai'i has additional oceanographic mechanisms of isolation. The tall mountains on Maui (Haleakalā) and Hawai'i (Mauna Kea) funnel the wind between them creating an exceptionally strong current and one of the most treacherous channels in the world.

Moreover, the area around 4-islands area of Maui, Molokai, Lanea and Kaho'olawe (the neighboring islands to Hawai'i) is surrounded by relatively shallow water, which could act as a barrier for deep-water species. Indeed, Baird *et al.* (2008) noted sightings of rough-toothed dolphins in this area have been rare (Baird *et al.* 2008, Baird *et al.* 2013). In addition, the leeward side is an active area of eddy generation, and these productive areas have been linked to the frequent occurrence of large mesopelagic predators (Holland & Mitchum 2001, Seki *et al.* 2001) making the need to travel to other islands for foraging unnecessary.

In contrast, the NWHI experience a mixing zone known as the Transition Zone Chlorophyll Front resulting in much higher average productivity in offshore waters (Schmelzer 2000). This reduces the habitat differences between nearshore and offshore waters in that part of the archipelago. Although there are several islands in the NWHI, each island is much smaller than the islands in the MHI. Lacking the large mass and tall mountains, the island mass effect and offshore eddies are not as prevalent in the NWHI, and the productivity here is substantially less (Bowen *et al.* 2013). It has been hypothesized that less productive areas require larger habitat ranges for efficient foraging due to unpredictability of prey (Silva *et al.* 2008). Spinner dolphins in the NWHI were found to have lower levels of genetic differentiation and higher group stability, which the authors attributed to a lower density of prey (Andrews *et al.* 2010). False killer whales in the NWHI showed lower levels of population structure than in the MHI, and this was also attributed to lower productivity in the NWHI (Martien *et al.* 2014). No significant differentiation among Kaua'i, O'ahu and the NWHI in our study suggests some level of gene flow between these islands. Telemetry data of NWHI false killer whales indicates the population ranges from the NWHI to Kaua'i (Baird *et al.* 2013). For rough-toothed dolphins, Baird *et al.* (2008) found lower site fidelity around Kaua'i and suggested a larger home range as an explanation. Rough-toothed dolphins in the NWHI may be required to travel longer distances for sufficient foraging, thus causing their home range to overlap periodically with those in the MHI, and subsequently, occasional gene flow would occur between these areas. However, more samples from the NWHI as well as information on habitat use are needed to confirm this.

In the Society Islands and the MHI, rough-toothed dolphins are most commonly found in depths greater than 1,000 meters (Gannier 2000, Gannier & West 2005, Baird *et al.* 2008, Oremus *et al.* 2012, Baird *et al.* 2013). Due to the steep slope of these oceanic islands, the distance from shore at these depths is generally within a few kilometers. Similar to the MHI, the Society Islands experience increased productivity nearshore and a drop in productivity as the distance from shore increases (Longhurst 1999, Mannocci *et al.* 2014). So it is not surprising that our study and Oremus *et al.* (2012) found genetic differentiation between the islands of Mo'orea and Ra'iatea in the Society Islands. However, rough-toothed dolphins have also been observed tens of kilometers offshore from the Society Islands (Nekoba-Dutertre *et al.* 1999, Gannier 2000, Mannocci *et al.* 2014). It is possible that the individuals observed were part of a larger, pelagic population. If so, and these individuals provided occasional gene flow between the Leeward (Raiatea) and Windward islands (Mo'orea /Tahiti) we would expect the levels of differentiation between the two islands would be lower. Additional sampling

throughout the Society Islands would help to determine if there are separate offshore populations, or if those dolphins sighted were part of a nomadic population. The possibility of offshore populations was also apparent with Samoas samples. The *STRUCTURE* analysis identified a few individuals from Samoa as 'Hawaiian'. The field notes showed these individuals were sampled further offshore as part of a large vessel survey (SWFSC Pers. Comm.). This could be a difference in nearshore vs offshore dolphins around Samoa or evidence of long-distance dispersal.

## 3.5.3. Social organization and foraging differences

Genetic drift, and not isolation by distance, appears to be the mechanism driving the insular communities of rough-toothed dolphins. Our results showed no clear correlation between geographic distance and genetic differentiation among the islands or archipelagos. This suggests independent colonization events, followed by rapid drift in small populations. Prey specialization and social organization would presumably only enhance this through cultural adaptation supported by fidelity to social groups. Socially-defined population structure has the general effect of increasing the importance of genetic drift relative to other evolutionary forces (Storz 1999). Differences in specializations such as foraging strategies and habitat use have been suggested as causes for genetic differentiation of populations observed in coastal bottlenose dolphins (Moller 2012), as well as pelagic species such as killer whales *Orcinus orca*, (Hoelzel *et al.* 2007, Pilot *et al.* 2010), false killer whales *Pseudorca crassidens* (Martien *et al.* 2014) and striped dolphins *Stenella coeruleoalba*, (Gaspari *et al.* 2007). Rough-toothed dolphins exhibit

characteristics such as care giving and cooperative foraging common in other delphinids with a highly organized social structure and cultural specialization (Lodi 1992, Pitman & Stinchcomb 2002, Fulgencio de Moura *et al.* 2009). To date, however, there is no evidence available to assess whether there are differences in foraging specialization at any of the islands. Further studies on foraging, diving patterns and habitat use could help determine the extent of social organization drives specialization and influences genetic isolation in rough-toothed dolphins.

## **3.5.4.** Conservation Implications

This comparative study of rough-toothed dolphins in the central Pacific provides evidence of insular populations of dolphins in three archipelagos. The presence of islandassociated populations in pelagic species has important conservation implications due to concentrated human impacts near shore. Fishing depredation by rough-toothed dolphins is increasing in the main Hawaiian Islands and the Society Islands (Poole 1993, Baird *et al.* 2008). Around Hawai'i, rough-toothed dolphins steal fish off lines in local fisheries and it has been reported that fishermen shoot dolphins as a method of deterrent (Kuljis 1983, Nitta & Henderson 1993). Although there has been no confirmed documentation of shootings by fishermen in the Society Islands, reports from local fishermen at Moorea and Tahiti indicate negative interactions are increasing between rough-toothed dolphins and local fisheries and that some fishermen have resorted to shooting dolphins (Poole unpublished). In the Samoan archipelago there were two bycatch incidences (2011 and 2012), and evidence of entanglement from a beach cast animal in 2010 (J. Ward pers. comm). These examples provide evidence that insular rough-toothed dolphins are likely to be more vulnerable to anthropogenic impacts than their pelagic conspecifics.

#### **3.6.** Acknowledgements

We express our sincere gratitude to Kelly Robertson for overseeing and coordinating the database and extractions of samples archived at SWFSC. We thank Ellen Garland, Ursula Gonzalez, Daniel Webster, Jessica Aschettino, Greg Schorr, James Sumich, and Pamela Carzon for field assistance; Debbie Steel, Rebecca Hamner and Alana Alexander for help with laboratory analyses; Carlos Olavarría for providing samples from Samoa, and Pacific Islands Fisheries Science Center as well as Jamie Marchetti from the NMFS Pacific islands Regional Office for samples from American Samoa. Cascadia Research Collective collected the Main Hawaiian Islands samples. Research was conducted under permits from the Ministry of the Environment of the French Polynesia government (issued to M.M. Poole) and NMFS Scientific Research 774 (issued to SWFSC). The Oregon State University's Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee approved a protocol for collection of biopsy samples. Southwest Fisheries Science Center Marine Mammal Genetics Group and the Pacific Islands Grant provided funding for the archiving and extracting of samples from the Hawaiian Islands and American Samoa. National Marine Fisheries Service, U.S. Navy (N45, Office of Naval Research, Pacific Fleet), and Wild Whale Research Foundation provided funding for the main Hawaiian Islands fieldwork. New Zealand Marsden Fund, Pew Environmental Trust and the Mamie Markham Research Award provided funding for fieldwork in French Polynesia and Samoa, with additional funding for fieldwork in French Polynesia, provided by the

Ministry of the Environment of French Polynesia, Dolphin and Whale Watching Expeditions and the Earhart Foundation. C.S. Baker was supported by a Pew Marine Conservation Fellowship for a study of "A Pattern of Dolphins" (aPOD) in the Pacific.



a) Pacific Ocean



## b) Hawaiian Islands

Figure. 3.1: Sampling locations (with enlargements) for rough-toothed dolphins, showing frequencies of mtDNA haplotypes. Pie charts reflect mtDNA haplotype frequencies for each island(s). (a) Pacific Ocean map showing locations where samples were collected. The large box for the Hawaiian Islands includes the Northwest Hawaiian Islands. The smaller box includes the main Hawaiian Islands only (b) Hawaiian Islands (c) Society Islands (d) Samoan archipelago.



c) Society Islands of French Polynesia



## d) Samoan Islands

Figure. 3.1: Sampling locations (with enlargements) for rough-toothed dolphins, showing frequencies of mtDNA haplotypes. Pie charts reflect mtDNA haplotype frequencies for each island(s). (a) Pacific Ocean map showing locations where samples were collected. The large box for the Hawaiian Islands includes the Northwest Hawaiian Islands. The smaller box includes the main Hawaiian Islands only (b) Hawaiian Islands (c) Society Islands (d) Samoan archipelago.



Figure. 3.2: Median-joining network of mtDNA control region 450 bp haplotypes found in rough-toothed dolphins from the Pacific Ocean. Each circle represents a unique haplotype and each line connecting the haplotypes indicates a single base pair change. Small black dashed lines represent an additional substitution. The size of each circle is proportional to the sample size, and each is colored according to the region(s) where the haplotype was sampled.



b)

Figure. 3.3: Graphical representation of the results of the STRUCTURE analysis for the a) archipelagos where the most probable model was k=2 and a prior was used for sampling location. b) Island populations of Hawai'i and Kaua'i where the most probable model was k=2 and no prior was used for sampling location. Each vertical bar represents an individual. Bars are shaded as to the proportion of the individual's ancestry that is attributable to groups one (blue) and two (red) as defined by STRUCTURE. Arrows point to individuals who did not assign correctly that were sampled together during an encounter.

Table 3.1: Oceanic and island samples sizes (n) for mtDNA in the Hawaiian, Society and Samoan Islands. For mtDNA, number of haplotypes (k), haplotype diversity (h) and nucleotide diversity (in %,  $\pi$ ) presented, with standard deviations calculated in *Arlequin*. For microsatellites numbers of individuals are given by sex (F, M) and total sample size (n), K is the mean number of alleles per locus across 15 loci.

				mtDNA					Micro	satellites		
	Geographic area	п	k	h (s.d.)	$\pi$ % (s.d.)	F	М	п	K	Allelic Richness	$H_O$	$F_{IS}$
	NWHI	18	10	0.912 (0.059)	1.64(0.93)	8	6	14	12.5	4.3	0.836	0.010
ific	Kaua'i	96	9	0.798 (0.0168)	1.39(0.75)	58	43	101	8.75	3.7	0.855	-0.068
th Pac	Oʻahu	10	4	0.711 (0.086)	1.38(0.81)	7	3	10	7.3	4.4	0.735	0.079
Nor	Hawaiʻi	57	9	0.623 (0.046)	1.13(0.62)	36	19	55	7.61	4.6	0.802	0.096
	Hawaiian Islands Total	181	18	0.880 (0.0093)	1.61(0.85)	109	71	180	9.04	4.3	0.810	0.065
0	Moʻorea	55	5	0.409 (0.081)	0.501(0.31)	29	24	55	7.65	4.9	0.691	0.045
Pacifi	Ra'iatea	20	3	0.189 (0.108)	0.42(0.06)	14	3	17	4.37	3.9	0.723	-0.004
South	Society Islands Total	75	8	0.477 (0.093)	0.510(0.19)	43	27	72	6.01	4.5	0.711	0.012
	Samoan Islands Total	18	4	0.350 (0.148)	0.451(0.30)	12	5	18	4.31	3.8	0.678	-0.001
	Total all Islands	274	23	0.665	1.12(0.43)	166	105	271	5.81	4.01	0.685	0.057

Table 3.2: Pairwise  $F_{ST}$  values for mtDNA and microsatellites between seven populations in the Hawaiian, Society and Samoan Islands for 15 microsatellite loci above diagonal and mtDNA control region below diagonal.  $\Phi_{ST}$  and  $G''_{ST}$  values in Appendix Table III.2. Statistically significant  $F_{ST}$  values are bolded and italicized, with \* significant at p < 0.05; \*\* significant at p < 0.001.

	n mtDNA	Kaua'i	NWHI	Oʻahu	Hawai'i	<b>Mo'orea</b>	Ra'iatea	Samoan Islands
<i>n</i> microsatellite		101	14	10	55	55	17	18
Kaua'i	96		0.023	0.013	0.035**	0.039**	0.077**	0.057**
NWHI	18	0.002		0.015	0.047**	0.062**	0.073**	0.041**
Oʻahu	10	0.044	0.012		0.094**	0.109**	0.100**	0.102**
Hawaiʻi	57	0.186**	0.142**	0.168**		0.058**	0.047**	0.021**
<b>Mo'orea</b>	55	0.350**	0.307**	<i>0.498</i> **	0.429**		0.079**	0.048**
Ra'iatea	20	0.393**	0.404**	0.511**	0.441**	0. <b>499</b> **		0.091**
Samoan Islands	18	0.301**	0.315**	0. <b>495</b> **	0.396**	0.410**	<i>0.334</i> **	

Table 3.3: Pairwise  $F_{ST}$  differentiation among the three archipelagos with islands pooled into the corresponding archipelago for 15 microsatellite loci above diagonal and mtDNA control region below diagonal with corresponding ( $\Phi_{ST}$  and  $G''_{ST}$  values). Statistically significant  $F_{ST}$ ,  $\Phi_{ST}$  and  $G''_{ST}$  values are bolded and italicized, with \* significant at p < 0.05; \*\* significant at p < 0.001.

	Hawaiian Islands	Society Islands	Samoan Islands	
Hawaiian Islands		0.035**	0.043**	
		(0.112**)	( <b>0.159</b> **)	
Society Islands	0.232**		0.087**	
	(0.182**)		(0.114**)	
Samoan Islands	0.258**	0.418**		
	(0.282**)	(0.338**)		

Table 3.4: Hierarchical AMOVA based on 450 bp of the mtDNA control region and microsatellites in the Pacific Ocean. Ocean basins delineates North Pacific and South Pacific; Populations represents the 7 populations from Fig. 1/Table 1. P-value estimates are based on 10,000 permutations across the full data set. df = Degrees of Freedom.

mtDNA hierarchical AMOVA		% of total		
Analysis	df	variation	<b>F-statistic</b>	<b>P-value</b>
Among Ocean basins	1	5.2%	CT=0.052	n.a.
AmongPopulations/	5	29.4%	SC= 0.310	0.001
Ocean basins				
Within Populations	271	65.4%	ST=0.346	0.001

Table 3.5: Hierarchical AMOVA based on 15 microsatellite loci in the Pacific Ocean. Ocean basins delineates North Pacific and South Pacific; Populations represents the 7 populations from Fig. 1/Table 1. df = Degrees of Freedom. P-value estimates are based on 10,000 permutations across the full data set.

	% of total		
df	variation	<b>F-statistic</b>	<b>P-value</b>
1	2.6%	CT= 0.028	n.a.
5	5.0%	SC =0.052	0.001
268	92.4%	ST = 0.076	0.001
	<b>df</b> 1 5 268	% of total   df variation   1 2.6%   5 5.0%   268 92.4%	% of total   df variation F-statistic   1 2.6% CT= 0.028   5 5.0% SC =0.052   268 92.4% ST= 0.076

Table 3.6: Two-tailed tests of sex-biased dispersal based on the comparison of sexspecific microsatellite (msat)  $F_{ST}$ , mtDNA  $F_{ST}$ , inbreeding coefficient ( $F_{IS}$ ), mean corrected assignment index (mAIc), and variance of corrected assignment index (vAIc). The mtDNA sample size (n) is indicated in parentheses if it differed from the microsatellite sample size.

	Female	Male	Р
North Pacific			
(4 populations)			
n	111	73 (70)	
F <sub>ST</sub> mstat	0.027	0.016	0.420
F <sub>ST</sub> mtDNA	0.137	0.109	0.222
F <sub>IS</sub>	0.051	0.090	0.240
mAIc	-0.088	0.057	0.320
vAIc	14.54	22.94	0.110
South Pacific			
(3 populations)			
n	55 (58)	32 (35)	
F <sub>ST</sub> mstat	0.084	0.070	0.434
F <sub>ST</sub> mtDNA	0.152	0.123	0.255
F <sub>IS</sub>	0.002	0.001	0.752
mAIc	0.498	-0.287	0.100
vAIc	17.03	10.32	0.192
Overall			
(7 populations)			
n	166 (170)	105(104)	
F <sub>ST</sub> mstat	0.050	0.044	0.615
F <sub>ST</sub> mtDNA	0.144	0.116	0.512
F <sub>IS</sub>	0.042	0.061	0.441
mAIc	0.103	-0.064	0.773
vAIc	15.42	18.53	0.412
# **4.**Are you my mother? A measure of matrilineal social organization in wild-ranging groups and mass strandings of rough-toothed dolphins (*Steno bredanensis*)

## 4.1. Abstract

Group structure has potential consequences for both evolutionary processes and conservation genetics as it can influence the rate at which genetic diversity is lost. Rough-toothed dolphins, *Steno bredanensis*, are reported to form stable social groups within isolated populations around some oceanic islands. Within these groups, roughtoothed dolphins exhibit cooperative foraging and care-giving behavior, including the sharing of large prey. Similar social characteristics are found in other delphinid species (e.g. killer whales), where social groups are comprised of maternally-related individuals forming "strict matrilines" as reflected by a single mitochondrial (mt) DNA haplotype. Here, we test the hypothesis that rough-toothed dolphins form "strict matrilines", by identifying maternal lineages in groups of rough-toothed dolphins in both the Pacific and Atlantic Oceans. We used mtDNA control region haplotypes as markers for maternal lineages and infer kinship within groups using 15 microsatellite markers. The collection includes 186 biopsy samples from 47 groups at sea and two fisheries by catch groups, as well as 26 teeth samples taken from six groups from either mass strandings or bycatch. The number of samples per group ranged from 2 to 90. Our results revealed multiple matrilines in 33 of the 55 groups, illustrated by multiple mtDNA haplotypes, including 29 from groups at sea, two from mass strandings and two from bycatch groups. Following the rejection of the hypothesis of 'strict matrilineal structure', we assessed how roughtoothed dolphins partition genetic diversity by assessing the level of matrilineality. We calculated a matrilineal index based on dyad relationships within groups. Our index indicated that rough-toothed dolphin groups display "weak matrilineality", with most

groups slightly more matrilineal than expected by chance, and some significant differences overall, when accounting for regional differences in haplotype frequencies. Fine-scale analyses of kinship of wild-ranging groups revealed relatedness on the order of no relation to first cousins (R = 0.007-0.146) with four groups showing significantly greater relatedness than expected by chance. Our results suggest stable groups of rough-toothed dolphins are not necessarily kin based or matrilineal. This study provides a unique insight into group structure and social kin associations of a little studied, pelagic species.

# 4.2 Introduction

Dolphins (Family Delphinidae) are one of the most highly social taxa among all mammals (Mann *et al.* 2000, Moller 2012). However, the extent of relatedness and stability of groups varies. In coastal waters, bottlenose dolphins *Tursiops truncatus*, show philopatry where females develop moderate social bonds with related females in small groups. In comparison, males form alliances that are generally not related, but are stable and cooperate in gaining access to females for mating (Moller *et al.* 2001, Krützen *et al.* 2004, Moller 2012). In general, pelagic dolphins are found in larger and more fluid groups than coastal dolphins. Oceanic bottlenose dolphins in the Northeast Atlantic maintain high levels of gene flow (Quérouil *et al.* 2007). This is thought to be related to resources being relatively sparse over a large area, forcing dolphins into larger home ranges and less stable associations (Gowans *et al.* 2007). In the Mediterranean however, striped dolphins *Stenella coeruleoalba*, display genetic structure and relatedness in groups, as shown by higher than average kinship for females within groups, and higher than average kinship for smaller rather than larger groups (Gaspari *et al.* 2007). Moreover, pelagic dolphins around oceanic islands are known to form small, but stable groups, with high site fidelity (Chivers *et al.* 2007, Baird *et al.* 2012). Larger delphinids, such as long finned pilot whales *Globicephala melas*, exhibit strong social bonds, but can be found in groups made up of multiple matrilines (Amos *et al.* 1993, Pilot *et al.* 2010, Oremus *et al.* 2013), while killer whales *Orcinus orca*, show philopatry of both sexes and live in strictly matrilineal societies their entire lives (Pilot *et al.* 2010, Foote *et al.* 2011a, Oremus *et al.* 2013).

Social structure has many important implications for both evolutionary processes and conservation genetics. Fine-scale population structure can be shaped by patterns of oceanographic processes, prey availability and social structure, including nonrandom mating and group associations. Social structure within populations suggests that mating is non- random, and therefore social organization can influence the rate at which genetic diversity is lost from natural populations (Archie *et al.* 2008) as well as impact processes of local adaptation (Storz 1999). The degree to which matrilineality or relatedness affects population structure can have important conservation implications. Species such as killer whales, sperm whales and elephants have stable groups that are maternally related. These groups are afforded more protection in many cases since social structure can restrict diversity, (Archie *et al.* 2008, Morin *et al.* 2010a) possibly affecting a population's ability to adapt to anthropogenic pressures. However, groups can also be stable without being related. Chimpanzee populations, for example, are composed of stable, cooperative groups that participate in similar behaviors, but these groups are not strictly matrilineal

(Goldberg & Wrangham 1997). Therefore, determining the degree of relatedness in populations can aid in prioritizing conservation measures.

Rough-toothed dolphins are a pelagic delphinid known to form small groups within insular populations around oceanic islands (Mayr & Ritter 2005, Baird *et al.* 2008, Oremus *et al.* 2012) and are the third most likely dolphin species to strand in the Atlantic Ocean (NOAA 2014). Rough-toothed dolphins show genetic differentiation between islands in the main Hawaiian Islands and the Society Islands of French Polynesia (Albertson *et al.* 2011, Oremus *et al.* 2012) suggesting habitat specialization. Within some of these island populations as well as others in the Caribbean and Canary Islands, photo-identification studies (photo-ID) have shown evidence of long-term associations (several years) between individuals (Ritter 2002, Kuczaj & Yeater 2007, Baird *et al.* 2008, Oremus *et al.* 2012). In the Caribbean, 12 individuals were resighted together on four different occasions (Kuczaj & Yeater 2007), suggesting stable group associations. According to previous studies in the Pacific Ocean, mean group size of rough-toothed dolphins generally ranges from 6-15 individuals (Oremus *et al.* 2012, Baird *et al.* 2008). A mean group size of 10 has been found in the Atlantic Ocean (West *et al.* 2011).

However, all groups are not stable. Although uncommon, "super groups" have been observed in the Pacific Ocean where groups contain at least 40, and up to 105 individuals (Baird *et al.* 2008). A maximum group size of 50 and 30 individuals has been reported in the Canary Islands (Ritter 2002) and the Caribbean (Kuczaj & Yeater 2007) respectively. The largest group recorded for rough-toothed dolphins of 160 was observed in the Mediterranean Sea (Watkins *et al.* 1987). This "super group" consisted of eight subgroups of about 20 dolphins each and included all age categories. Super groups have also been observed in the Pacific Ocean. Baird *et al.* (2008) reported super groups ranging in size from 65 to 90 individuals around the island of Kaua'i, O'ahu and the island of Hawai'i. On every occasion each super group was composed of smaller subgroups. This same super group/small subgroup pattern was also observed in large groups of long-finned pilot whales (Oremus *et al.* 2013).

Stability of groups is evident in strictly matrilineal species (e.g. killer whales). Roughtoothed dolphins also exhibit social characteristics similar to species that form long-term bonds with matrilineal social structure such as killer whales and pilot whales (Jefferson 2008, Foote et al. 2011a, Oremus et al. 2013). These characteristics include cooperative foraging, food provisioning, mass strandings and care-giving (epimeletic) behavior (Lodi 1992, Pitman & Stinchcomb 2002, Wells & Gannon 2005). Although mass strandings have been recorded for rough-toothed dolphins in the Pacific (Ferrero & Hodder 1993, Miyazaki & Perrin 1994, Wells & Gannon 2005, NMFS 2008), a majority of documented mass strandings have been in the North Atlantic (NMFS 2008, Wells & Gannon 2005). Although the causes of mass strandings are unknown, these events also provide evidence of strong social bonds among member of the groups. The degree of relatedness in roughtoothed dolphin mass strandings has not been investigated. However, three dolphins rescued from a mass stranding in Florida were observed to participate in food sharing and "intense communication". When released back into the wild, the dolphins stayed together for the duration of the satellite tags, 23 days; (Wells & Gannon 2005).

94

Here we evaluate the matrilineality and relatedness within rough-toothed dolphin groups to assess if stable group structure has a genetic component in this species. We use a collection of genetic samples from the Pacific and Atlantic Ocean basins representing 55 groups of biopsy samples from wild-ranging dolphins, tissue samples from bycatch and teeth samples from mass strandings and bycatch. The biopsy samples represent groups of dolphins that are a subset of samples in Chapter 3 where genetic diversity was partitioned geographically by islands, and groups are also delineated by island here. We consider that individuals with different haplotypes cannot be maternal relatives, while individuals with a shared haplotype will represent a common maternal lineage, including both close and distant maternal relatives (Weinrich *et al.* 2006). Due to the similarities in social characteristics between rough-toothed dolphins and strictly matrilineal species such as killer whales, we predict rough-toothed dolphins with the same mtDNA haplotype are more likely to associate in groups than expected by chance. Alternatively, we quantify the degree of matrilineality of groups with multiple matrilines.

We acknowledge our scope is limited by two main challenges associated with sampling pelagic dolphin species (1) accounting for regional differentiation of mtDNA haplotypes and (2) accounting for incomplete sampling of most groups. However, we address these challenges by using dyad combinations of the number of haplotypes within groups to create a matrilineal index. This matrilineal index is then tested using a Monte Carlo simulation based on the observed haplotype frequencies of the island population where the groups were sampled. This helps to prevent confounding social structure of groups

with the regional population structure. Finally, we tested the hypothesis that adult group members are more related (kinship) than expected. Similar to the study on striped dolphins by Gaspari *et al.* (2007), we predict greater levels of relatedness in smaller groups than in larger groups, and that larger groups are made up of smaller subgroups of related individuals, similar to killer whale and pilot whale groups (Pilot *et al.* 2010, Foote *et al.* 2011a).

# 4.3 Methods

## 4.3.1. Tissue sample collection, region delineation and definition of groups

Skin samples were collected from adult or sub-adult rough-toothed dolphins at sea (n=214) in 47 different groups in the main Hawaiian Islands (Kaua'i, O'ahu, and the Big Island of Hawai`i, termed Hawai'i from this point forward), the Society Islands of French Polynesia (Mo'orea and Raiatea) and Samoan archipelago (Figure 4.1). In the Hawaiian Islands and American Samoa biopsy samples were collected using a crossbow and biopsy arrow (Lambertsen 1987) and stored either as tissue at -80°C or first place in 70% ethanol in the field and then stored at -80°C. In the Society Islands and Samoa (Island of Savaii), biopsy samples were collected using a display dart (Krützen *et al.* 2002) and stored in 70% ethanol at -80°C.

Samples were also collected from groups in either fisheries related mortality ('bycatch') or mass strandings (8 groups, Figure 4.1a and 4.1d). Skin samples collected from fishery bycatch individuals around American Samoa and a stranding around the Gulf Coast of Florida, USA were stored in DMSO at -80°C. Teeth samples (courtesy of the

Smithsonian Institution) were collected from individuals that mass stranded near Maui in the main Hawaiian Islands, and off the central US coast of the Atlantic Ocean. Teeth samples were also collected from bycatch groups in the Eastern Pacific near Mexico and Isla Gorgona, Colombia (Figure 4a).

Groups at sea were identified as assembled individuals that appear to be involved in a similar activity, for example foraging, socializing, resting or travelling, (Shane *et al.* 1986). Here, the spatial scale used to define groups had a mean area of 500m x 800m, however two groups in the Hawaiian Islands occupied a larger area, with a group envelope of up to 1,000m x 1,200m and another group occupying 1,500m x 2,000m during the encounter. Group size was estimated by two or more researchers in the field, and the average estimate of the two was recorded. Therefore group size was considered an absolute value with no variance. Events where dolphins were caught in the same net/fishing operation or identified in a mass strandings were considered to be a part of the same group for analyses.

## 4.3.2. DNA Extraction and molecular sexing of tissue samples

Total DNA was extracted either using a Qiagen DNeasy Blood and Tissue Kit or a standard phenol:chloroform extraction protocol (Sambrook *et al.* 1989), modified for small samples (Baker *et al.* 1994). DNA was quantified with pico-green fluorescence and normalized to 15 ng  $\mu$ l<sup>-1</sup>. An 800 bp fragment of the 5' end of the mtDNA control region was amplified and sequenced as described in Oremus *et al.* (2007). Variable sites and unique haplotypes were identified as described above. Sex was identified by

coamplification of the *Sry* gene, and the *ZFX* gene was used for a positive control (Gilson *et al.* 1998) following the protocol described in Oremus *et al.* (2007).

# 4.3.3. DNA Extraction and molecular sexing of teeth samples

The DNA extraction from teeth followed standard protocols for 'ancient DNA extraction'(Pimper *et al.* 2009). Total DNA was extracted from teeth samples in a lab separate from modern cetacean DNA. A laminar flow chamber and the use of UV radiation were used to provide sterile surface conditions and minimize the risk of contamination. Reagents were made up in a "DNA-free" positive pressure room separate from other laboratories. Teeth were submerged in liquid nitrogen for 20 seconds and then crushed. The resulting powder was subsampled and stored in a -20°C freezer. DNA was extracted from 0.1g of tooth powder beginning with a protein digestion with 200ul of 10%SDS, 100 µl DTT (10mg/ml) and 100ul Proteinase K (20 mg/ml) and incubated at 37°C overnight, and then for one hour at 50°C. Samples were then centrifuged, and the rest of the extraction procedure followed Pimper *et al.* (2009), including silica suspension from (Boom *et al.* 1990). A negative control, or blank, was run as every fifth sample, and a maximum of eight samples and two blanks were extracted at one time.

A 450 bp region of the mitochondrial control region was amplified via Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) in a 25 $\mu$ l reaction using primers M13Dlp1.5 and Dlp5 (Dalebout *et al.* 1998), 1mg/ml Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA) and 5 $\mu$ l of DNA template as described in Pimper *et al.* (2009). This was followed by a nested amplification using 3  $\mu$ l of a 1:10 dilution of the first reaction using the primers M13Dlp1.5 and Dlp4 under the same conditions except no BSA was added. PCR products were purified for sequencing with SAPEX (Amersham). The sequencing reaction was carried out with BigDye Version 3.1 (Applied Biosystems, Inc.) with post-sequencing clean-up using Agencourt CleanSEQ Kit (Beckman Coulter). Products were then run on an ABI 3730 Genetic Analyzer (Applied Biosystems, Inc.). Variable sites and unique haplotypes were identified as described for tissue samples. Teeth samples were trimmed to 350 bp of the control region.

Molecular sex identification was carried out using a region of the male-specific *Sry* gene along with regions of the *ZFX* genes as positive controls (Gilson *et al.* 1998). Two rounds of PCR were carried out using 5µl of DNA for the first round of PCR, and 3ul of a 1:10 dilution of the first PCR as input for the second round. The reactions were performed in a total volume of 25µl with the following conditions: 2.5µl Taq Gold buffer, 5ul of 4mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 1ul of 0.4µM each primer, Y53-3C, Y53-3D, P23EZ and P15EZ, 0.25ul of 0.2mM of dNTPs and 0.25µl of *Taq* Gold. The thermocycle profile began with an initial denaturation step of 94°C for 10 minutes, followed by 35 cycles of 94°C for 45 seconds, 60°C for 45 seconds, 72°C for 60 seconds and a final extension at 72°C for 10 minutes. Male and female positive controls were added to each reaction.

## 4.3.4. mtDNA sequencing

Sequences were aligned and edited using *Sequencher v4.6* (Gene Codes Corporation). Sequences were required to have a minimum average Phred score of >30 (e.g. 30 is a 1 in 1,000 error rate and 40 is a 1 in 10,000 error rate). Any variable sites with Phred <40 were visually confirmed. If sequences fell below this Phred<30 threshold, they were resequenced. If they failed a second time they were removed from the dataset. If a haplotype was represented by only one sample, the identity of the haplotype was confirmed by re-sequencing in both directions. Variable sites and unique haplotypes were identified using *Sequencher v4.6* and then *MacClade v4.0*.

# 4.3.5. Delineation of regions

The regions of Kaua'i, Hawai'i, O'ahu, Mo'orea, Raiatea and Samoa were delineated based on previous studies of genetic analysis and photo-ID that illustrated regional differentiation (see Chapter 3 in addition to (Baird *et al.* 2008, Albertson *et al.* 2011, Oremus *et al.* 2012). The Atlantic region samples were considered one region and separate from the Pacific Ocean samples based on phylogenetic analysis (see Chapter 2) that showed the two ocean basins are separate populations. The Eastern Tropical Pacific (ETP) region included groups from the ETP (defined as the triangle of ocean extending from the Hawaiian Islands to California and Peru) and included groups with similar haplotype frequencies from within this area.

# 4.3.6. Matrilineal index for groups

To quantify matrilineality of groups, and compare these values across regions, we developed a Standardized Matrilineality Index (SMI). This index accounts for unequal and incomplete sampling in groups by calculating shared and unshared haplotypes among dyads. This method is similar to Weinrich *et al.* (2006) who used dyads of mtDNA haplotypes of associated humpback whales *Megaptera noveangliae*, to quantify matrilineality. However, unlike Weinrich *et al.* (2006), our matrilineality index only

considers the sharing of identical haplotypes between all pairs of individuals in a group (i.e. 1 or 0). For each group, the observed proportion of haplotype identity ( $Hi_{obs}$ ) is calculated based on the number of dyad combinations of haplotypes in that group. These calculations are shown with an example dataset in Appendix Table VI.1. To generate a null distribution of the region where the sample was collected and determine the expected haplotype identity ( $Hi_{exp}$ ), a null distribution for the matrilineal index was generated by Monte Carlo sampling of background haplotype frequencies of each island or region was performed with 1,000 total replicates carried out in *R v3.0.2* (R Core Team 2013; script available from A. Alexander, or see Appendix Figure IV.2). The Standard Matrilineal Index (SMI) is the difference between the observed and expected haplotype identities (e.g. subtracting the Hi<sub>exp</sub> from Hi<sub>obs</sub>). The formula is then:

#### Standard Matrilineal Index (SMI) = $Hi_{obs}$ - $Hi_{exp}$

This index describes the degree of matrilineality and ranges from -1 to 1, where positive values indicate groups are more matrilineal than expected given the baseline region haplotype frequencies, and negative values indicate groups are less matrilineal than expected.

The SMI can be calculated at the group level as well as at the regional level by summing across the total observed number of within-group dyads, and the number of same-haplotype within-group dyads. It is important to note that the SMI is not informative if a regional sample consists of only one haplotype because a null distribution cannot be generated. Likewise, the background haplotype frequencies should be representative of the entire region to have enough power to detect a deviation from  $Hi_{exp}$ . Therefore, for our study, due to the limited number of samples in groups, we generated the  $Hi_{exp}$  for the

entire region and used this value to calculate the SMI for each group and for the region. Hi<sub>obs</sub> was calculated for each group and for each region, and the SMI was calculated for each group and each region, but significance was only tested for the sum of the dyads in each region.

The baseline frequencies used to generate the null distribution were a subset of the data in Chapter 2 (Atlantic Ocean and Eastern Tropical Pacific haplotype frequencies) and Chapter 3 (Central Pacific Ocean haplotypes) for each region and are shown in Appendix IV (Table IV.2.). The subset included only haplotypes found in groups from that specific region (e.g. Kaua'i haplotypes that were identified in Chapter 3 were used in the baseline here if they are found in Kaua'i groups listed in Table 4.1). The Maui stranding (n=8) contained two haplotypes that are found in high frequency in the Eastern Tropical Pacific (ETP) and one new haplotype. Although this group was geographically located in the Hawaiian Islands, the haplotype frequencies were better represented by the ETP haplotype baseline, allowing for a more conservative test. Therefore the null distribution of the Maui samples was generated using the ETP haplotypes.

#### 4.3.7. Microsatellite genotyping

All biopsy samples from Kaua'i, Hawai'i, O'ahu, Mo'orea, Raiatea and Samoa were genotyped using up to 15 previously published microsatellite loci developed from different cetacean species in order to estimate relatedness (Table 3.2, Chapter 3). PCR reactions were performed in 10ul volumes with varying annealing temperatures (Table 3.2, Chapter 3) using the reaction protocols discussed in Chapter 3. PCR products were co-loaded in sets of non-overlapping loci and analyzed on a 3730 sequencer (Applied Biosystems). The protocol for quality control, testing for genotyping errors, deviation from Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium, the identification of replicates and the probability of identity are discussed in detail in Chapter 3. When replicates were identified, if an individual was sampled on one occasion in one group, and on a different day in another group, the individual was retained both times. This occurred on a single occasion in Kaua'i.

# 4.3.8. Measuring relatedness

Levels of relatedness (estimated as R) were calculated with microsatellite data in *GenAlEx v6.5* (Peakall & Smouse 2012) using the Queller and Goodnight (1989) estimator. R ranges from 0-0.5 in wild populations, where 0 is unrelated, 0.25 is half siblings and 0.5 is parent-offspring or full sibs (Queller & Goodnight 1989, Blouin 2003). To evaluate whether individuals within groups were more related than expected by chance we used the Excel macro *GroupRelate* (Valsecchi *et al.* 2002). The program uses the pairwise relatedness values generated in *GenAlEx* to determine significance. The significance of any individual comparison is tested by drawing alleles from one region to create genotypes of unrelated individuals. This is repeated 1,000 times, and the number of times the observed relatedness value exceeds the randomized value provides the approximate probability of observing the data under the null hypothesis of no relatedness. Relatedness could be calculated in groups where only two individuals were sampled. To examine any possible correlation between group size and relatedness, we used Pearson's correlation coefficient.

# 4.4. Results

A total of 55 groups were sampled in seven regions in the Pacific Ocean basin and one region in the Atlantic Ocean basin. Variation in the mtDNA sequences revealed 28 haplotypes (Appendix Table IV.1). Where sex could be determined for individuals within groups, there were six groups where all females were sampled, 16 groups where all males were sampled and 33 groups where both females and males were sampled (Table 4.1). Sex ratio differences could only be tested for Kaua'i, the Big Island of Hawai'i and Mo'orea due to the number of individuals sampled at each island. There was a male sex bias in sampling for Hawai'i (p=0.03) and Mo'orea (p=0.01), but no sex bias observed in Kaua'i (p=0.13).

# 4.4.1. Group sizes and haplotype diversity

The 55 rough-toothed dolphin groups in this study contained at least two sampled individuals that passed quality control (n= 214 individuals total, Table 4.1). Of the 55 groups, 26 had two sampled individuals, 15 had three or four sampled individuals, and 14 had five or more sampled individuals in a group. Estimated group sizes ranged from 2-90 dolphins (Table 4.1). Kaua'i had the largest observed group (90 individuals). Estimated group size was not statistically different between regions in most cases (Figure 4.2). The number of haplotypes present in each region ranged from 2 to 9, with Kaua'i and Hawai'i containing the highest (9,6 respectively).

# 4.4.2. The degree of matrilineality in groups

Of the 55 groups sampled in eight regions, 33 (60%) contained multiple haplotypes, allowing us to reject the strict matriline hypothesis. In the strictly matrilineal groups, the

largest estimated group size was 28 (2 samples) in Hawai'i and 27 (2 samples) in Mo'orea. The largest strictly matrilineal group with the largest number of samples collected was a mass stranding off the Virginia coast. Eight samples were collected from this group of 26.

We then considered the degree of matrilineality for each group using the standard matrilineal index based on the observed haplotype identity for the group and the expected haplotype identity for region. The values of the index for all groups ranged from -0.791 (less matrilineal than expected based on regional haplotype frequencies) to 0.827 (more matrilineal than expected, Table 4.1). Of the 33 groups that had multiple haplotypes, the index showed 17 groups were more matrilineal than expected by chance.

The standardized matrilineal index was also calculated summing across each region, and the Monte Carlo test was used to evaluate significance. With this, the total dyads for Hawaii, North Pacific bycatch events and the Northwest Atlantic were significantly more matrilineal than expected by chance, while Kaua'i, Hawai'i, O'ahu, Mo'orea, Raiatea and Samoa were not significant. However, Kaua'i contained the largest group size of 90 where eight haplotypes were found from 24 samples collected. No other groups contained more than four sampled haplotypes. Therefore we also calculated the matrilineal index for Kaua'i excluding this super group (Table 4.1). When this group was excluded Kaua'i as a region had an SMI of 0.118 and was significantly more matrilineal than expected by chance. When the group was included, Kaua'i as a region had an SMI of 0.027 and was not significantly more matrilineal than expected by chance. Differences in the index and significance when the group is included and excluded are shown by the histograms in Appendix Figure IV.1.

# 4.4.3. Relatedness within groups

The relatedness values for the 47 groups with microsatellite data ranged from 0.005 (no relation) to 0.142 (on the order of first cousins; Table 4.1). Four groups were significantly more related than expected by chance (one in Kaua'i and three in Mo'orea). Three of the four groups were strictly matrilineal for the mtDNA dataset and were composed of both sexes. These groups included Kaua'i, an estimated group size of 14, with two males and two females sampled, Mo'orea, a group of seven, with two females and three males sampled, and Mo'orea, a group of 11, with two females and one male sampled. The fourth group was a group in Mo'orea, a group of six, containing all males. Mo'orea had several groups that contained only one haplotype. However, the overall SMI was not significant because of low mtDNA diversity.

In general, it appeared as group size increased, relatedness values decreased, and the larger groups were less likely to be related. The R-value from the Pearson's correlation for this relationship was highly negative, the corresponding p-value was only of marginal significance (r = -0.6661; P=0.054).

# 4.5 Discussion

The results of this study provide new insights into the social organization and molecular ecology of rough-toothed dolphins in two ocean basins. We found that a majority (33 out of 55) of rough-toothed dolphin groups are composed of multiple matrilines and relatedness values are low in most groups. From this we can reject that rough-toothed dolphins form strict matrilines. Instead, we found that rough-toothed dolphin groups show a weak but significant tendency towards matrilineality and some kinship. Our study adds a genetic component to previous photo-ID studies of association that found rough-toothed dolphins assemble in stable groups. In addition, our study corroborates other studies on pelagic dolphin group structure that there is relatedness in some groups, and large groups may be the combination of smaller related subgroups (Gaspari *et al.* 2007, De Stefanis *et al.* 2008).

## 4.5.1. Weak matrilineality and stable groups

Rough-toothed dolphin groups show weakly matrilineality where some groups have one haplotype and other groups have multiple haplotypes. Despite the evidence that rough-toothed dolphins are thought to have a complex social system, exhibiting behaviors like food sharing, cooperative foraging, mass stranding events and reciprocal altruism (Lodi 1992, Pitman & Stinchcomb 2002, Wells & Gannon 2005) they did not exhibit the typical genetic pattern observed in other strictly kinship based social mammals such as killer whales and elephants (Archie *et al.* 2008, Johnston *et al.* 2008, Pilot *et al.* 2010). However, it has been shown from previous photo-ID studies throughout regions in both the Atlantic and Pacific that they do form stable groups where they associate with the same individuals repeatedly (Mayr & Ritter 2005, Baird *et al.* 2008). Moreover, in

several locations of their range it has been documented that rough-toothed dolphins 'participate in complex social interaction' where they exhibit care-giving behavior among group members (Lodi 1992, Wells & Gannon 2005, Fulgencio de Moura *et al.* 2009) and participate in cooperative foraging (Pitman & Stinchcomb 2002). Therefore, roughtoothed dolphin group structure may be more similar to chimpanzees where stable groups are formed, but are not directly motivated by kinship (Goldberg & Wrangham 1997). Stable, but not related groups are also observed in other cetaceans including humpbacks. Individuals are found in the same foraging groups year after year, yet these groups are not necessarily related (Weinrich *et al.* 2006). Spinner dolphins exhibit stable group behavior and cooperative foraging, yet members of these groups are not necessarily related (Karczmarski 2005, Olavarría *et al.* 2007, Oremus *et al.* 2007, Andrews *et al.* 2010).

## 4.5.2. Insights into mass strandings

Our study presents the first documentation of the mtDNA haplotypes of rough-toothed dolphins from mass strandings. Similar to our results of wild-ranging groups of dolphins, four of the six mass strandings in this study consisted of multiple matrilines. Unfortunately, the limitation of using teeth prevented the use of microsatellites to infer kinship. There is evidence of rough-toothed dolphins that were rehabilitated together after a mass stranding showing care-giving behavior during rehabilitation, and when released remained together for the duration of the satellite location tags (Wells & Gannon 2005). From these observations the authors inferred the dolphins form stable bonds between individuals. However, since not genetic samples were taken it is not known if there was kinship or maternal relatedness between the individuals. In pilot whales it has been

shown that groups are cohesive, exhibiting herding behavior during drive kills (Fielding 2007), and often strand in large groups. However, unexpectedly, a study of long finned pilot whale mass strandings found multiple matrilines were present in 75% of the mass strandings (Oremus *et al.* 2013).

# 4.5.3. The composition of "super groups"

Long-finned pilot whales are sometimes seen in groups of 500 or more individuals, and it has been shown these groups are made up of smaller more stable subgroups (Ottensmeyer & Whitehead 2003). Gasari *et al.* (2007) found large groups of striped dolphins were often made up of smaller subgroups, and the smaller subgroups were more related than the larger groups. Rough-toothed dolphin groups have been documented in several locations where large groups appeared to be made up of smaller subgroups (Watkins *et al.* 1987, Ritter 2002, Baird *et al.* 2008). In our study, we tested to see if there was a correlation between group size and relatedness. This negative correlation (r = -0.661) was marginally significant in our data. It is possible then that the larger groups encountered in our study were made up of smaller subgroups, similar to pilot whales or striped dolphins. However our relatedness values were low in general, and there may not be a clear distinction in relatedness with large vs. small groups.

One such instance of a super group was around Kauai where the group size was estimated to be 90 individuals and these individuals were spread over an area of 1.5 km by 2 km. The 24 samples collected in this group contained eight different haplotypes, more than any other group in our study. This group influenced the results of the Kauai dataset, such that when it was removed the region changed to being significantly more related by chance (Table 4.1 and Appendix IV.3). This was not a typical group in our study, in the size or the number of haplotypes represented, and this group most likely reflects a "supergroup" where several subgroups make up a large group. More comprehensive sampling of groups could help determine if this is a pattern in rough-toothed dolphin groups as seen in long finned pilot whales and striped dolphins.

#### 4.5.4. Conservation concerns about local behavior

Despite their preference for deep water, rough-toothed dolphins are affected by increasing anthropogenic impacts around oceanic islands. There is documentation in every area where they have been studied of stable social groups. The behaviors associated with these groups may present other conservation issues if there are learned behaviors that include negative anthropogenic interactions. For example, around the Society Islands in French Polynesia and the Big Island of Hawaii, rough-toothed dolphins are increasingly involved in fisheries depredation with individuals occasionally shot by fishermen as a way to discourage them from taking bait and hooked fish (Kuljis 1983, Nitta & Henderson 1993, Poole 1993). The absence of this behavior in other locations suggests that, similar to other cetacean species, this may be a learned behavior in a specific isolated, population. Sperm whales in the Gulf of Alaska, for example, remove sablefish from longline fishing gear, and there is evidence of 'repeat offenders' in multiple years (Straley et al. 2014). In bottlenose dolphin communities where shrimp trawling is used, one population of bottlenose dolphins participates in the foraging behind shrimp trawlers, while another sympatric population does not (Chilvers & Corkeron

2001). In the cases of depredation, if this behavior is either vertically transmitted, passed down from mother to offspring, or horizontally transmitted within social groups, the numbers of dolphins that are participating in this behavior could increase in the future as more dolphins learn the behavior (Cantor & Whitehead 2013). This will increase the conflict between dolphins and fishermen. The outcome of such an interaction will require innovative management and potentially technological solutions to discourage this undesirable behavior.

### 4.6 Acknowledgements

Funding for fieldwork in French Polynesia was provided by the New Zealand Marsden Fund. Additional funding was provided by a Pew Marine Conservation Fellowship to CS Baker for the project *aPOD*, by the Ministry of the Environment of French Polynesia and Dolphin and Whalewatching Expeditions, Moorea, French Polynesia. Research was conducted under permits from the Ministry of the Environment of the French Polynesia government (issued to M.M. Poole), National Marine Fisheries Service Scientific Research Permits (no. 731 issued to R.W. Baird), (no. 774 issued to SWFSC genetics group). A protocol for biopsy sampling was approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee through Oregon State University (no. 4285). Teeth samples were provided courtesy of Charles Potter at the Smithsonian Institution. Samples from the main Hawaiian Islands were collected by Cascadia Research Collective with funding from the National Marine Fisheries Service, U.S. Navy (N45, Office of Naval Research NAVFAC PAC), and Wild Whale Research Foundation. Special thanks to Southwest Fisheries Science Center Marine Mammal Genetics Group and the Pacific Islands Grant for providing funding for archiving and extracting of all biopsy samples outside of

French Polynesia.



17drw redrw 15drw 14drw 13drw 12drw 11drw rodrw 90rw 80rw 70rw 60rw 50rw

Figure 4.1. Location of data collection for groups of rough-toothed dolphins for (a) all samples for the study (sample locations shown with a star for mass strandings and bycatch events and circles for biopsies. The outline rectangle is the Hawaiian Islands, the circle is the Samoan archipelago and the triangle is the Society Islands of French Polynesia (b) the Hawaiian Islands group sample locations, circle for each group biopsy and star for each mass stranding (c) Samoan archipelago group locations, circle for each group biopsy and star for each mass stranding group sample locations, circle for each group biopsy.



Figure 4.1. Location of data collection for groups of rough-toothed dolphins for (a) all samples for the study (sample locations shown with a star for mass strandings and bycatch events and circles for biopsies. The outline rectangle is the Hawaiian Islands, the circle is the Samoan archipelago and the triangle is the Society Islands of French Polynesia (b) the Hawaiian Islands group sample locations, circle for each group biopsy and star for each mass stranding (c) Samoan archipelago group locations, circle for each group biopsy and star for each mass stranding group sample locations, circle for each group biopsy.



Figure 4.2. An assessment of estimated group sizes in rough-toothed dolphin in the Pacific Ocean basin where more than three groups in a region were available for comparison. P-values were adjusted for multiple comparisons using the false discovery rate function implemented in *R*. Minimum, lower quartile, median, upper quartile and maximum estimated group size are given for each region.

Table 4.1: Summary of genetic samples for groups of rough-toothed dolphins from islands in the main Hawaiian Islands (North Pacific), Society Islands and Samoa (South Pacific), the Eastern Tropical Pacific (ETP), and the east coast of the US and the Gulf of Mexico. Regions are separated in the table and sample collection years for each region is given. Estimated group size is the total number of dolphins estimated to be in the group, n QC samples are the number of dolphins that were biopsied/sampled, genotyped and sequenced successfully during the group encounter for *n* Females and *n* Males (male and female total may not add up to the *n* samples, as some samples did not amplify for sex). K is the total number of haplotypes in a group, dyads is the total observed same haplotype dyad combinations and Relatedness (R) is the within group relatedness value measured by GenAlEx. Hi<sub>obs</sub> is the observed haplotype identity calculated from the number of same haplotype dyads. Hi<sub>exp</sub> is not listed, but examples of Kaua'i and the North Atlantic are shown in Appendix IV Figure IV.1. The Standard Matrilineality Index (SMI) values are presented by island (all groups together). NA identifies where calculations were not possible either due to low sample size or where microsatellite data was not available. The highlighted row identifies the largest group for Kaua'i. The total for Kaua'i includes an additional row where the region values are calculated excluding this group. R and SMI are bolded and italicized with an asterisk if significant at \*p <0.05; \*\* p< 0.001.

Date of group encounter	Estimated group size	n QC	n Females	n Males	K	Total dyads within each group	R	H <sub>obs</sub>	SMI (Hi <sub>obs</sub> - Hi <sub>exp</sub> )
Kaua'i, North Pacific, 2003-2012									
02 Jun 03	11	3	1	2	2	3	0.058	0.30	0.127
03 Jun 03	4	2	2	0	1	1	0.082	1	0.827
04 Jun 03	25	9	3	6	4	36	0.018	0.22	0.027
07 Jun 03	12	7	1	6	4	21	0.064	0.19	0.017
07 Jun 03	15	3	2	1	2	3	0.031	0.30	0.127
08 Jun 03	11	4	1	3	3	6	0.044	0.20	0.027
09 Jun 03	14	4	2	2	1	6	0.120*	1	0.827
30 Oct 05	42	9	2	7	4	36	0.015	0.30	0.127
<mark>14 Nov 05</mark>	<mark>90</mark>	<mark>24</mark>	<mark>13</mark>	<mark>11</mark>	<mark>8</mark>	<mark>253</mark>	<mark>0.005</mark>	<mark>0.06</mark>	-0.113
17 Feb 11	12	2	1	1	2	1	0.047	0	-0.173

Date of group	Estimated	n	n	n		Total			SMI
encounter	group size	QC	Females	Males	K	dyads	R	Hobs	(Hi <sub>obs</sub> -
						within		005	Hi <sub>evp</sub> )
						each group			exp/
18 Feb 11	4	2	2	0	2	1	0.028	0	-0.173
21 Jul 11	65	2	0	2	2	1	0.024	0	-0.173
31 Jul 11	25	3	1	2	3	3	0.012	0	-0.173
08 Aug 11	14	2	2	0	1	1	0.066	1	0.827
14 Jan 12	14	2	0	2	1	1	0.078	1	0.827
	Kaua'i Total	78	33	45	9	372		0.20	0.027
	Kaua'i Total	54	20	34	8	119		0.29	0.118**
	Excluding								
	14Nov 05								
	•		Oʻahu, N	lorth Pacific,	2003, 2010				
24 May 03	40	2	0	2	2	1	0.003	0	-0.291
10 Oct 10	14	2	1	1	2	1	0.001	0	-0.291
10 Oct 10	16	2	1	1	2	1	0.003	0	-0.291
11 Oct 10	24	4	1	3	2	6	0.027	0.5	0.210
	Oʻahu Total	10	3	7	4	9		0.33	0.039
	11		Hawai`i, I	North Pacific	, 2004-2012				·
04 Oct 04	4	2	0	2	2	1	0.086	0	-0.246
21 Nov 04	10	2	1	1	1	1	0.091	1	0.625
22 Nov 04	28	2	0	2	1	1	0.044	1	0.625
30 Nov 04	24	2	1	1	2	1	0.038	0	-0.246
25 Jul 06	28	2	1	1	1	1	0.020	1	0.625
20 Jul 08	70	3	0	3	2	3	0.015	0.33	0.04

Date of group	Estimated	n	n	n		Total			SMI	
encounter	group size	QC	Females	Males	K	dyads	R	H <sub>obs</sub>	(Hi <sub>obs</sub> -	
						within			Hi <sub>exp</sub> )	
					-	each group				
21Jul 08	35	2	0	2	2	1	0.013	0	-0.246	
01 May 09	20	2	0	2	2	1	0.011	0	-0.246	
29 Oct 09	26	5	4	1	3	10	0.052	0.2	0.175	
22 Aug 11	35	3	1	2	1	3	0.028	1	0.625	
23 Aug 12	25	2	0	2	2	1	0.008	0	-0.246	
	Hawai`i	27	8	19	6	24		0.375	0.129*	
	Total									
Moʻorea, South Pacific, 2002-2004										
01 Sept 02	9	2	0	2	2	1	0.099	0	-0.588	
02 Sept 02	7	2	0	2	2	1	0.071	0	-0.588	
27 July 03	22	5	2	2	2	10	0.007	0.6	0.012	
08 Aug 03	4	2	2	0	1	1	0.100	1	0.412	
07 Oct 03	17	2	0	2	1	1	0.032	1	0.412	
22 Nov 03	15	7	3	4	3	21	0.013	0.33	-0.258	
19 Aug 04	7	5	3	2	1	10	0.134*	1	0.412	
26 Aug 04	11	3	2	1	1	3	0.242*	1	0.412	
12 Sept 04	13	6	0	6	2	15	0.125*	0.67	0.082	
20 Sept 04	9	3	3	0	1	3	0.035	1	0.412	
21 Sept 04	7	4	1	2	2	6	0.062	0.5	-0.088	
24 Sept 04	6	2	1	1	1	1	0.044	1	0.412	
12 Oct 04	22	3	2	1	1	3	0.019	1	0.412	

Date of group encounter	Estimated group size	n QC	n Females	n Males	K	Total dyads within each group	R	H <sub>obs</sub>	SMI (Hi <sub>obs</sub> - Hi <sub>exp</sub> )	
16 Oct 04	27	2	0	2	1	1	0.032	1	0.412	
	Moʻorea Total	48	19	29	4	75		0.636	0.048	
Raiatea, South Pacific, 2004, 2011										
07 Nov 04	12	6	1	5	2	15	0.064	0.467	-0.270	
13 Nov 04	8	7	1	6	1	21	0.092	1	0.263	
	Raiatea Total	13	2	11	2	36		0.78	0.042	
	Samoan archipelago, South Pacific 2003, 2006 biopsy and 2010, 2011 bycatch events									
2003	NA	3	0	3	1	3	0.103	1	0.299	
20 Feb 06	NA	5	1	4	3	3	0.009	0.33	-0.371	
2010	2	2	2	0	1	1	0.111	1	0.299	
2011	2	2	1	1	1	1	0.086	1	0.299	
	Samoa Totals	12	4	8	3	8		0.53	-0.171	
		Mass	stranding a	and bycatch ev	vents, North F	Pacific				
				Maui 1976						
28 Jun 76	17	8	3	1	3	28	NA	0.393	0.163	
Colombia 1982										
16 Mar 81	4	4	2	1	3	1	NA	0.167	-0.066	
	•	•	I	East Pacific 1	981	•		•	•	
16 Oct 82	4	4	1	3	2	6	NA	0.5	0.267	
	ETP Total	16	6	5	8	15	NA	0.375	0.142*	

Date of group encounter	Estimated group size	n QC	n Females	n Males	K	Total dyads within each group	R	H <sub>obs</sub>	SMI (Hi <sub>obs</sub> - Hi <sub>exp</sub> )
Mass stranding events, Northwest Atlantic									
Virginia 1976									
12 Oct 76	26	8	6	0	1	28	NA	1	0.290
North Carolina									
15 Oct 76	2	2	0	1	1	1	NA	1	0.290
				Gulf of Mexi	со				
14 Dec 97	2	2	1	1	2	1	NA	0	-0.791
	Northwest	12	7	2	3	30	NA	0.967	0.257**
	Atlantic								
	Total								

# 5. General discussion

#### 5.1. Objectives and major findings

In this dissertation my main objective was to describe patterns of diversity and differentiation in rough-toothed dolphins using a worldwide dataset. Both mitochondrial and nuclear markers proved useful to evaluate gene flow for rough-toothed dolphins on different spatial scales. I began with a worldwide dataset and ended with assessing genetic structure within groups in specific regions.

Chapter two was the first time a worldwide dataset was used to evaluate the phylogeography of rough-toothed dolphins. The five regions I describe were based on biogeographic barriers discussed in Rocha (2007), Bowen (2013) and Briggs and Bowen (2012). The limitations of the dataset meant that I had a shallow but wide description (many samples with one limited marker) and a narrow but deep description (fewer samples, but both nuclear introns and mitogenomes). I did not find a pattern of monophyly with mitochondrial or nuclear introns, and therefore explored an alternative hypothesis to evaluate genetic differentiation and gene flow using population level indices. I determined evolutionary significant units, a taxonomic level below subspecies status, was a meaningful way to delineate rough-toothed dolphins in the Atlantic and the Indian/Pacific Oceans and acknowledge the two ocean basin populations are on separate evolutionary trajectories. Although many samples were not available from the Indian Ocean the shared haplotypes with the Pacific Ocean illustrate there may be occasional long distance dispersal. Differentiation was significant between regions in the

Central/Eastern Pacific and the Indian/Western Pacific for mitochondrial DNA, but not for the nuclear intron dataset.

One of the most surprising findings of this study was the Atlantic clade nested with the Pacific and Indian lineages. This was apparent in both the control region and the mitogenome phylogenies. The mitogenome phylogeny showed there were two or three migration events of the Atlantic to the Indo-Pacific or Indo-Pacific to the Atlantic. Due to the timing of this second invasion, the dolphins would have come from the Indian Ocean and around the southern tip of Africa. During this time period (late Pleistocene, 130 Kyr) there was an enhanced Agulhas current around the southern tip of Africa and several megafauna were known to migrate into the Atlantic from the Indo-Pacific at this time (Peeters *et al.* 2004). A figure diagramming the ancestral state color-coding the oceans would have been useful to give a more robust estimate of timing of the invasions.

In Chapter 3 I confirmed the presence of insular populations in three archipelagos in the Central Pacific. Previous studies had demonstrated insular structure using photoidentification for samples in the Main Hawaiian Islands, but I expanded the dataset, and included 'offshore' samples from the Northwest Hawaiian Islands as a comparison. The offshore waters surrounding the Northwest Hawaiian Islands are more productive than the nearshore waters, perhaps reducing the habitat differences between nearshore and offshore waters. Similar to other pelagic species in areas with low productivity (Chivers *et al.* 2007, Louis *et al.* 2014), rough-toothed dolphins in the Northwest Hawaiian Islands islands of Kauai and Oahu. In contrast to the Northwest Hawaiian Islands, I found the island of Hawaii was isolated compared to the islands of Kauai and Oahu. This corroborates previous interpretations that offshore eddies, steep bathymetric shelves off the island (which concentrates plankton) and the island mass effect provide local productivity supporting island communities.

In the South Pacific my findings in Chapter three confirmed what Oremus *et al.* (2012) had found using both photo-identification and genetics; that strong differentiation existed between the Leeward and Windward islands in the Society Islands. There were shared haplotypes between the North and South Pacific, but it could not be determined if this was due to occasional influxes from pelagic populations, as suggested for bottlenose dolphins (Tezanos-Pinto *et al.* 2008) or remnant haplotypes from an ancestral population. The genetic differentiation among the three archipelagos was similar to the differentiation found within an archipelago, illustrating it was not driven by isolation by distance, and was most likely due to strong genetic drift within the isolated communities.

A few genotypes in the Chapter three dataset revealed possible kin relations in some groups. Groups of rough-toothed dolphins from the regions defined in Chapter 3 were evaluated for the degree of relatedness in Chapter four. These pairs of individuals that were identified as kin in Chapter three were in groups that were more related than expected by chance when evaluated for within group relatedness in Chapter four. I found rough-toothed dolphins may associate with kin occasionally, but sampled groups do not appear to be made up of only close kin. This supports our findings in Chapter four that rough-toothed dolphin groups are not exclusively composed of close kin.

In Chapter four I used the geographic regions I defined in chapter three to evaluate genetic structure within groups. Specifically I tested if rough-toothed dolphins in the same groups were more likely to share mtDNA haplotypes than expected by chance. Alternatively, I tested the degree of matrilineality by evaluating within group dyad combinations of haplotypes. I found some groups were strictly matrilineal, but most groups showed weak matrilineality. Only four groups showed relatedness on the order of half siblings illustrating that, although other studies had shown rough-toothed dolphin groups to be stable, groups are not necessarily related. This social structure is more similar to chimpanzees than strictly matrilineal species like elephants and killer whales.

Although we found a negative correlation between group size and relatedness, it was only marginally significant. A definitive answer to this may not be possible considering how low our relatedness values were in general. Although this study did identify a 'super group' in Kauai it was not clear if other large groups were true 'super groups'. In order to determine this we would need sampling of the dolphins in each the small subgroups (e.g. these samples came from a specific subgroup and other samples in the encounter came from another subgroup). Lastly, the information I provide on mass strandings was the first genetic information for rough-toothed dolphin mass strandings. However, due to using teeth samples I was not able to infer kinship from microsatellites. It would be useful to have access to skin samples from mass strandings in order to determine kinship,

and also determine whether or not close kin (i.e. mother/offspring pairs) strand near each other, similar to the study done on long-finned pilot whales (Oremus *et al.* 2013)

#### 5.2. Implications and future research

In almost any study of cetaceans it goes without saying that 'more concerted sampling should be done', but it is worth saying what the priorities of future sampling should be. Indeed, the information presented here is some of the first of this species, and answering these questions brings about more questions. In order to answer additional questions, it would be useful to collect samples in specific areas. The haplotypes from the Indian Ocean were also found in the Pacific Ocean, but the power to detect differentiation between the Indian Ocean and other regions was limited by the low number of samples. Additional sampling in the Indian Ocean could be used to assess a more robust estimate of gene flow between the Indian Ocean and the Pacific Ocean regions (western, central and eastern). These samples could also be compared to the Atlantic, which appears from this study to present more of a barrier than the Pacific Ocean. In addition, surveys around South Africa would be useful to determine if this area is current habitat for rough-toothed dolphins since our South Africa samples represented single stranded animals, and surveys of small cetaceans around Mayotte in the Indian Ocean yielded no sightings of roughtoothed dolphins (Gross et al. 2009).

It has been shown that rough-toothed dolphins inhabit the waters around Brazil and are not just occasional visitors (Lodi & Hetzel 1999, Lailson-Brito *et al.* 2012). Therefore a concerted sampling effort around Brazil would establish the local population structure in
the Western South Atlantic. In addition, those samples could be used to evaluate the amount of exchange from the Indian Ocean (which seems to be very limited in our study) and the North Atlantic. In this study, most samples from the North Atlantic were in a private clade with the Brazil sample. Therefore, additional samples in both locations could be used to evaluate differentiation between these regions since the equator is not a barrier for this species.

Another important sampling consideration would be offshore sampling in areas of the North and South Pacific. In Chapter 3, the STRUCTURE plot showed differences between dolphins sampled in Samoa, where individuals that were more similar to Hawaiian Islands individuals were sampled tens of kilometers offshore, and individuals sampled within two kilometers of shore were more similar to South Pacific individuals. This was confirmed with the haplotypes of these individuals. However, our sample size was not large enough to have power to test whether an 'offshore' populations exists. In areas around French Polynesia, where rough-toothed dolphins have been observed 'offshore' they haven't been sampled so it could not be determined if these dolphins represent part of a separate population, or if they were simply part of the sampled population nearshore that happened to be farther offshore at that particular time. The samples that were collected around the northwest Hawaiian Islands did show characteristics similar to other populations of species considered to be 'offshore' with high haplotype diversity and low genetic differentiation to surrounding areas (Louis et al. 2014). Therefore, this may represent the first 'offshore' population of rough-toothed dolphins. Large ship surveys (albeit expensive) may be the best method for offshore

sampling as they can cover a large area, deploying small boats for sampling only when animals are present and weather is agreeable.

The use of several methods in concert to infer habitat use is becoming more prevalent in cetacean studies. In the main Hawaiian Islands, satellite tags have been deployed on rough-toothed dolphins since 2011, and photo-identification has been collected since 2000. The use of these methods with genetic data could tell a robust story of habitat use of this species. In French Polynesia aerial surveys were used to record identity and location of species. These data were then modeled with oceanographic productivity to predict cetacean habitat use (Mannocci *et al.* 2013).

# Appendix I Supplementary material for entire document

The files listed below are archived with the author, as well as the Cetacean Conservation and Genetics Laboratory at Oregon State University's Hatfield Marine Science Center. Requests for data access can be submitted to Renee Albertson (renee.albertson@oregonstate.edu) and C. Scott Baker (scott.baker@oregonstate.edu), and should be accompanied by a proposal describing how the data would be used. A twoyear embargo applies to the data, however, requests made before two years will be considered on a case-by-case basis, depending upon the proposed use and potential for collaboration.

# Nuclear genotypes for individuals sequenced in this study

File name: Nuclear\_genotypes\_Sbr\_24Nov2014.xlsx

Individual code and allele calls for the nuclear DNA sequence generated in this study. Sequence definition for allele calls given in 'Nuclear allele definitions' below.

# Nuclear alleles

Folder name: Nuclear\_allele\_definitions\_Sbr\_25Sept2014.xlsx Fasta files with the DNA sequence for the rough-toothed dolphins defined for each nuclear locus sequenced in this study.

#### mtDNA sequences

Folder name: mtDNA\_Sbr\_25Aug2014

A CAF file with the mtDNA control region sequences for this study.

# Appendix II. Worldwide phylogeography description of the rough-toothed dolphin (Steno bredanensis) using the mitochondrial genome and nuclear introns

Electronic files available for Chapter 2 mtDNA sequences (PC dataset) Folder name: mtDNA\_PC\_Ch2\_Sbr\_24Nov14 There is one excel file for each sample

mtDNA haplotypes (350 dataset) with sex and GPS data File name: mtDNA\_350\_Ch2\_Sbr\_24Nov14.xlsx

mtDNA sequences (350 dataset) A CAF file of sequences that will open in Sequencher or Geneious

Intron data sequences File name: Introns\_Ch2\_Sbr\_24Nov14.xlsx A CAF file of sequences that will open in Sequencher or Geneious Appendix Table II.1. Long-range PCR fragments used to sequence the mitogenome identified by fragment number. Origin and Terminal End specify where the primer started and ended specific to *Steno bredanensis* when aligned with published *Steno bredanensis* from Vilstrup *et al.* (2012) sequence of 16,385bp (GenBank Accession no. JF339982.1). T<sub>A</sub> refers to the annealing temperature used in the thermocycle protocol.

$\partial$			1	
Primer Pair	Fragment	Origin	Terminal End	$T_A$
	length	S.bredanensis	S. bredanensis	
1.4UPF	1,952	2,536	4,488	62
DelND2R				
Pma6800CO1F	3,610	6,779	10,389	59
DelHDND4R				
Mys10000ND4LF	3,024	9,986	13,011	64
Mys13000ND5R				
PmaHS13660F	3,834	12,741	190	62.5
Pma12sRNAR				
Ejm13tPheF	2,502	55	2,557	60
1.4UPR				
Eu1635F	1,452	1,654	3,106	63
DelHD3106R				
DelND2F	2,465	4,463	6,928	62.5
Pma6916tSerR				
Mys13000NDH5F	1,624	12,996	15,220	62.5
CytB2				
Dlp1.5	1,235	15,150	16,385	55
tPhe				
	Primer Pair 1.4UPF DelND2R Pma6800CO1F DelHDND4R Mys10000ND4LF Mys13000ND5R PmaHS13660F Pma12sRNAR Ejm13tPheF 1.4UPR Eu1635F DelHD3106R DelND2F Pma6916tSerR Mys13000NDH5F CytB2 Dlp1.5 tPhe	Primer Pair         Fragment length           1.4UPF         1,952           DelND2R	Primer Pair         Fragment length         Origin S.bredanensis           1.4UPF         1,952         2,536           DelND2R         2         2           Pma6800C01F         3,610         6,779           DelHDND4R         0         0           Mys10000ND4LF         3,024         9,986           Mys13000ND5R         0         0           PmaHS13660F         3,834         12,741           Pma12sRNAR         0         0           Ejm13tPheF         2,502         55           1.4UPR         0         0           Eu1635F         1,452         1,654           DelHD3106R         0         0           Mys13000NDH5F         1,624         12,996           CytB2         0         0           Dlp1.5         1,235         15,150           tPhe         0         0	Primer Pair         Fragment length         Origin S.bredanensis         Terminal End S. bredanensis           1.4UPF         1,952         2,536         4,488           DelND2R         2,536         4,488           Pma6800C01F         3,610         6,779         10,389           DelHDND4R         10000ND4LF         3,024         9,986         13,011           Mys10000ND4LF         3,024         9,986         13,011           Mys13000ND5R         10,3834         12,741         190           Pma12sRNAR         100         10,389         1000           Ejm13tPheF         2,502         55         2,557           1.4UPR         100         1000         1000           Eu1635F         1,452         1,654         3,106           DelND2F         2,465         4,463         6,928           Pma6916tSerR         16,24         12,996         15,220           CytB2         1         100         16,385           Dlp1.5         1,235         15,150         16,385

Appendix Table II.2. Species-specific substation rates (per site per Myr) for the family Delphindae generated in the multispecies *BEAST* phylogenetic reconstruction using the PC mitogenome. The *BEAST* xml file was that used in Alexander et al. (2013) with the addition of a *Steno bredanensis* sequence from this study.

Species	lower HPD	higher HPD	median	mean
Lagenorhynchus obscurus	0.0041	0.008	0.0059	0.0073
Grampus griseus	0.0052	0.0113	0.0078	0.0105
Stenella attenuata	0.0056	0.0107	0.008	0.0097
Stenella coeruleoalba	0.0053	0.0113	0.008	0.0096
Lagenorhynchus albirostris	0.0084	0.0159	0.0119	0.0156
Cephalorhynchus heavisidii	0.0068	0.0131	0.0097	0.0117
Orcinus orca	0.0088	0.016	0.0122	0.016
Tursiops truncatus	0.0069	0.0199	0.0123	0.0158
Delphinus delphis	0.0041	0.0115	0.0072	0.0093
Globicephala melas	0.0067	0.0146	0.0101	0.0137
Sousa chinensis	0.0055	0.0103	0.0078	0.0093
commersonii	0.0054	0.0139	0.0091	0.0114
Tursiops aduncus	0.0064	0.014	0.0098	0.0117
Cephalorhynchus eutropia	0.0047	0.0123	0.0081	0.0101
Lagenorhynchus cruciger	0.0039	0.0107	0.0068	0.0083
Delphinus capensis Cephalorhynchus hectori	0.0059	0.0167	0.0104	0.0135
maui	0.0053	0.0145	0.0092	0.0125
Lagenorhynchus australis	0.0039	0.0108	0.0069	0.0085
Steno bredanensis	0.0073	0.012	0.00978	0.0115

Appendix Table II.3. Alleles from the six introns used in this study. *Sotalia*, one proposed sister taxa of *Steno*, is shown in the last row for comparison purposes (name includes Genbank Accession number). DBY7 is not shown since no variable sites were identified. The green sequence is representative of sample Sbr07Sa03.

		IFN	IFN	IFN	IFN	IFN	CHRNA1	CHRNAI	CHRNA1	CHRNA1	GBA	GBA	CAT	CAT	Act-1														
		216	221	235	259	285	94	135	253	294	198	222	184	447	105	153	179	234	239	289	297	306	332	349	545	590	665	690	695
		G	G	G	G	G	С	т	А	т	А	С	G	А	т	т	т	G	т	А	А	С	с	А	А	с	С	А	т
	Sbr96BZ9838																										· · ·	G	· · ·
n	Sbr03PR48139		S																								· ·		
ğ	SbrARU48059			R																G							· ·		
Ğ	SbrAT370		S	R																R							· ·		
<u> </u>	SbrGWO1006	S	S	R																									
÷Ē.	SbrHBOI0413	S	S	R														-											-
ar	SbrOW1021921	S	S	R														-										-	-
(f)	Sbr11Bah134000	1.1	S	R																									
A	SbrRT900	1.1	S	R										1.0						G	1.1	т	1.1						-
	SbrRT374red		S	R														-		G		Т						-	-
q	Sbr98Mal9855	S	S	1.1		1.1				100 A			1.1	1.1	1.1	1.1	1.1		1.1	1.1	1.1		1.1			1.1		1.1	
ug c	Sbr02OM001	1.1					-		-	-			4.0	G		1.1		-		4.00	1.1			1.1	-	1.1	-	1.1	-
	Sbr13MS116865	S												R													· · ·		
ie sten	Sbr78ETP1316		1.1	1.1						1. A.			1.1	R	1.1		1.1	R	1.1	1.1						1.1			
c g g g	Sbr78Tai9535	S	S				-		-					G		1.1		-				Y					-		
∃ ≥ C O	Sbr03IFS18431	S	S	R																			Y						-
	Sbr99IFS16159		S	R																									-
	SbrHICE123348	S	S		-	-	-							-				-					-			-		-	-
	Sbr00H170966	S																				Y	Y						
	Sbr12LA002	S	S															-									•		-
c	Sbr03KA34040	-		R		-												-									-	-	-
EI e	Sbr12KA003	S	S																								· · ·		
st	Sbr12KA002	S	S		-		-			-							-	-				Y			-				-
E E	Sbr05KA51113	S	S																						•	-	· · ·		-
es es	Sbr12HI001		S									S		R					Y			Y					•		
ы на с	Sbr04FP15	S	-		-	-	-	-	-	-		-			-		-	-	-			-	-		-	-		-	-
c la	Sbr03FP12	S	S											G								•				•			
fic	Sbr11RA03		S	R																		Y							
c. B	Sbr07SA03	-	•	•	-	-	-							-	•		•	-	•	•		•	-	•	•	•	· · ·	-	-
S G	SbrAS125880	S	S	R																									
	Sbr11KA022	S	S	R		-			•	•																	· · ·	-	-
	Sbr06IFS66774	-	S	-	•	-	-	-		•			-	-	•		-	-	•		-	•	-	•	•	-	· · /	-	
	SbrXX3816		S		•				•				S	R						•		•			•	Y	Т	-	
	SbrNic11924	-	S			R	-	w	•	•							-	-		•	-		Y		•	-	- · ·	-	-
	Sbr91OR139	S	S	R	•	-	-	w						-	•			-	Y	•	-	•	Y		•	•	· · ·	-	-
	Sotalia EF027041	C	C		C	1.1	T	C	G	C	G		С		C	G	G				T			G	G		( . J	(	C

# Appendix III Staying close to home? Genetic differentiation of rough-toothed dolphins near oceanic islands in the central Pacific Ocean

Electronic files available for Chapter 3

Genotypes for individuals A file with the individual and genotype File name: Nuclear\_genotypes\_Sbr\_24Nov14.xlsx

mtDNA haplotypes A file with the individual, sex and haplotype File name: mtDNA\_Sbr\_24Nov14.xlsx

mtDNA sequences (450 dataset) A CAF file of sequences that will open in Sequencher or Geneious Appendix Figure III.1: R code for carrying out permutations of haplotype diversity based on islands

```
MM <- rep.int(1,1)
BB <- rep.int(2, 2)
N \leq -rep.int(3,8)
Y <- rep.int(4,19)
B <- rep.int(5,55)</pre>
A <- rep.int(6,69)
C <- rep.int(7,128)
X <- rep.int(8,157)
# Number of each haplotype in the background haplotype frequency to be
# sampled R needs these to be coded as #'numerical' so haplotypes MM-X
have been recoded here as 1-8.
Pop 1 <- 40
Pop 2 <- 14
Pop 3 <- 87
Pop 4 <- 230
Pop_5 <- 0
Pop 6 <- 0
# Sample size for each population that haplotype diversity will be
#estimated for
haplotypes <- c(MM, BB, N, Y, B, A, C, X)
# Combining the haplotypes defined above in one array of haplotypes
no haps <- 8
# Total number of haplotypes (not sequences) in the 'haplotypes' array
i <- NULL
j <- NULL
# Parameterizing i and j for use in loops below
diff Pop 12 <- c("diff Pop 12")</pre>
diff Pop 13 <- c("diff Pop 13")
diff Pop 14 <- c("diff Pop 14")
diff Pop 15 <- c("diff Pop 15")
diff Pop 16 <- c("diff Pop 16")</pre>
diff Pop 23 <- c("diff Pop 23")
diff_Pop_24 <- c("diff_Pop_24")</pre>
diff Pop 25 <- c("diff Pop 25")
diff Pop 26 <- c("diff Pop 26")</pre>
diff Pop 34 <- c("diff Pop 34")
diff Pop 35 <- c("diff Pop 35")
diff Pop 36 <- c("diff Pop 36")</pre>
diff Pop 45 <- c("diff Pop 45")
```

```
diff Pop 46 <- c("diff Pop 46")
```

#### Figure III.1 (Continued)

```
diff Pop 56 <- c("diff Pop 56")</pre>
# Naming the array for each population comparison
for (i in 1:1000) {
# This sampling process will be completed 1000 times
a <- sample(haplotypes, Pop 1, replace=TRUE, prob=NULL)</pre>
b <- sample(haplotypes, Pop_2, replace=TRUE, prob=NULL)</pre>
cc <- sample(haplotypes, Pop 3, replace=TRUE, prob=NULL)</pre>
d <- sample(haplotypes, Pop 4, replace=TRUE, prob=NULL)</pre>
e <- sample (haplotypes, Pop 5, replace=TRUE, prob=NULL)
f <- sample(haplotypes, Pop_6, replace=TRUE, prob=NULL)</pre>
# For each replicate, take a sample from the background haplotype
# frequencies equal to the observed sample size for each population
pi a <- 0
pi b <- 0
pi c <- 0
pi d <- 0
pi e <- 0
pi f <- 0
# Initializing the 'pi' values for each replicate
j <- 1
while (j < no haps+1) {</pre>
# While j is less than or equal to the total number of haplotypes in
#the population
pi a <- pi a + ((sum(a==j))/Pop 1)^2
pi b <- pi b + ((sum(b==j))/Pop 2)^2</pre>
pi_c <- pi_c + ((sum(cc==j))/Pop 3)^2
pi d <- pi d + ((sum(d==j))/Pop 4)^2
pi e <- pi e + ((sum(e==j))/Pop 5)^2
pi f <- pi f + ((sum(f==j))/Pop 6)^2</pre>
# Count the number of haplotypes in each population that equals
# haplotype code 'j'. Divide them by the total sample size (to get the
# frequency of that haplotype in the sample) and square this
# difference. Add this to the value calculated for other haplotypes.
j <− j+1
# The counter for the while loop goes up one (we move on and do these
# calculations for the next haplotype)
}
Pop 1H <- Pop 1/(Pop 1 - 1)*(1-pi a)
Pop 2H <- Pop 2/ (Pop 2 - 1) * (1-pi b)
Pop 3H <- Pop 3/(Pop 3 - 1)*(1-pi c)
```

#### Figure III.1 (Continued)

```
Pop 4H <- Pop 4/(Pop 4 - 1)*(1-pi d)
Pop_5H <- Pop_5/(Pop_5 - 1) * (1-pi_e)
Pop 6H <- Pop 6/(Pop 6 - 1)*(1-pi f)
# Using the values calculated in the while loop above, we calculate
# haplotype diversity for each of our samples
diff Pop 12 <- rbind (diff Pop 12, abs (Pop 1H - Pop 2H))
diff_Pop_13 <- rbind(diff_Pop_13, abs(Pop_1H - Pop_3H))</pre>
diff Pop 14 <- rbind(diff Pop 14, abs(Pop 1H - Pop 4H))
diff Pop 15 <- rbind(diff Pop 15, abs(Pop 1H - Pop 5H))
diff Pop 16 <- rbind(diff Pop 16, abs(Pop 1H - Pop 6H))
diff Pop 23 <- rbind (diff Pop 23, abs (Pop 2H - Pop 3H))
diff Pop 24 <- rbind (diff Pop 24, abs (Pop 2H - Pop 4H))
diff_Pop_25 <- rbind(diff_Pop_25, abs(Pop_2H - Pop_5H))
diff_Pop_26 <- rbind(diff_Pop_26, abs(Pop_2H - Pop_6H))
diff Pop 34 <- rbind(diff Pop 34, abs(Pop 3H - Pop 4H))
diff Pop 35 <- rbind (diff Pop 35, abs (Pop 3H - Pop 5H))
diff Pop 36 <- rbind(diff Pop 36, abs(Pop 3H - Pop 6H))
diff Pop 45 <- rbind (diff Pop 45, abs (Pop 4H - Pop 5H))
diff Pop 46 <- rbind (diff Pop 46, abs (Pop 4H - Pop 6H))
diff_Pop_56 <- rbind(diff_Pop_56, abs(Pop_5H - Pop_6H))</pre>
# We then record the differences in haplotype diversity between
# populations based on this random sampling procedure. The for (i)
# loop then resets and we do this for the number of permutations (1000)
# that we defined
}
result table <- cbind(diff Pop 12, diff Pop 13, diff Pop 14,
```

```
diff_Pop_15, diff_Pop_16, diff_Pop_23, diff_Pop_24, diff_Pop_25, diff_Pop_26, diff_Pop_34, diff_Pop_35, diff_Pop_36, diff_Pop_45, diff_Pop_46, diff_Pop_56)
```

# This summarizes the differences in haplotype diversity between each # of our populations, for each of our 1,000 permutations

#### write.table(result\_table, "haplotype\_diversity\_differences.txt", sep="\t")

# Using this table of haplotype diversity differences based on the # random sampling procedure, we assess the significance of our observed # differences in haplotype diversity between populations

# Appendix Figure III.2: R code for measuring the nearest geographic distance between samples located in different geographic areas

```
#Make sure geosphere and aspaces packages are loaded and your input
# file has no headers
rm(list=ls()) # This just clears off variables that were already in
# your R space
temp file <- read.csv(file="Input.csv", sep=",",</pre>
stringsAsFactors=FALSE, header=FALSE) #read in your csv file. The
#following column format is expected (but include no headers):
#Ocean Region
                   Sample name
                                  Lat(decimal degrees) Long(decimal
#degrees)
#Each row should have a separate sample listed. This script is designed
#to find the nearest distance between different regions located in the
#same ocean
maxcolumn <- dim(temp file)[1] #just getting some dimensions for the
#for loop below
maxrow <- dim(temp file)[2]</pre>
                              #just getting some dimensions for the
# for loop below
output <- c("Sample 1", "Lat1", "Long1", "Sample 2", "Lat2", "Long2",</pre>
"Dist", "Areal", "Area2", "Comparison") #defining
#how many fields are in our output table "output"
for (i in 1:maxcolumn) { #for each sample
for (w in 1:maxcolumn) { #compare it to every other sample that...
if ((temp file[i,2])!=(temp file[w,2])) { #is NOT from the same region
if ((temp file[i,1])==(temp file[w,1])) { #but IS from the same ocean
# (because the nearest distance between oceans is over land, we manually
#calculate the nearest distance between oceans to ensure a non-
# terrestrial path)
if (i < w) {
distance <- acos(cos(as radians(90-temp file[w,4]))*cos(as radians(90-
temp file[i,4]))+sin(as radians(90-temp file[w,4]))*sin(as radians(90-
temp file[i,4]))*cos(as radians(temp file[w,5]-temp file[i,5])))*6371
#calculating the distance between samples in km
temp <-
cbind(temp file[i,3],temp file[i,4],temp file[i,5],temp file[w,3],temp
file[w,4],temp file[w,5], distance, temp file[i,2],temp file[w,2],
temp file[i,1]) #for each sample, binding together the fields we
# mentioned in output above
output <- rbind(output, temp) } } } #binding all the rows together</pre>
#to make a full table
```

write.csv(output,file="output.csv") #writing results out

Appendix Table III.1: Summary of microsatellite loci over 278 individuals genotyped in this study. *N* gives the number of individuals successfully typed at each locus. K is the number of alleles per locus.  $T_A^o$  is the annealing temperature used for each locus.  $H_o$  is the observed heterozygosity and  $H_e$  is the expected heterozygosity calculated for each locus.

Locus	Ν	K	$Mg^{+2}$	$T^{o}_{A}$	Но	He	Label	Reference
			(mM)					
DlrFCB1	302	11	2.5	45	0.925	0.743	VIC	(Buchanan et al. 1996
GT6	261	10	1.5	61	0.804	0.858	VIC	(Caldwell et al. 2002)
GT39	308	13	2.5	62	0.766	0.790	VIC	(Caldwell <i>et al.</i> 2002)
Ppho110	289	3	1.5	60	0.365	0.359	FAM	(Rosel et al. 1999)
415/416	301	9	2.5	45	0.700	0.726	NED	(Amos et al. 1993)
MK5	291	14	1.5	55	0.907	0.807	VIC	(Krützen et al. 2001)
MK6	297	9	1.5	50	0.558	0.534	NED	(Krützen et al. 2001)
MK8	282	10	1.5	50	0.755	0.838	NED	(Krützen et al. 2001)
MK9	278	8	1.5	50	0.818	0.815	VIC	(Krützen <i>et al.</i> 2001)
Sgui 3	307	6	2.5	57	0.624	0.702	FAM	(Cunha & Watts 2007
Sgui 17	299	6	2.5	57	0.487	0.511	NED	(Cunha & Watts 2007
KWM12	302	10	1.5	45	0.741	0.699	VIC	(Hoelzel et al. 1998)
TexVet5	261	5	1.5	50	0.633	0.683	FAM	(Rooney et al. 1999)
SloS1-9	269	7	2.5	55; 53.5	0.465	0.494	NED	(Galver 2002)
SloSl-4	270	12	2.5	50.5; 50	0.677	0.701	NED	(Galver 2002)

n	Kaua`i	NWHI	Oʻahu	Hawaiʻi	Mo'orea/	Ra'iatea/	Samoan
mtDNA					Tahiti	Huahine	Islands
97 18	0.004	0.079	0.065 0.076	0.064 0.047	0.143 0.126	0.220 0.294	0.161 0.213
9	0.021	0.008		0.100	0.115	0.312	0.146
56	0.235**	0.092*	0.216**		0.149	0.281	0.148
54	0.239**	0.387**	0.423**	0.378**		0.248	0.234
20	0.342**	0.219**	0.598**	0.571**	0.591**		0.207
16	0.356**	0.237**	0.513**	0.377**	0.394**	0.222**	
	n mtDNA 97 18 9 56 54 20 16	n Kaua`i mtDNA 97 18 0.004 9 0.021 56 0.235** 54 0.239** 20 0.342** 16 0.356**	n         Kaua`i         NWHI           97         0.079           18         0.004           9         0.021         0.008           56         0.235**         0.092*           54         0.239**         0.387**           20         0.342**         0.219**           16         0.356**         0.237**	n         Kaua`i         NWHI         Oʻahu           mtDNA         0.079         0.065           97         0.004         0.076           98         0.004         0.076           9         0.021         0.008           56         0.235**         0.092*         0.216**           54         0.239**         0.387**         0.423**           20         0.342**         0.219**         0.598**           16         0.356**         0.237**         0.513**	n         Kaua`i         NWHI         Oʻahu         Hawaiʻi           97         0.079         0.065         0.064           18         0.004         0.076         0.047           9         0.021         0.008         0.100           56         0.235**         0.092*         0.216**           54         0.239**         0.387**         0.423**         0.378**           20         0.342**         0.219**         0.598**         0.571**           16         0.356**         0.237**         0.513**         0.377**	n         Kaua`i         NWHI         Oʻahu         Hawaiʻi         Moʻorea/ Tahiti           97         0.079         0.065         0.064         0.143           18         0.004         0.076         0.047         0.126           9         0.021         0.008         0.100         0.115           56         0.235**         0.092*         0.216**         0.149           54         0.239**         0.387**         0.423**         0.378**           20         0.342**         0.219**         0.598**         0.571**         0.591**           16         0.356**         0.237**         0.513**         0.377**         0.394**	n         Kaua`i         NWHI         Oʻahu         Hawaiʻi         Moʻorea/ Tahiti         Raʻiatea/ Huahine           97         0.079         0.065         0.064         0.143         0.220           18         0.004         0.076         0.047         0.126         0.294           9         0.021         0.008         0.100         0.115         0.312           56         0.235**         0.092*         0.216**         0.149         0.281           54         0.239**         0.387**         0.423**         0.378**         0.248           20         0.342**         0.219**         0.598**         0.571**         0.591**           16         0.356**         0.237**         0.513**         0.377**         0.394**         0.222**

Appendix Table III.2: Pairwise  $\Phi_{ST}$  differentiation below diagonal and G"<sub>ST</sub> above the diagonal among populations in the Hawaiian, Society and Samoan Islands mtDNA control region Statistically significant  $\Phi_{ST}$  values are bolded and italicized, with \* significant at p < 0.05: \*\* significant at p < 0.001.

Appendix Table III.3: P values generated for population comparisons of haplotype diversity derived from mtDNA control region haplotype frequencies for rough-toothed dolphins in the Hawaiian, Society and Samoan Islands. Significant values are bolded and italicized.

	Kaua'i	NWHI	Oʻahu	Hawaiʻi	Mo'orea/	Ra'iatea/	Samoan
					Tahiti	Huahine	Islands
Kauaʻi							
NWHI	0.013						
O`ahu	0.046	0.06					
Hawaiʻi	0.006	0.019	0.041				
Mo'orea/	0.008	0.006	0.045	0.013			
Tahiti							
Ra'iatea/	0.008	0.006	0.047	0.013	<0.01		
Huahine							
Samoan	<0.001	0.013	0.047	0.007	0.007	0.007	
Islands							

Appendix Table III.4: P values generated for archipelago comparisons of haplotype diversity derived from mtDNA control region haplotype frequencies for rough-toothed dolphins in the Hawaiian, Society and Samoan Islands. Significant values are bolded and italicized.

	Hawaiian Islands	Society Islands	Samoan Islands	
Hawaiian Islands				
Society Islands	0.019			
Samoan Islands	0.001	0.009		

# **APPENDIX IV**

# Are you my mother? A measure of matrilineal social organization in social groups and mass strandings of rough-toothed dolphins (*Steno bredanensis*)

Electronic files available for Chapter 4 Genotypes for individuals sequenced in groups in this chapter File name: Nuclear\_genotypes\_Groups\_Ch4\_Sbr\_24Nov14.xlsx

mtDNA haplotypes for groups including sex and GPS location File name: mtDNA\_Groups\_Sbr\_24Nov14.xlsx

Appendix Figure IV.1: Histograms for the region of Kaua'i with (a) all groups included and (b) when the largest group (estimated group size of 90 individuals) is removed.  $Hi_{Exp}$ ,  $Hi_{Obs}$  and SMI are derived as explained in Appendix Table III.1 above.



Appendix Figure IV.2.

R script for generating the null distribution of expected same-haplotype dyads, based on mtDNA haplotype frequencies for each island population used to calculate the expected haplotype identity for the Standard Matrilineality Index.

A <- rep.int (1, 4) B <- rep.int (2, 36) C <- rep.int (3, 15) X <- rep.int (4, 156) Y <- rep.int (5, 19)

x <- c(A,B,C,X,Y)

# x is an array of your regional haplotypes. These need to be coded as numbers

ndyads <-268 # This is the number of within-group dyads you calculate directly from your group data

reps <- 1000

# This is the number of times you want to simulate drawing the same number of within-group dyad pairs (ndyads) from your total regional haplotypes

result\_table <- NULL
# This will be the table results are ultimately written to</pre>

j <- NULL

for (j in 1:reps) {
 e <- 1
 # e is used as the counter to get ndyad draws from the regional haplotype definitions
 matrl\_count <- 0
# This will be a count for the number of point over each ndyad draw that have the same haplotyme
</pre>

# This will be a count for the number of pairs over each ndyad draw that have the same haplotype

while (e <= ndyads) { # while e is less than ndyads: this just means that we are doing ndyad draws

```
g <- sample(x, 2, replace=TRUE, prob=NULL);
# Sampling 2 individuals, i.e. a dyad from our data
if(g[1]==g[2]) {matrl_count <- matrl_count + 1 }
e <- e+1
}
rep_result <- matrl_count/ndyads
result_table <- rbind(result_table, rep_result)
}</pre>
```

```
write.table(result_table, "null_matrilineality_index.txt", sep="\t"
Appendix Figure III.3.
R script for generating the histogram
```

```
file.data <- read.csv(file =" file.csv", header = TRUE, check.names=TRUE)
file.breaks <- read.csv(file=" file.csv", header = TRUE, check.names=TRUE)
```

```
png(filename=" file -Histogram.png", width = 1500, height = 1200)
hist(x= file.data$x, breaks = file.breaks$bin, xlab = "X LABEL HERE", ylab = "Y LABEL HERE", main = "TITLE HERE OR
EMPTY IF NONE", cex.lab = 1, cex.axis = 1.5, cex.main = 3, col = 'blue')
dev.off()
```

#cex.lab - % font size for labels
#cex.axis - % font size for axis tick marks

Appendix Table IV.1. An example of the calculation of the SMI with four groups and four haplotypes present in an island population (A, B, C, D). The number of same-haplotype dyads within a group are calculated by haplotype, and then summed to give the total number of same-haplotype dyads within a group. The proportion relative to the total number of within group dyads is then calculated ( $Hi_{obs}$ ). Using the baseline island community haplotype frequencies (shown here as the 'regional totals'), Monte Carlo sampling of the expected proportion of same-haplotype frequencies is carried out (code in Appendix I. The mean of this distribution ( $Hi_{exp}$ ) can be used to calculate the SMI ( $Hi_{obs} - Hi_{exp}$ ). Significance can be assessed as the number of permutations that exceed  $Hi_{obs}$  divided by the total number of permutations. As different sizes of groups (n = 6, 15 dyads; and n = 7, 21 dyads) were present in this example, four separate Monte Carlo simulations were carried out. The same calculated on a per-group basis (shown in right column of table). The observed haplotype identify proportion was calculated for each group in an island community by combining the number of possible dyad combinations for each haplotype present within a group ( $x^*(x-1)/2$ ) where x is the number of individuals with that haplotype within that group.

Haplotype	Group 1	Group 2	Group 3	Group 4	Regional totals
A	2	2	0	4	8
В	3	2	0	0	5
C	1	0	4	5	10
D	0	3	4	0	7
Total group size	6	7	8	9	
Observed haplotype A-A dyads	=(2*(2-1))/2=1	1	0	6	= 1 + 0 + 0 + 6 = 7
Observed haplotype B-B dyads	=(3*(3-1))/2=3	1	0	0	= 3 + 1 + 0 + 0 = 2
Observed haplotype C-C dyads	=(1*(1-1))/2=0	0	6	10	= 0 + 0 + 6 + 10 = 16
Observed haplotype D-D dyads	=(0*(0-1))/2=0	3	6	0	= 0 + 3 + 6 + 0 = 12
Total observed same haplotype dyads	= 1 + 3 + 0 + 0 = 4	5	12	16	= 7 + 2 + 16 + 12 = 37
Total within group dyads	=(6*(6-1))/2=15	21	28	36	= 15 + 21 + 28 + 36 = 97
Observed proportion of haplotype identity (Hi <sub>obs</sub> )	= 4/15 = 0.267	0.190	0.429	0.444	= 37/97 = 0.381



Appendix Table IV.2. Background haplotype frequencies used to generate the null distribution for each region. Not all rough-toothed dolphin haplotypes are represented in groups, and frequencies shown here are restricted to groups. A list of haplotype frequencies from the entire roughtoothed dolphin dataset can be found in electronic Appendix I.

Haplotype									
ID	Atlantic	ETP	Kauai	Oahu	Hawaii	Moorea	Raiatea	Samoa	Total
А	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1
В	0	0	0	0	4	0	0	0	4
С	0	0	0	0	0	7	0	0	7
D	0	2	0	0	0	0	1	0	3
Е	0	0	0	0	0	0	11	13	24
F	0	0	7	0	0	0	0	0	7
G	0	0	5	4	0	0	0	0	9
Н	0	0	4	0	11	0	0	1	16
Ι	0	0	0	0	9	0	0	0	9
Κ	0	0	20	2	1	0	0	0	23
L	0	0	3	0	0	0	0	0	3
М	0	0	0	0	3	0	0	1	1
0	0	0	0	0	0	36	0	0	36
Р	0	5	0	1	0	4	0	0	10
Т	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	1
U	0	0	18	3	0	0	0	0	21
V	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	1	3
Х	0	0	6	0	0	0	0	0	6
AA	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	2
BB	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
CC	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
DD	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	2
EE	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
FF	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	5
HH	0	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	6
MM	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
NN	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
SS	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	10
Total	12	21	63	10	29	48	14	16	214

#### Literature Cited

- Albertson GR, Oremus M, Baird RW, Martien KK, Poole MM, Brownell Jr RL, Cipriano F, Baker CS (2011) Staying close to home? Genetic analyses reveal insular population structure for the pelagic dolphin *Steno bredanensis* In Abstracts of the 19th Biennial Conference on the Biology of Marine Mammals, November 2011 Tampa, Florida, USA, p 9-10
- Alexander A, Steel D, Slikas B, Hoekzema K, Carraher C, Parks M, Cronn R, Baker CS (2013) Low diversity in the mitogenome of sperm whales revealed by next-generation sequencing. Genome biology and evolution 5:113-129
- Amaral AR, Beheregaray LB, Bilgmann K, Boutov D, Freitas L, Robertson KM, Sequeira M, Stockin KA, Coelho MM, Moller LM (2012) Seascape Genetics of a Globally Distributed, Highly Mobile Marine Mammal: The Short-beaked Common Dolphin (Genus *Delphinus*). PloS one 7:1-14
- Amos B, Schlotterer C, Tautz D (1993) Social structure of pilot whales revealed by analytical DNA profiling. Science 260:670-672
- Andrews KR, Karczmarski L, Au WWL, Rickards SH, Vanderlip CA, Bowen BW, Grau EG, Toonen RJ (2010) Rolling stones and stable homes: social structure, habitat diversity and population genetics of the Hawaiian spinner dolphin (*Stenella longirostris*). Molecular Ecology 19:1755-1755
- Archer FI, Morin PA, Hancock-Hanser BL, Robertson K, Leslie MS, Berube M, Panigada S, Taylor BL (2013) Mitogenomic Phylogenetics of Fin Whales (Balaenoptera physalus spp.): Genetic Evidence for Revision of Subspecies PLoS Biology 8
- Archie EA, Maldonado JE, Hollister-Smith JA, Poole JH, Moss CJ, Fleischer RC, Alberts SC (2008) Fine-scale population genetic structure in a fission–fusion society. Molecular Ecology 17:2666-2679
- Aschettino JM, Baird RW, McSweeney DJ, Webster DL, Schorr GS, Huggins JL, Martien KK, Mahaffy SD, West KL (2012) Population structure of melon-headed whales (*Peponocephala electra*) in the Hawaiian Archipelago: Evidence of multiple populations based on photo identification. Marine Mammal Science 28:666-689
- Avise JC (2000) Phylogeography: The history and formation of species, Vol. Harvard University Press, Cambridge, MA
- Avise JC, Ball RM (1990) Principles of genealogical concordance in species concepts and biological taxonomy. Oxford surveys in evolutinoary biology 7:45-67
- Ayala FJ (1976) Molecular genetics and evolution, Vol. Sinauer, Sunderland, Mass
- Baird RW (2000) The Killer Whale: Forging Specializations and Group Hunting. In: Mann J, Connor RC, Tyack PL, Whitehead H (eds) Cetacean Societies Field Studies of Dolphins and Whales. University of Chicago Press, p 127-153
- Baird RW, Hanson MB, Schorr GS, Webster DL, McSweeney DJ, Gorgone AM, Mahaffy SD, Holzer D, Oleson EM, Andrews RD (2012) Range and Primary Habitats of Hawaiian Insular False Killer Whales: An Assessment to Inform Determination of "Critical Habitat". Endangered Species Research 18:47-61

- Baird RW, Webster DL, Aschettino JM, Schorr GS, McSweeney DJ (2013) Odontocete Cetaceans around the Main Hawaiian Islands: Habitat Use and Relative Abundance from Small-boat Sighting Surveys. Pacific Islands Scientific Review Group:1-24
- Baird RW, Webster DL, Mahaffy SD, McSweeney DJ, Schorr GS, Ligon AD (2008) Site fidelity and association patterns in a deep-water dolphin: Rough-toothed dolphins (*Steno bredanensis*) in the Hawaiian Archipelago. Marine Mammal Science 24:535-553
- Baker CS, Slade RW, Bannister JL, Abernethy RB, Weinrich MT, Lien J, Urban-Ramirez J, Corkeron PJ, Calambokidis J, Vasques O, Palumbi SR (1994) Hierarchical structure of mitochondrial DNA gene flow among humpback whales *Megaptera novaeangliae*, world-wide. Molecular Ecology 3:313-327
- Barlow J (2006) Cetacean abundance in Hawaiian waters estimated from a summer/fall survey in 2002. Marine Mammal Science 22:446-464
- Bird CE, Holland BS, Bowen BW, Toonen RJ (2007) Contrasting phylogeography in three endemic Hawaiian limpets (Cellana spp.) with similar life histories. Molecular Ecology 16:3173-3186
- Blouin MS (2003) DNA-based methods for pedigree reconstruction and kinship analysis in natural populations. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 18:503-511
- Boom R, Sol C, Salimans M, Jansen C, Wetheim-VanDillen P, Van der Noordaa J (1990) Rapid and simple method for purification of nucleic acids. Journal of clinical microbiology 28:495-503
- Bowen BW, Rocha LA, Toonen RJ, Karl SA (2013) The origins of tropical marine biodiversity. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 28:359-366
- Braby MF, Eastwood R, Murray N (2012) The subspecies concept in butterflies: has its application in taxonomy and conservation biology outlived its usefulness? Biological Journal of the Linnean Society 106:699-716
- Briggs JC, Bowen BW (2012) A realignment of marine biogeographic provinces with particular reference to fish distributions. Journal of Biogeography 39:12-30
- Briggs JC, Bowen BW, McClain C (2013) Marine shelf habitat: biogeography and evolution. Journal of Biogeography 40:1023-1035
- Buchanan FC, Friesen MK, Littlejohn RP, Clayton JW (1996) Microsatellites from the beluga whale *Delphinapterus leucas*. Molecular Ecology 5:571-575
- Caballero S, Jackson J, Mignucci-Giannoni AA, Barrios-Garrido H, Beltrán-Pedreros S, Montiel-Villalobos MaG, Robertson KM, Baker CS (2008) Molecular systematics of South American dolphins Sotalia: Sister taxa determination and phylogenetic relationships, with insights into a multi-locus phylogeny of the Delphinidae. Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution 46:252-268
- Caballero S, Trujillo F, Vianna J, Barrios-Garrido H, Montiel-Villalobos MaG, Beltrán-Pedreros S, Marmontel M, Santos M, Rossi-Santos M, Santos F, Baker CS (2007) Taxonomic status of the genus Sotalia: species level ranking for "tucuxi" (Sotalia fluvialtilis) and "costero" (Sotalia guianensis) dolphins. . Marine Mammal Science 23:358-386

- Caldwell M, Gaines MS, Hughes CR (2002) Eight polymorphic microsatellite loci for bottlenose dolphin and other cetacean species. Molecular Ecology Notes 2:393-395
- Cantor M, Whitehead H (2013) The interplay between social networks and culture: theoretically and among whales and dolphins. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London Series B, Biological sciences 368:1-10
- Chilvers BL, Corkeron PJ (2001) Bottlenose dolphins and trawlers. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 268:1901-1905
- Chivers SJ, Baird RW, McSweeney DJ, Webster DL, Hedrick NM, Salinas JC (2007) Genetic variation and evidence for population structure in eastern North Pacific false killer whales (*Pseudorca crassidens*). Canadian Journal of Zoology 85:783-794
- Christal J, Whitehead H (2001) Social Affiliations within Sperm Whale (*Physeter* macrocephalus) Groups. Ethology 107:323-340
- Courbis S, Baird RW, Cipriano F, Duffield D (2014) Multiple Populations of Pantropical Spotted Dolphins in Hawaiian Waters. Journal of Heredity
- Cracraft J (1983) Species concepts and speciation analysis. Current Ornithology 1:159-187
- Cunha HA, Watts PC (2007) Twelve microsatellite loci for marine and riverine tucuxi dolphins (*Sotalia guianensis and Sotalia fluviatilis*). Molecular Ecology Notes 7:1229-1231
- Dalebout ML, Mead JG, Baker CS, Baker AN, VAn Helden AL (2002) A new species of beaked whale *Mesoplodon perrini* sp. n. (Cetacea: Ziphiidae) discovered through phylogenetic analyses of mitochondrial DNA sequences. Marine Mammal Science 18:577-608
- Dalebout ML, Robertson KM, Frantzis A, Engelhaupt DAN, Mignucci-Giannoni AA, Rosario-Delestre RJ, Baker CS (2005) Worldwide structure of mtDNA diversity among Cuvier's beaked whales (*Ziphius cavirostris*): implications for threatened populations. Molecular Ecology 14:3353-3371
- Dalebout ML, Scott Baker C, Steel D, Robertson KM, Chivers SJ, Perrin WF, Mead JG, Grace RV, David Schofield T (2007) A divergent mtDNA lineage among mesoplodon beaked whales: molecular evidence for a new species in the tropical Pacific? . Marine Mammal Science 23:954-966
- Dalebout ML, Van Helden A, Van Waerebeek K, Baker CS (1998) Molecular genetic identification of southern hemisphere beaked whales (Cetacea: Ziphiidae). Molecular Ecology 7:687-694
- Daly-Engel TS, Randall JE, Bowen BW (2012a) Is the Great Barracuda (*Sphyraena barracuda*) a reef fish or a pelagic fish? The phylogeographic perspective. Marine Biology 159:975-985
- Daly-Engel TS, Seraphin KD, Holland KN, Coffey JP, Nance HA, Toonen RJ, Bowen BW (2012b) Global phylogeography with mixed-marker analysis reveals malemediated dispersal in the endangered scalloped hammerhead shark (*Sphyrna lewini*). PloS one 7:e29986
- Darriba D, GL T, R D, Posada D (2012) jModelTest 2: more models, new heuristics and parallel computing. Nature Methods 9:772

- De Queiroz K (2007) Species concepts and species delimitation. Systematic Biology 56:879-886
- De Stefanis R, Verborgh P, Perez S, Esteban R, Minvielle-Sebastia L, Guinet C (2008) Long-term social structure of long-finned pilot whales (*Globicephala melas*) in the Strait of Gibraltar. Acta Ethologia 11:81-94
- Doty MS, Oguri M (1956) The Island Mass Effect. Journal du Conseil-Conseil International pour l'Exploration de la Mer 22:33-37
- Drummond AJ, Suchard MA, Xie D, Rambaut A (2012) Bayesian phylogenetics with BEAUti and the BEAST 1.7. Molecular Biology and Evolution 29:1969-1973
- Earl DA, vonHoldt BM (2012) STRUCTURE HARVESTER: a website and program for visualizing STRUCTURE output and implementing the Evanno method. Conservation genetics Resources 4:359-361
- Evanno G, Regnaut S, Goudet J (2005) Detecting the number of clusters of individuals using the software structure: a simulation study. Molecular Ecology 14:2611-2620
- Ewing B, Hillier L, Wendl MC, Green P (1998) Base-Calling of Automated Sequencer Traces Using Phred. I. Accuracy Assessment. Genome Research 8:175-185
- Excoffier L, Lischer HEL (2010) Arlequin suite ver 3.5: a new series of programs to perform population genetics analyses under Linux and Windows. Molecular Ecology Resources 10:564-567
- Excoffier L, Smouse PE, Quattro JM (1992) Analysis of Molecular Variance Inferred From Metric Distances Among DNA Haplotypes: Application to Human Mitochondrial DNA Restriction Data. Genetics 131:479-491
- Ferrero RC, Hodder J (1993) Recent strandings of rough-toothed dolphins (*Steno bredanensis*) on the Oregon and Washington coasts. Marine Mammal Science 10:114-116
- Fielding R (2007) A comparison of pilot Whale drives in Newfoundland and the Faroe Islands. Scottish Geographical Journal 123:160-172
- Fontaine MC, Baird SJ, Piry S, Ray N, Tolley KA, Duke S, Birkun A, Jr., Ferreira M, Jauniaux T, Llavona A, Ozturk B, A AO, Ridoux V, Rogan E, Sequeira M, Siebert U, Vikingsson GA, Bouquegneau JM, Michaux JR (2007) Rise of oceanographic barriers in continuous populations of a cetacean: the genetic structure of harbour porpoises in Old World waters. BMC biology 5:30
- Foote AD, Morin PA, Durban JW, Willerslev E, Orlando L, Gilbert MT (2011a) Out of the Pacific and back again: insights into the matrilineal history of Pacific killer whale ecotypes. PloS one 6:e24980
- Foote AD, Newton J, Piertney SB, Willerslev E, Gilbert MTP (2009) Ecological, morphological and genetic divergence of sympatric North Atlantic killer whale populations. Molecular Ecology 18:5207-5217
- Foote AD, Vilstrup JT, de Stephanis R, Verborgh P, Nielsen SCA, Deaville R, Kleivane L, Martin V, Miller PJO, Oien N, Perez-Gil M, Rasmussen M, Reid RJ, Robertson KM, Rogan E, Simila T, Tejedor ML, Vester H, Vikingsson GA, Willerslev E, Gilbert MTP, Piertney SB (2011b) Genetic differentiation among North Atlantic killer whale populations. Molecular Ecology 20:629-641

- Fordyce R, de Muizon C (2001) Evolutionary history of cetaceans: a review. In: Mazin JM, Buffrenil V (eds) Secondary Adaptation of Tetrapods to Life in Water. Verlag Dr. Friedrich Pfeil, Munich, Germnay, p 169-223
- Frankham R (2010) Introduction to Conservation Genetics, (2nd edition), Vol. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, U.K.
- Fulgencio de Moura J, da Silva Rodrigues É, Siciliano S (2009) Epimeletic behaviour in rough-toothed dolphins (*Steno bredanensis*) on the east coast of Rio de Janeiro State, Brazil. Marine Biodiversity Records 2:E12
- Galver LM (2002) The Molecular Ecology of Spinner Dolphins, *Stenella longirostris*: Genetic Diversity and Population Structure. University of California, San Diego
- Gannier A (2000) Distribution of cetaceans off the Society Islands (French Polynesia) as obtained from dedicated survey. Aquatic Mammals 26:111-126
- Gannier A, West KL (2005) Distribution of the Rough-toothed Dolphin (*Steno bredanensis*) around the Windward Islands (French Polynesia). Pacific Science 59:17-24
- Gardenfors U (2001) Classifying threatened species at the national versus global level. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 16:181-190
- Gaspari S, Azzellino A, Airoldi S, Hoelzel AR (2007) Social kin associations and genetic structuring of striped dolphin populations (*Stenella coeruleoalba*) in the Mediterranean Sea. Molecular Ecology 16:2922-2933
- Gilson A, Syvanen M, Levine K, Banks J (1998) Deer gender determination by polymerase chain reaction: validation study and application to tissues, bloodstrains, and hair forensic samples from California. California Fish and Game 84:159-169
- Goldberg TL, Wrangham RW (1997) Genetic correlates of social behaviour in wild chimpanzees: evidence from mitochondrial DNA. Animal Behavior 54:559-570
- Gotz T, Verfuss UK, Schnitzler HU (2006) 'Eavesdropping' in wild rough-toothed dolphins (*Steno bredanensis*)? Biology Letters 2:5-7
- Goudet J (2001) FSTAT, a program to estimate and test gene diversities and fixation indices (*version 2.9.3*)
- Goudet J (2005) HIERFSTAT, a package for R to compute and test herarchical Fstatistics. Molecular Ecology Notes 5:184-186
- Goudet J, Perrin N, Waser P (2002) Tests for sex-biased dispersal using bi-parentally inherited genetic markers. Molecular Ecology 11:1103-1114
- Gowans S, Wursig B, Karczmarski L (2007) The social structure and strategies of delphinids: predictions based on an ecological framework. Advances in Marine Biology 53:195-294
- Gray JE (1846) On the cetaceous animals., Vol 1 part 3. Brown, Green and Longmans, London
- Groom MJ, Meffe GK, Carroll CR (2006) Principles of Conservation Biology, Vol. Sinauer Associates, Inc., Sunderland
- Gross A, Kiszka J, Van Canneyt O, Richard P, Ridoux V (2009) A preliminary study of habitat and resource partitioning among co-occurring tropical dolphins around Mayotte, southwest Indian Ocean. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science 84:367-374

- Hamner RM, Pichler FB, Heimeier D, Constantine R, Baker CS (2012) Genetic differentiation and limited gene flow among fragmented populations of New Zealand endemic Hector's and Maui's dolphins. Conservation Genetics 13:987-1002
- Hedrick PW, Allendorf FW, Baker CS (2013) Estimation of male gene flow from measures of nuclear and female genetic differentiation. The Journal of heredity 104:713-717
- Ho SYW, Lanfear R (2010) Improved characterisation of among-lineage rate variation in cetacean mitogenomes using codon-partitioned relaxed clocks. Mitochondrial DNA 21:138-146
- Hoelzel AR, Dahlheim M, Stern SJ (1998) Low genetic variation among killer whales (*Orcinus orca*) in the Eastern North Pacific and genetic differentiation between foraging specialists. Journal of Heredity 89:121-128
- Hoelzel AR, Hey J, Dahlheim ME, Nicholson C, Burkanov V, Black N (2007) Evolution of Population Structure in a Highly Social Top Predator, the Killer Whale. Molecular Biology and Evolution 24:1407-1415
- Holland CL, Mitchum GT (2001) Propagation of Big Island eddies. Journal of Geophysical Research 106:935
- Jackson JA, Steel DJ, Beerli P, Congdon BC, Olavarria C, Leslie MS, Pomilla C, Rosenbaum H, Baker CS (2014) Global diversity and oceanic divergence of humpback whales (Megaptera novaeangliae). Proceedings Biological sciences / The Royal Society 281
- Jefferson TA (2008) Rough-toothed dolphin. In: Perrin WF, Wursig B, Thewissen JGM (eds) Encyclopedia of Marine Mammals. Elsevier Inc, Burlington, MA
- Johnston DW, Robbins J, Chapla ME, Matthila DK, Andrews KR (2008) Diversity, habitat associations and stock structure of odontocete cetaceans in the waters of American Samoa, 2003-06. Journal of Cetacean Research and Management 10:59-66
- Kalinowski ST, Taper ML, Marshall TC (2007) Revising how the computer program CERVUS accommodates genotyping error increases success in paternity assignment. Molecular Ecology 16:1099-1106
- Kalinowski ST, Wagner AP, Taper ML (2006) ml-relate: a computer program for maximum likelihood estimation of relatedness and relationship. Molecular Ecology Notes 6:576-579
- Karczmarski L (2005) Spinner dolphins in a remote Hawaiian atoll: social grouping and population structure. Behavioral Ecology 16:675-685
- Kiszka J, Oremus M, Richard P, Poole M, Ridoux V (2010) The use of stable isotope analyses from skin biopsy samples to assess trophic relationships of sympatric delphinids off Moorea (French Polynesia). Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 395:48-54
- Krützen M, Barre LM, Connor RC, Mann J, Sherwin WB (2004) 'O father: where art thou?'--Paternity assessment in an open fission-fusion society of wild bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops sp.*) in Shark Bay, Western Australia. Molecular Ecology 13:1975-1990

- Krützen M, Barre LM, Moller LM, Heithaus MR, Simms C, Sherwin WB (2002) A biopsy system for small cetaceans: darting success and wound healing in *Tursiops sp.* Marine Mammal Science 18:863-878
- Krützen M, Valsecchi E, Connor RC, Sherwin W (2001) Characterization of microsatellite loci in *Tursiops aduncus*. Molecular Ecology Notes 1:170-172
- Kuczaj SA, Yeater DB (2007) Observations of rough-toothed dolphins (*Steno bredanensis*) off the coast of Utila, Honduras. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the UK 87:141
- Kuljis BA (1983) Porpoise/fisheries interactions within the Hawaiian Islands. . Southwest Fisheries Science Center Administrative Report H--83-19C:16 pp
- Lailson-Brito J, Dorneles PR, Azevedo-Silva CE, Bisi TL, Vidal LG, Legat LN, Azevedo AF, Torres JP, Malm O (2012) Organochlorine compound accumulation in delphinids from Rio de Janeiro State, southeastern Brazilian coast. The Science of the total environment 433C:123-131
- Lambert C, Mannocci L, Lehodey P, Ridoux V (2014) South West Indian Ocean (A) and French Polynesia (B). PloS one
- Lambertsen RH (1987) A biopsy system for large whales and its use for cytogenetics. journal of Mammalogy 68:443-445
- LeDuc R, Dizon AE (2002) Reconstructuing the rorqual phylogeny: with comments on the use of molecular data for systematic study. In: Pfeiffer CJ (ed) Molecular and Cell Biology of Marine Mammals. Kreiger Publishing Malaber, FL p427pp
- LeDuc R, Perrin WF, Dizon AE (1999) Phylogenetic relationships among the delphinid cetaceans based on full cytochrome B sequences. Marine Mammal Science 15
- Li H, Durbin R (2009) Fast and accurate short read alignment with Burrows-Wheeler transform. Bioinformatics 25:1754-1760
- Li H, Handsaker B, Wysoker A, Fennell T, Ruan J, Homer N, Marth G, Abecasis G, Durbin R (2009) The Sequence Alignment/Map format and SAMtools. Bioinformatics 25:2078-2079
- Lodi L (1992) Epimeletic behavior of free-ranging rough-toothed dolphins, *Steno* bredanensis from Brazil. Marine Mammal Science 8:284-287
- Lodi L, Hetzel B (1999) Rough-toothed dolphin, Steno bredanensis, feeding behaviors in IlhaGrande Bay, Brazil. Biociencias 7:29-42
- Longhurst A (1999) Ecological Geography of the Sea, Vol. Academic Press, San Diego
- Louis M, Viricel A, Lucas T, Peltier H, Alfonsi E, Berrow S, Brownlow A, Covelo P, Dabin W, Deaville R, de Stephanis R, Gally F, Gauffier P, Penrose R, Silva MA, Guinet C, Simon-Bouhet B (2014) Habitat-driven population structure of bottlenose dolphins, *Tursiops truncatus*, in the North-East Atlantic. Molecular Ecology 23:857-874
- Maddison D, Maddison W (2000) MacClade 4: Analysis of phylogeny and character evolution. . Sinauer Associates, Sunderland
- Maddison WP, Maddison DR (2014) Mesquite: a modular system for evolutionary analysis
- Mann J, Connor RC, Tyack PL, Whitehead H (2000) Cetacean societies: field studies of dolphins and whales, Vol. University of Chicago Press, Chicago

- Mannocci L, Catalogna M, Doremus G, Laran S, Lehodey P, al. e (2014) Predicting cetacean and seabird habitats across a productivity gradient in the South Pacific gyre. Progress Oceanography 120
- Mannocci L, Catalogna M, Dorémus G, Laran S, Lehodey P, Massart W, Monestiez P, Van Canneyt O, Watremez P, Ridoux V (2013) Predicting cetacean and seabird habitats across a productivity gradient in the South Pacific gyre. Progress in Oceanography
- Martien K, Baird RW, Hedrick NM, Gorgone AM, Thieleking JL, McSweeney DJ, Robertson KM, Webster DL (2012) Population structure of island-associated dolphins: evidence from mitochondrial and microsatellite markers for common bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) around the main Hawaiian Islands. Marine Mammal Science 28:202-232
- Martien KK, Chivers SJ, Baird RW, Archer FI, Gorgone AM, Hancock-Hanser BL, Mattila D, McSweeney DJ, Oleson EM, Palmer C, Pease VL, Robertson KM, Schorr GS, Schultz MB, Webster DL, Taylor BL (2014) Nuclear and Mitochondrial Patterns of Population Structure in North Pacific False Killer Whales (*Pseudorca crassidens*). Journal of Heredity
- Martinez E (2004) Island mass effect in the Marquesas Islands: Time variation. Geophysical Research Letters 31
- Mayr E (1942) Systematics and the origin of species, Vol. Columbia University Presss, New York
- Mayr I, Ritter F (2005) Photo-identification of rough-toothed dolphins (*Steno bredanensis*) off La Gomera (Canary Islands) with new insights into social organization Proceedings of the European Cetacean Society Annual Meeting, La Rochelle, France
- McGowen M, Spaulding M, Gatesy J (2009) Divergence date estimation and a comprehensive molecular tree of extant cetaceans. Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution 53:891-906
- McGowen MR (2011) Toward the resolution of an explosive radiation--a multilocus phylogeny of oceanic dolphins (Delphinidae). Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution 60:345-357
- McKelvey KS, Schwartz MK (2005) dropout: a program to identify problem loci and samples for noninvasive genetic samples in a capture-mark-recapture framework. Molecular Ecology Notes 5:716-718
- Meirmans PG, Hedrick PW (2011) Assessing population structure: FST and related measures. Molecular Ecology Resources 11:5-18
- Meirmans PG, Van Tienderen PH (2004) genotype and genodive: two programs for the analysis of genetic diversity of asexual organisms. Molecular Ecology Notes 4:792-794
- Miller MA, Pfeiffer W, Schwartz T (2010) Cyberinfrastructure for Phylogenetic Research Portal Gateway, La Jolla, CA
- Mirimin L, Miller R, Dillane E, Berrow SD, Ingram S, Cross TF, Rogan E (2011) Finescale population genetic structuring of bottlenose dolphins in Irish coastal waters. Animal Conservation 14:342-353

- Miyazaki N (1983) Catch statistics of small cetaceans taken in Japanese waters. Report of the International Whaling Commission 33:621-631
- Miyazaki N, Perrin WF (1994) Rough-toothed dolphin *Steno bredanensis*. In: Ridgway SH, Harrison R (eds) Handbook of Marine Mammals, Vol 5. Academic Press, San Diego, California, p 1-21
- Moller LM (2012) Sociogenetic structure, kin associations and bonding in delphinids. Molecular Ecology 21:745-764
- Moller LM, Beheregaray LB, Harcourt RG, Krutzen M (2001) Alliance membership and kinship in wild male bottlenose dolphins (Tursiops aduncus) of southeastern Australia. Proceedings Biological sciences / The Royal Society 268:1941-1947
- Morin PA, Archer FI, Foote AD, Vilstrup J, Allen EE, Wade P, Durban J, Parsons K, Pitman R, Li L, Bouffard P, Abel Nielsen SC, Rasmussen M, Willerslev E, Gilbert MTP, Harkins T (2010a) Complete mitochondrial genome phylogeographic analysis of killer whales (Orcinus orca) indicates multiple species. Genome Research 20:908-916
- Morin PA, Martien KK, Archer FI, Cipriano F, Steel D, Jackson J, Taylor BL (2010b) Applied Conservation Genetics and the Need for Quality Control and Reporting of Genetic Data Used in Fisheries and Wildlife Management. Journal of Heredity 101:1-10
- Natoli A, Birkun A, Aguilar A, Lopez A, Hoelzel AR (2005) Habitat structure and the dispersal of male and female bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*).
   Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 272:1217-1226
- Natoli A, Canadas A, Peddemors VM, Aguilar A, Vaquero C, Fernandez-Piqueras P, Hoelzel AR (2006) Phylogeography and alpha taxonomy of the common dolphin (Delphinus sp.). Journal of Evolutionary Biology 19:943-954
- Natoli A, Peddemors VM, Rus Hoelzel A (2004) Population structure and speciation in the genus Tursiops based on microsatellite and mitochondrial DNA analyses. Journal of Evolutionary Biology 17:363-375
- Nekoba-Dutertre N, Poole MM, Bilgre B (1999) Rough-toothed dolphins (*Steno bredanensis*) in French Polynesia 13th Bienniel Conference on the Biology of Marine Mammals, Maui, Hawaii
- Neuville H (1928) Recherche sur le genre "Steno" et remarques sur quelques autres cetaces. . Archives du Museum National d'Histoire Naturelle 3:69-240
- Nitta E (1991) The marine mammal stranding network for Hawaii: an overview., NOAA
- Nitta ET, Henderson JR (1993) A reivew of interactions between Hawaii's fisheries and protected species. Marine Fisheries Review 55:83-92
- NMFS (2008) A mass stranding of rough-toothed dolphins in the Florida Keys on March 2, 2005: Potential causes, health assessment, rehabilitation, and release. National Marine Fisheries Service NOAA Tech Memo NMFS=SEFSC-574:44
- NMFS, USFWS (1990) Vertebrate Population Workshop.
- NOAA (2008) Rough-toothed dolphin Northern Gulf of Mexico Stock. Stock Assessment Report
- NOAA (2011) Rough-toothed dolphin Hawaiian Stock. Stock Assessment Report
- NOAA (2014) Rough-toothed dolphin Western North Atlantic Stock

Norris K, Schilt C (1988) Cooperative societies in three-dimensional space: on the origins of aggregations, flocks, and schools, with special reference to dolphins and fish. Ethology and Sociobiology 9:149-179

Norris KS (1966) Whales, Dolphins and Porpoises, Vol

- Olavarría C, Baker CS, Garrigue C, Poole MM, Hauser N, Caballero S, Florez-Gonzalez L, Brasseur M, Bannister J, Capella J, Clapham PJ, Dodemont R, Donoghue M, Jenner C, Jenner MN, Moro D, Oremus M, Paton D, Rosembaum HC, Russell K (2007) Population structure of South Pacific humpback whales and the origin of the eastern Polynesian breeding grounds. Marine Ecology Progress Series 330:257-268
- Olavarria C, Oremus M, Tezanos-Pinto G, Paton D, Baker CS (2004) Genetic identification of small cetaceans from the waters of Samoa, South Pacific. International Whaling Commission SC/56/SM25
- Oremus M, Gales R, Dalebout ML, Funahashi N, Endo T, Kage T, Steel D, Baker CS (2009) Worldwide mitochondrial DNA diversity and phylogeography of pilot whales (*Globicephala spp.*). Biological Journal of the Linnean Society 98:729-744
- Oremus M, Gales R, Kettles H, Baker CS (2013) Genetic Evidence of Multiple Matrilines and Spatial Disruption of Kinship Bonds in Mass Strandings of Longfinned Pilot Whales, *Globicephala melas*. The Journal of heredity 104:301-311
- Oremus M, Poole MM, Albertson GR, Baker CS (2012) Pelagic or insular? Genetic differentiation of rough-toothed dolphins in the Society Islands, French Polynesia. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 432-433:37-46
- Oremus M, Poole MM, Steel D, Baker CS (2007) Isolation and interchange among insular spinner dolphin communities in the South Pacific revealed by individual identification and genetic diversity. Marine Ecology Progress Series 336:275-289
- Ottensmeyer CA, Whitehead H (2003) Behavioural evidence for social units in longfinned pilot whales. Canadian Journal of Zoology 81:1327-1338
- Peakall R, Smouse PE (2012) GenAlEx 6.5: Genetic analysis in Excel. Population genetic software for teaching and research an update. Bioinformatics
- Peeters FJC, Acheson R, Brummer G-JA, deRuiter WPM, Schneider RR, al. e (2004) Vigorous exchange between the Indian and Atlantic oceans at the end of the past five glacial periods. Nature 430:661-665
- Perrin WF (1989) Dolphins, porpoises and whales. An action plan for the conservation of biological diversity: 1988-1992. . In: Nature IUftCo (ed), Gland, Switzerland
- Perrin WF (2007) The south africa species gate. In: Best PB (ed) Whales and Dolphins of the Southern African Subregion Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, U.K.
- Perrin WF, Donovan GP, Barlow J (1994) Gillents and Cetaceans. Rep Int Whal Commn Special Issue 15:629 pp.
- Peters W (1877) Mittheilunguber die von S.M.S. Gazelle gesammelten Saugethiere aus den Abtheilungen der Nager, Hufthiere, Sirenen, Cetaceen und Beutelthiere. Monatsberichte der Koniglich Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften Jahre 1876:335-366

Petit JR (2010) PERMUT v 2.0. Available from,

http://www.pierroton.inra.fr/genetics/labo/Software/PermutCpSSR/index. html

- Pilot M, Dahlheim ME, Hoelzel AR (2010) Social cohesion among kin, gene flow without dispersal and the evolution of population genetic structure in the killer whale (*Orcinus orca*). Journal of Evolutionary Biology 23:20-31
- Pimper LE, Remis MI, Goodall NP, Baker CS (2009) Teeth and Bones as Sources of DNA for Genetic Diversity and Sex Identification of Commerson's Dolphins (Cephalorhynchus commersonii) from Tierra del Fuego, Argentina. Aquatic Mammals 35:331-334
- Pitman RL, Stinchcomb C (2002) Rough-toothed dolphins (*Steno bredanensis*) as Predators of Mahimahi (*Coryphaena hippurus*). Pacific Science 56:447-450
- Polovina JJ, Mitchum GT, Graham NE, Craig MP, Demartini EE, Flint EN (1994) Physical and biological consequences of a climate event in the central North Pacific. Fisheries Oceanography 3:15-21
- Pompanon F, Bonin A, Bellemain E, Taberlet P (2005) Genotyping errors: causes, consequences and solutions. Nature Reviews Genetics 6:847-846
- Poole MM (1993) A sighting and stranding network in French Polynesia, 1988-1993. 10th Biennial Conference on the Biology of Marine Mammals, Galveston, Texas
- Poole MM (1995) Aspects of the behavioral ecology of spinner dolphins (*Stenella longirostris*) in the nearshore waters of Mo'orea, French Polynesia. University of California Santa Cruz
- Pritchard JK, Stephens M, Donnelly P (2000) Inference of population structure using multilocus genotype data. Genetics 155:945-959
- Queller D, Goodnight K (1989) Estimating Relatedness Using Genetic Markers. Evolution 43:258-275
- Quérouil S, Silva MA, Freitas L, Prieto R, Magalhães S, Dinis A, Alves F, Matos JA, Mendonça D, Hammond PS, Santos RS (2007) High gene flow in oceanic bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) of the North Atlantic. Conservation Genetics 8:1405-1419
- Rambaut A (2009) Figtree v1.3.1
- Rambaut A, Suchard MA, Xie D, Drummond AJ (2014) Tracer v. 1.6, p A graphical tool for visualization and diagnostics of MCMC output
- Raymond M, Rousset F (1995) GENEPOP (*version 1.2*): population genetics software for exact tests and ecumenicism. Journal of Heredity 86:248-249
- Reeves RR, Perrin WF, Taylor BL, Baker CS, Mesnick SL (2004) Report of the workshop on shortcomings of cetacean taxonomy in relation to needs of conservation and management, April 30-May 2, 2004 La Jolla, California. US Department of Commerce, NOAA Technical Report NMFS-SWFSC 363:94pp
- Richards VP, Greig TW, Fair PA, McCulloch SD, Politz C, Natoli A, Driscoll CA, Hoelzel AR, David VA, Bossart GD, Lopez JV (2013) Patterns of Population Structure for Inshore Bottlenose Dolphins along the Eastern United States. Journal of Heredity 104:765-778

- Ritter F (2002) Behavioural observations of rough-toothed dolphins (Steno breadanensis) off La Gomera, Canary Islands (1995-2000), with special referene to their interactions with humans. Aquatic Mammals 28:46-59
- Ritter F (2007) Behavioral Responses of Rough-Toothed Dolphins to a Dead Newborn Calf. Marine Mammal Science 23:429-433
- Rocha LA, Craig MT, Bowen BW (2007) Phylogeography and the conservation of coral reef fishes. Coral Reefs 26:501-512
- Rooney AP, Merritt DB, Derr JN (1999) Microsatellite Diversity in Captive Bottlenose Dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*). Journal of Heredity 90:228-249
- Rosel PE, France SC, Wang JY, Kocher TD (1999) Genetic structure of harbour porpoise Phocoena populations in the northwest Atlantic based on mitochondrial and nuclear markers. Molecular Ecology 8:S41-S54
- Sambrook J, Fritsch E, Maniatis T (1989) Molecular cloning: a laboratory manual, Vol. cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, Cold Spring Harbor, NY
- Schmelzer I (2000) Seals and seascapes: covariation in the Hawaiian monk seal subpopulations and the oceanic landscape of the Hawaiian Archipelago. . Journal of Biogeography 27:901-914
- Schuelke M (2000) An economic method for the fluorescent labeling of PCR fragments. Nature Biotechnology 18:233-234
- Seki MP, Lumpkin R, Flament P (2002) Hawaii Cyclonic Eddies and Blue Marline Catches: The Case Study of the 1995 Hawaiian International Billfish Tournament. Journal of Oceanography 58:739-745
- Seki MP, Polovina JJ, Brainard RE, Bidigare RR, Leonard CL, Foley DG (2001) Biological enhancement at cyclonic eddies tracked with GOES Thermal Imagery in Hawaiian waters. Geophysical Research Letters 28:1583-1586
- Shane SH, Wells RS, Wursig B (1986) Ecology, behavior, and social organization of the bottlenose dolphin: a review. Marine Mammal Science 2:34-63
- Siciliano S (2007) Age and growth of some delphinids in southeastern Brazil. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom 87:293-303
- Silva MA, Prieto R, Magalhaes S, Seabra MI, Santos RS, Hammond PS (2008) Ranging patterns of bottlenose dolphins living in oceanic waters: implications for population structure. Marine Biology 156:179-192
- Stamatakis A (2014) RAxML Version 8: A tool for Phylogenetic Analysis and Post-Analysis of Large Phylogenies. Bioinformatics
- Steeman ME, Hebsgaard MB, Fordyce RE, Ho SY, Rabosky DL, Nielsen R, Rahbek C, Glenner H, Sorensen MV, Willerslev E (2009) Radiation of extant cetaceans driven by restructuring of the oceans. Systematic Biology 58:573-585
- Stephens M, Smith N, Donnelly P (2001) A new statistical method for haplotype reconstruction from population data. American Journal of Human Genetics 68:978-989
- Storz JF (1999) Genetic Consequences of Mammalian Social Structure. Journal of Mammalogy 80:553-569
- Straley JM, Schorr GS, Thode AM, Calambokidis J, Lunsford CR, Chenoweth EM, O'Connell VM, Andrews RD (2014) Depredating sperm whales in the Gulf of

Alaska: local habitat use and long distance movements across putative population boundaries. Endangered Species Research 24:125-135

- Tamura K, Stecher G, Peterson D, Filipski A, Kumar S (2013) MEGA6: Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis version 6.0. Molecular Biology and Evolution 30:2725-2729
- Taylor BL, Martien KK, Morin PA (2010) Identifying units to conserve using genetic data. In: Boyd I, Bowen D, Iverson S (eds) Marine mammal ecology and conservation: a handbook of techniques. Oxford University Press, Oxford
- Teacher AG, Griffiths DJ (2011) HapStar: automated haplotype network layout and visualization. Molecular Ecology Resources 11:151-153
- Tezanos-Pinto G, Baker CS, Russell K, Martien K, Baird RW, Hutt A, Stone G, Mignucci-Giannoni AA, Caballero S, Endo T, Lavery S, Oremus M, Olavarría C, Garrigue C (2008) A Worldwide Perspective on the Population Structure and Genetic Diversity of Bottlenose Dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) in New Zealand. Journal of Heredity 100:11-24
- Tobeña M, Escánez A, Rodríguez Y, López C, Ritter F, Aguilar N (2014) Inter-island movements of common bottlenose dolphins *Tursiops truncatus* among the Canary Islands: online catalogues and implications for conservation and management. African Journal of Marine Science 36:137-141
- Valsecchi E, Hale P, Corkeron PJ, Amos W (2002) Social structure in migrating humpback whales. Molecular Ecology 11:507-518
- Van Oosterhout C, Hutchinson WF, Wills DPM, Shipley P (2004) micro-checker: software for identifying and correcting genotyping errors in microsatellite data. Molecular Ecology Notes 4:535-538
- Van Oosterhout C, Weetman D, Hutchinson WF (2006) Estimation and adjustment of microsatellite null alleles in nonequilibrium populations. Molecular Ecology Notes 6:255-256
- Vilstrup JT, Ho SY, Foote AD, Morin PA, Kreb D, Krutzen M, Parra GJ, Robertson KM, de Stephanis R, Verborgh P, Willerslev E, Orlando L, Gilbert MT (2011)
   Mitogenomic phylogenetic analyses of the Delphinidae with an emphasis on the Globicephalinae. BMC Evolutionary Biology 11:65
- Wade PR, Gerrodette T (1993) Estimates of Cetacean Abundance and Distribution in the tropical pacific. Rep Int Whal Commn 43:477-494
- Waits LP, Luikart G, Taberlet P (2001) Estimating the probability of identity among genotypes in natural populations: cautions and guidelines. Molecular Ecology 10:249-256
- Waples R (1991) Definition of "species" under the Endangered Species Act: application to Pacific Salmon. . NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS F/NWC-194
- Watkins WA, Tyack PL, Moore KE (1987) *Steno bredanensis* in the Mediterranean Sea. Marine Mammal Science 3:78-82
- Weinrich MT, Rosenbaum H, Scott Baker C, Blackmer AL, Whitehead H (2006) The influence of maternal lineages on social affiliations among humpback whales (*Megaptera novaeangliae*) on their feeding grounds in the southern gulf of Maine. The Journal of Heredity 97:226-234

- Wells RS, Gannon JG (2005) Release and follow-up monitoring of rehabilitated roughtoothed dolphins., Mote Marine Laboratory Technical Report No. 1047
- West KL, Mead JG, White W (2011) *Steno breadanensis* (Cetacea: Delphinidae). Mammalian Species 43:177-189
- Whitney NM, Robbins WD, Schultz JK, Bowen BW, Holland KN (2012) Oceanic dispersal in a sedentary reef shark (*Triaenodon obesus*): genetic evidence for extensive connectivity without a pelagic larval stage. Journal of Biogeography 39:1144-1156
- Wiszniewski J, Beheregaray LB, Allen SJ, Moller L (2010) Environmental and social influences on the genetic structure of bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops aduncus*) in Southeastern Australia. Conservation Genetics 11:1405-1419
- Woodworth PA, Schorr GS, Baird RW, Webster DL, McSweeney DJ, Hanson MB, Andrews RD, Polovina JJ (2012) Eddies as offshore foraging grounds for melonheaded whales (*Peponocephala electra*). Marine Mammal Science 28:638-647
- Wright S (1969) Evolution and the Genetics of Populations: The Theory of Gene Frequencies, Vol. The University of Chicago Press, Chicago
- Xia X (2013) DAMBE5: a comprehensive software package for data analysis in molecular biology and evolution. Molecular Biology and Evolution 30:1720-1728